World Journal of *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 December 16; 15(12): 681-750





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJ

GEWorld Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy

Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 12 December 16, 2023

MINIREVIEWS

681 The role of computed tomography for the prediction of esophageal variceal bleeding: Current status and future perspectives

Martino A, Amitrano L, Guardascione M, Di Serafino M, Bennato R, Martino R, de Leone A, Orsini L, Romano L, Lombardi G

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

690 Improved visibility of colorectal tumor by texture and color enhancement imaging with indigo carmine

Hiramatsu T, Nishizawa T, Kataoka Y, Yoshida S, Matsuno T, Mizutani H, Nakagawa H, Ebinuma H, Fujishiro M, Toyoshima O

Evaluation of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms by curved linear-array echoendoscope: A preliminary 699 study

Zhang JC, Ma YY, Lan YZ, Li SB, Wang X, Hu JL

Observational Study

705 Effect of a disposable endoscope precleaning kit in the cleaning procedure of gastrointestinal endoscope: A multi-center observational study

Wang YF, Wu Y, Liu XW, Li JG, Zhan YQ, Liu B, Fan WL, Peng ZH, Xiao JT, Li BB, He J, Yi J, Lu ZX

715 Disparities in esophageal cancer incidence and esophageal adenocarcinoma mortality in the United States over the last 25-40 years

Arshad HMS, Farooq U, Cheema A, Arshad A, Masood M, Vega KJ

Prospective Study

725 New hope for esophageal stricture prevention: A prospective single-center trial on acellular dermal matrix Fu XY, Jiang ZY, Zhang CY, Shen LY, Yan XD, Li XK, Lin JY, Wang Y, Mao XL, Li SW

META-ANALYSIS

735 Clinical usefulness of linked color imaging in identifying Helicobacter pylori infection: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Zhang Y, Wang JZ, Bai X, Zhang PL, Guo Q

CASE REPORT

745 Magnetic compression anastomosis for sigmoid stenosis treatment: A case report Zhang MM, Gao Y, Ren XY, Sha HC, Lyu Y, Dong FF, Yan XP



World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy

Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 12 December 16, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, Mohamed H Emara, BM BCh, MD, MSc, Professor, Hepatology, Gastroenterology and Infectious Diseases Department, Faculty of Medicine, Kafrelsheikh University, Kafrelsheikh 33516, Egypt. emara_20007@yahoo.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (WJGE, World J Gastrointest Endosc) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of gastrointestinal endoscopy with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJGE mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of gastrointestinal endoscopy and covering a wide range of topics including capsule endoscopy, colonoscopy, double-balloon enteroscopy, duodenoscopy, endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography, endosonography, esophagoscopy, gastrointestinal endoscopy, gastroscopy, laparoscopy, natural orifice endoscopic surgery, proctoscopy, and sigmoidoscopy.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJGE is now abstracted and indexed in Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), PubMed, PubMed Central, Reference Citation Analysis, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2023 Edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2022 impact factor (IF) for WJGE as 2.0; IF without journal self cites: 1.9; 5-year IF: 3.3; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.28.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Yi-Xuan Cai; Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ping Yan.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN ISSN 1948-5190 (online)	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
LAUNCH DATE October 15, 2009	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY Monthly	PUBLICATION ETHICS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF Anastasios Koulaouzidis, Bing Hu, Sang Chul Lee, JooYoung Cho	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/editorialboard.htm	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE December 16, 2023	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT © 2024 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	ONLINE SUBMISSION
PUBLISHING PARTNER Digestive Endoscopy Center of West China Hospital, SCU	PUBLISHING PARTNER'S OFFICIAL WEBSITE http://www.cd120.com/index.html

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: office@baishideng.com https://www.wjgnet.com



F W U

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 December 16; 15(12): 681-689

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.681

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

The role of computed tomography for the prediction of esophageal variceal bleeding: Current status and future perspectives

Alberto Martino, Lucio Amitrano, Marianna Guardascione, Marco Di Serafino, Raffaele Bennato, Rossana Martino, Annalisa de Leone, Luigi Orsini, Luigia Romano, Giovanni Lombardi

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Chen CH, United States; Zhuge YZ, China

Received: September 27, 2023 Peer-review started: September 27, 2023 First decision: November 1, 2023 Revised: November 13, 2023 Accepted: November 27, 2023 Article in press: November 27, 2023 Published online: December 16, 2023



Alberto Martino, Lucio Amitrano, Marianna Guardascione, Raffaele Bennato, Rossana Martino, Annalisa de Leone, Luigi Orsini, Giovanni Lombardi, Department of Gastroenterology and Digestive Endoscopy, AORN "Antonio Cardarelli", Napoli 80131, Italy

Marco Di Serafino, Luigia Romano, Department of General and Emergency Radiology, AORN "Antonio Cardarelli", Napoli 80131, Italy

Corresponding author: Alberto Martino, MD, Staff Physician, Department of Gastroenterology and Digestive Endoscopy, AORN "Antonio Cardarelli", Via Antonio Cardarelli, 9, Napoli 80131, Italy. alberto.martino@aocardarelli.it

Abstract

Esophageal variceal bleeding (EVB) is one of the most common and severe complications related to portal hypertension (PH). Despite marked advances in its management during the last three decades, EVB is still associated with significant morbidity and mortality. The risk of first EVB is related to the severity of both PH and liver disease, and to the size and endoscopic appearance of esophageal varices. Indeed, hepatic venous pressure gradient (HVPG) and esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) are currently recognized as the "gold standard" and the diagnostic reference standard for the prediction of EVB, respectively. However, HVPG is an invasive, expensive, and technically complex procedure, not widely available in clinical practice, whereas EGD is mainly limited by its invasive nature. In this scenario, computed tomography (CT) has been recently proposed as a promising modality for the non-invasive prediction of EVB. Although CT is only a diagnostic modality, thus being not capable of supplanting EGD or HVPG in providing therapeutic and physiological data, it could potentially assist liver disease scores, HVPG, and EGD in a more effective prediction of EVB. However, to date, evidence concerning the role of CT in this setting is still lacking. Our review aimed to summarize and discuss the current evidence concerning the role of CT in predicting the risk of EVB.

Key Words: Esophageal variceal bleeding; Variceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding; Portal hypertension; Computed tomography; Computed tomography angiography

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Esophagogastroduodenoscopy is currently considered the diagnostic reference standard for the prediction of esophageal variceal bleeding (EVB) among cirrhotic patients. Recently, computed tomography (CT) has emerged as a promising tool for the non-invasive prediction of EVB. Nevertheless, to date, evidence concerning the role of CT in this setting is still lacking. Thus, our study aimed to review the current evidence regarding the role of CT in the prediction of EVB.

Citation: Martino A, Amitrano L, Guardascione M, Di Serafino M, Bennato R, Martino R, de Leone A, Orsini L, Romano L, Lombardi G. The role of computed tomography for the prediction of esophageal variceal bleeding: Current status and future perspectives. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2023; 15(12): 681-689

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i12/681.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.681

INTRODUCTION

Variceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding (VUGIB) is one of the most severe and common complications related to portal hypertension (PH) occurring in patients affected by liver cirrhosis. The annual incidence of esophageal varices (EV) among cirrhotic patients is 7%-8%, with a five-year cumulative incidence rate reaching approximately 20%. Furthermore, once EV develop, their risk of first bleeding is 5%-15% per year, being related to the severity of both PH and liver disease, and to the size and endoscopic appearance of EV[1-3].

Despite marked advances in its management during the last three decades, VUGIB is still a potentially life-threating event with a high morbidity and a 6-week mortality as high as 10%-20%[4,5]. Moreover, esophageal variceal bleeding (EVB) is a negative prognostic factor. Indeed, the mortality of patients sustaining a EVB is as high as 35% at 3 mo and 70% at 2 years[6,7]. Thus, it is of paramount importance to carefully identify cirrhotic patients with a high-risk of EVB requiring prompt primary prophylaxis, in order to reduce first EVB incidence and improve the overall survival[8].

Nowadays, screening for EV by means of esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) is suggested in decompensated cirrhotic patients, whereas primary prophylaxis is recommended in patients with cirrhosis and medium-large size varices and in those with small size varices as long as they are classified as Child-Pugh C or have variceal red signs[9-13]. Currently recommended strategies for the EVB primary prophylaxis include the use of traditional non-selective betablockers (NSBB), carvedilol or endoscopic variceal ligation (EVL)[9-13]. However, the superiority of one prophylactic alternative over the others is controversial. Indeed, while EVL might be superior to pharmacological therapy regarding the prevention of the first bleeding episode, either traditional NSBB or carvedilol seem to play a more crucial role in the mortality reduction. Furthermore, although not routinely recommended as a first-line option, combined pharmacological and endoscopic primary prophylaxis has been reported to be capable to achieve a greater reduction in the risk of the first EVB episode[14]. EGD is currently regarded as the diagnostic reference standard for detecting the presence of EV and predicting their bleeding risk[9-13]. The North Italian Endoscopy Club index and its variations, composed of scores for Child-Pugh class, EV size, and red wale markings, are validated as significant predictors of first EVB[3,15,16].

However, EGD is invasive and capable to identify EV within only the superficial portions of intrinsic veins, ignoring the remaining esophageal venous plexuses[17]. Furthermore, only about a third of EVB patients have risk factors predictive of hemorrhage, such as large EV size, endoscopic red color signs, and severe liver dysfunction[3]. Finally, of note, inter-observer EV size agreement has been reported to be higher by the use of CT as compared to endoscopy[18,19].

In addition to EGD, hepatic venous pressure gradient (HVPG) is recognized as the "gold standard" for the measurement of portal pressure, the prediction of the occurrence of EVB and other PH-related complications, and for the assessment of the response to pharmacological treatment[9,10,20]. Clinically significant PH, which is an at-risk condition for decompensation and EV development, is defined by HVPG \geq 10 mmHg, whereas a gradient > 12 mmHg defines severe PH, which is associated with a higher risk of EVB and mortality[11,21]. Indeed, an HVPG threshold value > 12 mmHg was shown to be necessary for the occurrence of EVB[22,23]. Furthermore, a decrease of baseline HVPG to \leq 12 mmHg or by \geq 20% by beta-blockers has been shown to be associated with a significant reduction in the risk of EVB and mortality[24].

However, HVPG is an invasive and expensive procedure, requiring high expertise. Thus, it is not readily and widely available in clinical practice, and its cost-effectiveness has been also questioned [25]. Moreover, the clinical utility of repeated monitoring HVPG after pharmacological therapy has not been established [26].

In this scenario, a promising role of computed tomography (CT) in the non-invasive prediction of EVB has been suggested. CT is commonly performed in cirrhotic patients, as in the case of hepatocellular carcinoma screening/followup or first decompensation episode investigation. To date, CT angiography has shown good accuracy in the detection and grading of EV[27]. However, only a few studies have explored the utility of information provided by CT imaging to predict EVB, and evidence is still limited. Although CT is only a diagnostic modality, thus being not capable of supplanting EGD or HVPG in providing therapeutic and physiological data, it could potentially assist liver disease scores, HVPG, and EGD in a more effective prediction of EVB.

The aim of our study was to extensively review the current evidence with regard to the role of CT in the prediction of EVB among cirrhotic patients.

LITERATURE SEARCH

We performed a comprehensive literature search of the PubMed (MEDLINE) and EMBASE electronic databases up to June 2023, in order to identify relevant studies evaluating the role of CT in the prediction of EVB among cirrhotic patients. Studies evaluating the VE presence only or comparing CT findings with endoscopic grade of EV were not included in our review. The medical search strategy used the terms "computed tomography", "CT", "computed tomography angiography", "CTA", "multidetector computed tomography", "MDCT", "variceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding", "variceal upper gastrointestinal haemorrhage", "esophageal variceal haemorrhage" and "esophageal variceal bleeding" in various combinations, using the Boolean operators AND, OR, and NOT. Search strategy was limited to non-animal studies conducted in adult population, and to articles written in English. Meeting abstracts, case reports/series (< 10 cases), review articles, position papers, editorials, commentaries, and book chapters were excluded from our study.

The reference lists of pertinent identified studies and related review articles were carefully hand-searched in order to retrieve any additional eligible studies.

ROLE OF CT IN THE PREDICTION OF EVB

Evidence

A total of 9 studies were included in our final analysis [28-36]. All of them were retrospective, single-center studies [28-36]. All but two European and one American studies, were from Asian countries. Intravenous contrast-enhanced CT, with at least one portal venous phase, was performed in all of the included studies. With the exception of one study [28], no contrast medium was orally administered in any of the included studies. Multidetector CT (MDCT) technology was adopted in most of the included studies [28,30-32,35,36]. Main characteristics of the included studies are summarized in Tables 1-3.

In 2014, Somsouk et al [28] first retrospectively evaluated the role of MDCT angiography in predicting the occurrence of EVB among cirrhotic patients. A large maximal EV diameter was shown to be significantly associated with EVB. Furthermore, an MDCT threshold of < 3 mm and ≥ 5 mm appeared to discriminate between low- and high-risk individuals, respectively. Other CT findings, including the size of the paraumbilical vein (PUV), the coronary vein, and the presence of ascites reached statistical significance, but less powerfully discriminated for EVB. Conversely, neither portal vein diameter nor spleen size showed significant association with EVB. Of note, the model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) score measured at the time of the CT execution was not significantly different between the bleeding and the control groups. However, among the included patients who experienced EVL, the average time between CT and EVB was 7 mo. Moreover, another limitation of the study is the inclusion of patients undergoing EVB pharmacological prophylaxis in both the bleeding and the control groups^[28].

Later on, Ge et al^[29] showed not only EV diameter but also diameter of inferior mesenteric vein (IMV), posterior gastric vein, and short gastric vein were significantly correlated with EVB among HBV cirrhotic patients. For IMV and short gastric vein, the smaller the diameters, the higher hemorrhage rates were, whereas for EV and posterior gastric vein, the EVB rate was proportional to the diameter. Of note, the authors did not measure the EV diameter only, but a previously reported radiological score was adopted, providing the following 3 grades: (1) One varix less than 5 mm in diameter detected on the inner surface of the esophagus; (2) several varices less than 5 mm in diameter detected on the inner surface of the esophagus; and (3) one varix 5 mm or greater in diameter, or varices occupying more than half the circumference of the esophagus[37]. Conversely, no significant correlation was found with portal vein, superior mesenteric vein, splenic vein, PUV, coronary vein, spleno-renal shunt, short gastric vein, and azygos vein. Notably, a significant difference in term of Child-Pugh was observed between the bleeding and the control group[29].

In 2017, Calame et al[30] retrospectively evaluated the association between the presence/size of PUV on CT and a first EVB in 172 cirrhotic patients. The authors showed that a small/absent PUV was significantly associated with a first EVB. Moreover, the authors observed no case of first EVB in any patients with a PUV > 10 mm, assuming that a large patent PUV may act in a transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt-like manner, lowering portal venous pressure. The presence of an enlarged left gastric vein (LGV), *i.e.* when tortuous and > 3 mm, was also significantly more frequent in patients with a first EVB. Conversely, LGV diameter and presence or diameter of spleno-renal shunt were not associated with first EVB. The study findings were in contrast with those from Somsouk *et al*[28], who reported a significant positive association of PUV diameter with EVB, as well with those from other groups who did not report any significant association between PUV and EVB[29,32]. To be noted, the most common etiology of cirrhosis in both the bleeding and the control groups was alcoholic, in which the PUV prevalence is probably higher as compared with other cirrhosis etiology, likely affecting the study outcomes. Moreover, Child-Pugh score was significantly different between the two groups[30].

Later on, a well-designed retrospective study from South Korea evaluated the utility of CT-measured liver volume for the prediction of EVB during primary prophylaxis with propranolol. Of interest, liver volume index, an estimated-toactual liver volume index corrected for patients' body build, was shown to be significantly higher in the prophylaxis failure group, indicating that corrected liver volume was significantly smaller in patients without prophylaxis failure. Conversely, hepatic and spleen volumes were not significantly different between the case and control groups. Notably, neither Child-Pugh nor MELD scores were predictive of prophylaxis failure[31].

Subsequently, a single center retrospective study from Iran investigated the role of abdominal MDCT angiography in the prediction of EVB, comprehensively evaluating the value of different collateral veins. Intriguingly, the presence of EV on MDCT together with the presence and/or the size of various collaterals, including coronary, short gastric, paraeso-



Table 1 Ch	aracterist	ics of the	include	d studi	es
------------	------------	------------	---------	---------	----

Ref.	Study design	Country	Study type	Enrollment period
Somsouk <i>et al</i> [28], 2014	R	United States	Unicentric	2002-2007
Ge et al[29], 2015	R	China	Unicentric	2008-2014
Calame <i>et al</i> [30], 2017	R	France	Unicentric	2010-2012
Kim <i>et al</i> [31], 2019	R	South Korea	Unicentric	2003-2015
Salahshour <i>et al</i> [32], 2020	R	Iran	Unicentric	2013-2019
Xie <i>et al</i> [33], 2020	R	China	Unicentric	2015-2018
Peisen <i>et al</i> [34], 2021	R	Germany	Unicentric	2010-2019
Wan <i>et al</i> [35], 2021	R	China	Unicentric	2014-2019
Wan <i>et al</i> [36], 2022	R	China	Unicentric	2017-2020

Table 2 Demographics and clinicopathological features of the included studies

Ref.	Patients, <i>n</i>	Mean age (range), years	Sex male, %	Cirrhosis etiology, %	Child-Pugh class, %	MELD score
Somsouk <i>et al</i> [<mark>28</mark>], 2014	80 (cases: 27; controls: 53)	Cases: 58 (-); Controls: 55 (-)	Cases: 96; Controls: 96	HCV: 71 (cases); 77 (controls); HBV: 0 (cases); 9 (controls); Alcoholic: 83 (cases); 64 (controls)	-	_1
Ge <i>et al</i> [<mark>29</mark>], 2015	98 (cases: 57; controls: 41)	Cases: 49.9 (-); Controls: 53.9 (-)	56	HBV: 100	A: 15 (cases); 28 (controls); B: 21 (cases); 12 (controls); C: 5 (cases); 4 (controls)	-
Calame <i>et al</i> [30], 2017	172 (cases: 43; controls: 129)	Cases: 59.6 (12- 85); Controls: 60.2 (33-86)	Cases: 77; Controls: 62	Alcoholic: 77 (cases); 70 (controls); NASH: 9 (cases); 13(controls) HCV: 9 (cases); 9 (controls); HBV: 7 (cases); 4 (controls); Other: 5 (cases); 13 (controls)	A: 16 (cases); 43 (controls); B: 46 (cases); 27 (controls); C: 37 (cases); 29 (controls)	-
Kim <i>et al</i> [<mark>31</mark>], 2019	309 (cases: 37; controls: 272)	Cases: 58 (-); Controls: 58 (-)	Cases: 81; Controls: 72	HBV: 46 (cases); 61 (controls); HCV: 16 (cases); 7 (controls); Non-B/C: 38 (cases); 32 (controls)	A: 57 (cases); 48 (controls); B: 40 (cases); 44 (controls); C: 3 (cases); 8 (controls)	-
Salahshour <i>et al</i> [32], 2020	124 (cases: 50; controls: 74)	Cases: 49.2 (-); Controls: 52.14 (-)	Cases: 46; Controls: 54	HBV: 24.2; HCV: 5.6; BCS: 8.1; Alcoholic: 9.7; NASH: 14.5; ASH: 4.0; PSC: 9.7; Wilson disease: 2.4; PBC: 1.6; Cryptogenic: 10.5; Other: 9.7	_2	_2
Xie et al <mark>[33]</mark> , 2020	264 (cases: 132; controls: 132)	Cases: 54 (30-76); Controls: 54 (25- 79)	Cases: 85%; Controls: 88%	HBV: 87 (cases); 95 (controls); Alcoholic: 11 (cases); 1 (controls); HCV: 2 (cases); 4 (controls)	-	-
Peisen <i>et al</i> [<mark>34</mark>], 2021	66 (cases: 8; controls: 58)	68	89	HCV: 32; Alcoholic: 48; Cryptogenic: 14; HBV: 6	A: 53%; B: 38%; C: 9%	-
Wan et al[<mark>35</mark>], 2021	217 (cases: 17; controls: 27)	Cases: 52.8; Controls: 52.4	Cases: 53; Controls: 56	Post-hepatic: 53 (cases); 41 (controls); Alcoholic: 18 (cases); 15 (controls); PBC: 29 (cases); 19 (controls); Mixed: 0 (cases); 7 (controls) Other: 0 (cases); 19 (controls)	A: 47 (cases); 33 (controls); B: 35 (cases); 33 (controls); C: 18 (cases); 33 (controls)	-
Wan <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], 2022	136 (cases: 89; controls: 47)	-	63	Post-hepatic: 60; Alcoholic: 25; PBC: 9; Mixed: 4; AIH: 1	A: 28; B: 46; C: 26	-

¹No significant difference between case and control groups.

²Significant difference between case and control groups.

MELD: Model for end-stage liver disease; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; NASH: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis; BCS: Budd-Chiari syndrome; AIH: Autoimmune hepatitis; PSC: Primary sclerosing cholangitis; PBC: Primary biliary cirrhosis.

phageal, and paraesophageal draining, showed a significant relationship with EVB. The presence of EV on MDCT was defined as enhancing dots and linear structures within esophageal wall or protruded into the esophageal lumen[38]. In addition, size of main coronary vein, gastric fundus varices and IMV, and ascites also had significant correlation with EVB. Conversely, omental, perisplenic and spleno-renal collaterals, spleen size, PUV size/presence, size of portal vein, inferior vena cava, superior mesenteric vein and left renal vein did not show any significant association with EVB. However, of note, all of the above-mentioned CT features were also associated with EV presence, thus limiting their

Baisbideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 Summary of the included studies reporting on the role of computed tomography in the prediction of esophageal variceal bleeding

Ref.	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria Study aim		Results
Somsouk <i>et al</i> [28], 2014	Cirrhotic patients with EVB who underwent CT prior to EVB (case group); cirrhotic patients without EVB who underwent CT and EGD within 45 d (control group)	Previous EVB, EVL, or OLT	To identify CT features associated with EVB	Features associated with EVB: EV diameter: 5.8 mm case group <i>vs.</i> 2.7 mm control group ($P < 0.001$); Maximal EV diameter ≥ 5 mm: 63% case group <i>vs.</i> 7.5% control group ($P < 0.001$); Maximal EV diameter < 3 mm: 7.4% case group <i>vs.</i> 54.7% control group ($P = 0.001$); LGV diameter: 2.3 mm case group <i>vs.</i> 1.6 mm control group ($P = 0.001$); PUV diameter: 1.9 mm case group <i>vs.</i> 1.1 mm control group ($P < 0.001$); Ascites: 74% case group <i>vs.</i> 25% control group ($P < 0.001$)
Ge <i>et al</i> [<mark>29]</mark> , 2015	HBV-related cirrhotic patients who underwent CT	HCC, PVT, and non HBV-related cirrhosis	To identify CT features associated with EVB	Features associated with EVB: IMV diameter ($P = 0.0528$); PGV diameter ($P = 0.0283$); EV score ($P = 0.0221$)
Calame <i>et al</i> [30], 2017	Cirrhotic patients who underwent CT and EGD within 6 mo	BB, TIPS, EVL, PVT, liver resection/loco-regional treatment, and esophageal cancer	To evaluate the association between the presence/size of PUV on CT and first EVB	Features associated with first EVB: Small/absent PUV ($P < 0.001$); Spleen size >135 mm ($P < 0.001$); Ascites ($P = 0.001$)
Kim <i>et al</i> [<mark>31</mark>], 2019	Cirrhotic patients receiving propranolol for the primary prophylaxis of EVB who underwent CT	Duration of propranolol prophylaxis < 6 mo, previous EVB and/or EVL before propranolol therapy, and lack of contrast-enhanced liver CT data within 6 mo before or after first propranolol dosage	To evaluate liver volume for the prediction of EVB during primary prophylaxis	Association of liver volume index with EVB ($P = 0.044$)
Salahshour et al[32], 2020	Cirrhotic patients who underwent EGD and CT within 6 mo	Liver resection/loco-regional treatment, and esophageal cancer	To identify CT features associated with EVB	Features associated with EVB: EV presence ($P = 0.002$); Short gastric collateral presence/size ($P < 0.001/P < 0.001$); Coronary collateral presence ($P = 0.02$); Paraesophageal collateral presence/size ($P = 0.01/P = 0.03$); Paraesophageal draining collateral presence/size ($P = 0.02/P = 0.02$); LGV size ($P = 0.03$); Gastric fundus varices size ($P = 0.001$); IMV size ($P = 0.04$); Ascites ($P = 0.04$)
Xie et al [33], 2020	Cirrhotic patients with EV who underwent EGD and CT, and were followed-up for 6 mo	Cardiovascular disease, hematologic disease, renal insufficiency, or malignancy; previous shunt, devascularization,EIS, or EVL; use of vasopressin, somatostatin or propranolol within 1 wk before hospitalization; NVUGIB	To evaluate sensitivity and specificity of EV diameter, EV cross- sectional number, and EV total area in the prediction of first EVB	EV diameter: Sensitivity 0.8; specificity 0.52; AUC 0.72; critical point 5.55 mm; EV cross-sectional number: sensitivity 0.73; specificity 0.6; AUC 0.68; critical point 4; EV total cross-sectional area: sensitivity 0.75; specificity 0.73; AUC 0.82; critical point 1.03 cm ²
Peisen <i>et al</i> [34], 2021	Cirrhotic patients who underwent PCT and EGD within 3 mo	Diffusely infiltrating HCC, TIPS, and PVT	To evaluate the correlation between PCT-derived variables (HPI, PVP and SBF) and EVB	Weak correlation of HPI, PVP, and SBF with EBV (Eta correlation coefficient 0.126, 0.031, and 0.119, respectively)
Wan <i>et al</i> [<mark>35]</mark> , 2021	Cirrhotic patients with EV who underwent EGD and CT within 4 wk	Prior EV treatment (e.g. BB, EVL); PVT; HCC; splenectomy, hepatectomy or portal-azygous disconnection	To identify CT- derived quantitative parameters of liver lobe associated with first EVB	Features associated with first EVB: CV (P = 0.012); CFV (P = 0.03); CV/TV (P < 0.001); CFV/TFV (P < 0.001)
Wan <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], 2022	Cirrhotic patients with EV who underwent contrast-enhanced CT within 4 wk of EGD	Prior EV treatment (<i>e.g.</i> , BB, EVL); PVT; HCC; splenectomy, hepatectomy or portal-azygous disconnection	To identify CT quantitative parameters associated with EVB	No significant difference in EV grade, EV diameter, CSA, EV volume, SNV, LGV diameter, PV, SV, and the opening type of LGV between bleeding and non-bleeding groups

EVB: Esophageal variceal bleeding; CT: Computed tomography; EGD: Esophagogastroduodenoscopy; EVL: Endoscopic variceal ligation; OLT: Orthotopic liver transplantation; EV: Esophageal varices; PUV: Paraumbilical vein; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; PVT: Portal vein thrombosis; IMV: Inferior mesenteric vein; PGV: Posterior gastric vein; BB: Beta-blockers; TIPS: Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt; EIS: Endoscopic injection sclerotherapy; NVUGIB: Nonvariceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding; AUC: Area under the curve; PCT: Perfusion computed tomography; HPI: Hepatic perfusion index; PVP: Portal venous perfusion; SBF: Splenic blood flow; CV: Caudate lobe volume; CFV: Caudate lobe functional volume; TV: Total volume; TFV: Total functional volume; CSA: Cross-sectional surface area; SNV: Splenic vein; LGV: Left gastric vein; PV: Portal vein; SV: Splenic volume.

Baishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

clinical usefulness in the prediction of EVB. Furthermore, the bleeding and non-bleeding groups significantly differed with regard to MELD score and Child-Pugh class[32].

In 2020, the largest included study from China retrospectively evaluated the accuracy of the diameter of EV, the number of cross-sectional EV, and the total cross-sectional area of EV in the prediction of first EVB among 264 cirrhotic patients. All of these 3 EV indicators were shown to be significantly associated with first EVB. Of interest, the EV total cross-sectional area showed a higher accuracy, with a sensitivity of 0.75, a specificity of 0.73, and a critical point of 1.03 cm². The main limitation of this study was the absence of data regarding the liver function and the cirrhosis stage of the included patients[33].

Later on, Peisen et al[34] failed to identify any significant correlation between hepatic perfusion index, portal venous perfusion, and splenic blood flow, measured by means of perfusion CT, and EVB. However, of note, the study was limited by a very small sample size, including only a very few cases of EVB (8/66) and Child-Pugh class C patients (6/ 66). Indeed, the authors concluded that their results should be limited to patients in Child-Pugh class A and B.

In 2021, Wan and colleagues conducted a well-designed retrospective study in order to evaluate the role of CT-derived quantitative parameters of liver lobe volume in the prediction of first EVB. Caudate volume, caudate functional volume, caudate volume/total volume, and caudate functional volume/total functional volume were all shown to be significantly associated with first EVB. However, all these features were also associated with the EV severity. Moreover, given the rigorous inclusion criteria and the follow-up strategy, another study limitation was the small sample sizes of both the first-EVB and non-first EVB groups[35].

Finally, the same group investigated the potential of various quantitative CT-derived parameters, including EV grade, EV diameter, cross-sectional surface area, EV volume, spleen volume, splenic vein, portal vein, diameter of LGV, and the opening type of LGV, in predicting the risk of EVB. The EV grading system on CT images was made in accordance with the criteria proposed by Kim et al[39], classifying EV as I-IV mainly according to the EV diameter and their distribution around the inner wall. Although some of these CT parameters proved to be significantly associated with EV severity, none of them showed a significant association with EVB. However, as stated by the same authors, the enrolled study population was mainly composed of patients with severe EV, bringing a potential bias of the study cohort, and large samples with more patients with mild to moderate EV would have been warranted to reach high-quality evidence for further validation[36].

CONCLUSION

As expected, EV diameter/grade was the CT feature significantly associated with EVB most frequently reported among the included studies [28,29,32,33]. Conversely, with regard to major collateral vessels, LGV size/enlargement was shown to be significantly associated with EVB in only two of the included studies [28,30]. PUV showed conflicting results in the prediction of EVB in two studies [28,30]. As previously mentioned, this may be explained by an enrollment bias in the study from Calame et al[30], in which the alcoholic etiology of cirrhosis was prevalent. Moreover, IMV size was shown to be a significant predictor of EVB in two studies [29,32], while the size of posterior gastric vein and short gastric vein was demonstrated as such only in one study, respectively [29,32]. Finally, none of the included studies found a significant association of spleno-renal vein with EVB occurrence.

Worth mentioning, portal-systemic collaterals development varies from patient to patient, being likely influenced by the etiology of cirrhosis, and with each subject showing his own pattern, either single or a combination of multiple collaterals[40,41]. Moreover, with the exception of LGV, the value of these collaterals in the prediction of EVB has not been clearly established [41,42].

EGD is currently regarded as the diagnostic reference standard for the prediction of EVB, being capable to identify high-risk EV, such as medium or large-sized, and small-sized with red wale markings EV[9]. Furthermore, primary prophylaxis against EVB is recommended in cirrhotic patients with high-risk EV and in those with small size EV who are classified as Child-Pugh C class[9-13]. Nevertheless, the occurrence of EVB during primary prophylaxis with propranolol has been reported in up to 30% of cases[11]. HVPG is considered the "gold standard" for the assessment of the response to pharmacological prophylaxis and may be adopted in order to reduce the rate of primary prophylaxis failure[9,10,24]. However, HVPG is invasive and expensive. Moreover, it is not readily and widely available in routine clinical practice, and its cost-effectiveness and clinical usefulness have also been questioned [25,26].

EGD is invasive, costly, and potentially associated with the risk of iatrogenic bleeding. With regard to high-risk EV identification, a lower inter-observer agreement of EGD has also been reported as compared with CT imaging[18,19]. Moreover, frequent endoscopic screening may result in poor patients' compliance and loss of patients to follow-up[22, 43]. Despite these limitations, in our opinion, CT should not be intended to replace EGD in the prediction of EVB. Nevertheless, CT may be useful in the identification of patients with a very-high risk of EVB. Given that CT is increasingly performed with various indications among cirrhotic patients, it could potentially assist liver disease scores, HVPG, and EGD in a more effective prediction of EVB. Moreover, CT may be able to support clinicians in their daily practice in accurately identifying very high-risk patients for EVB, in whom a combined pharmacological and endoscopic primary prophylaxis may be systematically considered and/or a more aggressive therapeutic monitoring strategy may be adopted.

Of note, all of the included studies in our review demonstrated severe limitations, likely affecting the study outcomes. First of all, bleeding and control groups significantly differed in terms of Child-Pugh class and/or MELD score in three out of 9 studies [29,30,32], whereas liver disease scores were not reported in another study [33]. Second, their retrospective nature^[28-36]. Lastly, their small sample size^[28-36].



The role of CT in the prediction of EVB, especially by the measurement of various EV indicators and some collateral veins, appears to be promising and intriguing. However, to date, evidence is still lacking. In our opinion, large, multicenter prospective controlled trials with adequate follow-up, should be conducted in order to evaluate if the EVB prediction rate may be further improved by adding MDCT to currently validated modalities (*i.e.* liver disease scores combined with endoscopy and/or HVPG). Moreover, the capability of selected and standardizable MDCT parameters to predict EVB should be prospectively evaluated, adopting EGD with or without HVPG as the reference standards. MDCT should be performed at the same time as the other validated modalities, without significant delay, and results should be stratified according to liver disease scores, endoscopic scores, and cirrhotic etiology. Of note, no significant differences in terms of liver disease severity, etiology, ongoing liver injury, or prophylactic therapy should be encountered between the enrolled groups. High morbidity and mortality rates still associated with EVB justify active research in this field.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Velia De Magistris for English editing.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Martino A, Amitrano L, Guardascione M and Di Serafino M designed research and wrote, edited and finalized the text; Martino A, Amitrano L, Guardascione M, Di Serafino M, Bennato R, Martino R and de Leone A performed literature search and analyzed the data; Orsini L, Romano L and Lombardi G reviewed the paper for important intellectual content.

Conflict-of-interest statement: No conflict of interest to declare.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Alberto Martino 0000-0002-8759-6518; Marco Di Serafino 0000-0001-6972-1859; Raffaele Bennato 0000-0002-8343-8205; Luigi Orsini 0000-0001-7029-3994; Luigia Romano 0000-0002-5201-547X; Giovanni Lombardi 0000-0002-5957-3132.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: Associazione Italiana Gastroenterologi ed endoscopisti digestivi Ospedalieri (AIGO); Società Italiana Di Gastroenterologia Ed Endoscopia Digestiva.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- D'Amico G, De Franchis R; Cooperative Study Group. Upper digestive bleeding in cirrhosis. Post-therapeutic outcome and prognostic 1 indicators. Hepatology 2003; 38: 599-612 [PMID: 12939586 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2003.50385]
- 2 D'Amico G, Morabito A, D'Amico M, Pasta L, Malizia G, Rebora P, Valsecchi MG. Clinical states of cirrhosis and competing risks. J Hepatol 2018; 68: 563-576 [PMID: 29111320 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.10.020]
- 3 North Italian Endoscopic Club for the Study and Treatment of Esophageal Varices. Prediction of the first variceal hemorrhage in patients with cirrhosis of the liver and esophageal varices. A prospective multicenter study. N Engl J Med 1988; 319: 983-989 [PMID: 3262200 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM198810133191505
- Seo YS. Prevention and management of gastroesophageal varices. Clin Mol Hepatol 2018; 24: 20-42 [PMID: 29249128 DOI: 4 10.3350/cmh.2017.0064]
- 5 Amitrano L, Guardascione MA, Manguso F, Bennato R, Bove A, DeNucci C, Lombardi G, Martino R, Menchise A, Orsini L, Picascia S, Riccio E. The effectiveness of current acute variceal bleed treatments in unselected cirrhotic patients: refining short-term prognosis and risk factors. Am J Gastroenterol 2012; 107: 1872-1878 [PMID: 23007003 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.313]
- Stokkeland K, Brandt L, Ekbom A, Hultcrantz R. Improved prognosis for patients hospitalized with esophageal varices in Sweden 1969-2002. 6 Hepatology 2006; 43: 500-505 [PMID: 16496319 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21089]
- Graham DY, Smith JL. The course of patients after variceal hemorrhage. Gastroenterology 1981; 80: 800-809 [PMID: 6970703] 7
- Garcia-Tsao G, Bosch J, Groszmann RJ. Portal hypertension and variceal bleeding--unresolved issues. Summary of an American Association 8 for the study of liver diseases and European Association for the study of the liver single-topic conference. Hepatology 2008; 47: 1764-1772 [PMID: 18435460 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22273]
- 9 de Franchis R, Bosch J, Garcia-Tsao G, Reiberger T, Ripoll C; Baveno VII Faculty. Baveno VII - Renewing consensus in portal hypertension. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 959-974 [PMID: 35120736 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.12.022]
- 10 de Franchis R; Baveno VI Faculty. Expanding consensus in portal hypertension: Report of the Baveno VI Consensus Workshop: Stratifying



risk and individualizing care for portal hypertension. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 743-752 [PMID: 26047908 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.05.022]

- Garcia-Tsao G, Abraldes JG, Berzigotti A, Bosch J. Portal hypertensive bleeding in cirrhosis: Risk stratification, diagnosis, and management: 11 2016 practice guidance by the American Association for the study of liver diseases. Hepatology 2017; 65: 310-335 [PMID: 27786365 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28906]
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with decompensated 12 cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 406-460 [PMID: 29653741 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.024]
- Gralnek IM, Camus Duboc M, Garcia-Pagan JC, Fuccio L, Karstensen JG, Hucl T, Jovanovic I, Awadie H, Hernandez-Gea V, Tantau M, 13 Ebigbo A, Ibrahim M, Vlachogiannakos J, Burgmans MC, Rosasco R, Triantafyllou K. Endoscopic diagnosis and management of esophagogastric variceal hemorrhage: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline. Endoscopy 2022; 54: 1094-1120 [PMID: 36174643 DOI: 10.1055/a-1939-4887]
- 14 de Mattos ÂZ, Terra C, Farias AQ, Bittencourt PL; Alliance of Brazilian Centers for Cirrhosis Care-the ABC Group. Primary prophylaxis of variceal bleeding in patients with cirrhosis: A comparison of different strategies. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2021; 13: 628-637 [PMID: 35070024 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v13.i12.628]
- Rigo GP, Merighi A, Chahin NJ, Mastronardi M, Codeluppi PL, Ferrari A, Armocida C, Zanasi G, Cristani A, Cioni G. A prospective study of 15 the ability of three endoscopic classifications to predict hemorrhage from esophageal varices. Gastrointest Endosc 1992; 38: 425-429 [PMID: 1511815 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(92)70470-2]
- Merkel C, Zoli M, Siringo S, van Buuren H, Magalotti D, Angeli P, Sacerdoti D, Bolondi L, Gatta A. Prognostic indicators of risk for first 16 variceal bleeding in cirrhosis: a multicenter study in 711 patients to validate and improve the North Italian Endoscopic Club (NIEC) index. Am J Gastroenterol 2000; 95: 2915-2920 [PMID: 11051368 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.03204.x]
- Kishimoto R, Chen M, Ogawa H, Wakabayashi MN, Kogutt MS. Esophageal varices: evaluation with transabdominal US. Radiology 1998; 17 206: 647-650 [PMID: 9494481 DOI: 10.1148/radiology.206.3.9494481]
- Perri RE, Chiorean MV, Fidler JL, Fletcher JG, Talwalkar JA, Stadheim L, Shah ND, Kamath PS. A prospective evaluation of computerized 18 tomographic (CT) scanning as a screening modality for esophageal varices. Hepatology 2008; 47: 1587-1594 [PMID: 18393388 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22219]
- 19 Yu NC, Margolis D, Hsu M, Raman SS, Lu DS. Detection and grading of esophageal varices on liver CT: comparison of standard and thinsection multiplanar reconstructions in diagnostic accuracy. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2011; 197: 643-649 [PMID: 21862806 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.10.5458]
- La Mura V, Nicolini A, Tosetti G, Primignani M. Cirrhosis and portal hypertension: The importance of risk stratification, the role of hepatic 20 venous pressure gradient measurement. World J Hepatol 2015; 7: 688-695 [PMID: 25866605 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v7.i4.688]
- Bosch J, Abraldes JG, Berzigotti A, García-Pagan JC. The clinical use of HVPG measurements in chronic liver disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol 21 Hepatol 2009; 6: 573-582 [PMID: 19724251 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2009.149]
- 22 Viallet A, Marleau D, Huet M, Martin F, Farley A, Villeneuve JP, Lavoie P. Hemodynamic evaluation of patients with intrahepatic portal hypertension. Relationship between bleeding varices and the portohepatic gradient. Gastroenterology 1975; 69: 1297-1300 [PMID: 1081459]
- 23 Vinel JP, Cassigneul J, Levade M, Voigt JJ, Pascal JP. Assessment of short-term prognosis after variceal bleeding in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis by early measurement of portohepatic gradient. Hepatology 1986; 6: 116-117 [PMID: 3484713 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840060122]
- 24 D'Amico G, Garcia-Pagan JC, Luca A, Bosch J. Hepatic vein pressure gradient reduction and prevention of variceal bleeding in cirrhosis: a systematic review. Gastroenterology 2006; 131: 1611-1624 [PMID: 17101332 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.09.013]
- 25 Hicken BL, Sharara AI, Abrams GA, Eloubeidi M, Fallon MB, Arguedas MR. Hepatic venous pressure gradient measurements to assess response to primary prophylaxis in patients with cirrhosis: a decision analytical study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003; 17: 145-153 [PMID: 12492744 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.2003.01391.x]
- Thalheimer U, Mela M, Patch D, Burroughs AK. Monitoring target reduction in hepatic venous pressure gradient during pharmacological 26 therapy of portal hypertension: a close look at the evidence. Gut 2004; 53: 143-148 [PMID: 14684589 DOI: 10.1136/gut.53.1.143]
- Tseng YJ, Zeng XQ, Chen J, Li N, Xu PJ, Chen SY. Computed tomography in evaluating gastroesophageal varices in patients with portal 27 hypertension: A meta-analysis. Dig Liver Dis 2016; 48: 695-702 [PMID: 27103357 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2016.02.007]
- Somsouk M, To'o K, Ali M, Vittinghoff E, Yeh BM, Yee J, Monto A, Inadomi JM, Aslam R. Esophageal varices on computed tomography 28 and subsequent variceal hemorrhage. Abdom Imaging 2014; 39: 251-256 [PMID: 24366107 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-013-0057-x]
- Ge W, Wang Y, Cao YJ, Xie M, Ding YT, Zhang M, Yu DC. Radiological score for hemorrhage in the patients with portal hypertension. Int J 29 Clin Exp Pathol 2015; 8: 11517-11523 [PMID: 26617884]
- Calame P, Ronot M, Bouveresse S, Cervoni JP, Vilgrain V, Delabrousse É. Predictive value of CT for first esophageal variceal bleeding in 30 patients with cirrhosis: Value of para-umbilical vein patency. Eur J Radiol 2017; 87: 45-52 [PMID: 28065374 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2016.12.006
- Kim BH, Chung JW, Lee CS, Jang ES, Jeong SH, Kim N, Kim JW. Liver volume index predicts the risk of esophageal variceal hemorrhage in 31 cirrhotic patients on propranolol prophylaxis. Korean J Intern Med 2019; 34: 1233-1243 [PMID: 30759966 DOI: 10.3904/kjim.2018.120]
- Salahshour F, Mehrabinejad MM, Rashidi Shahpasandi MH, Salahshour M, Shahsavari N, Nassiri Toosi M, Ayoobi Yazdi N. Esophageal 32 variceal hemorrhage: the role of MDCT characteristics in predicting the presence of varices and bleeding risk. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2020; 45: 2305-2314 [PMID: 32447415 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-020-02585-5]
- 33 Xie W, Chen FX, Zhu LY, Wen CC, Zhang X. Risk assessment of first upper gastrointestinal bleeding using computerized tomoscanning in esophageal varices patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020; 99: e18923 [PMID: 32000404 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000018923
- Peisen F, Ekert K, Bitzer M, Bösmüller H, Fritz J, Horger M. CT hepatic arterial perfusion index does not allow stratification of the degree of 34 esophageal varices and bleeding risk in cirrhotic patients in Child-Pugh classes A and B. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2021; 46: 5586-5597 [PMID: 34453180 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-021-03259-6]
- 35 Wan S, Wei Y, Zhang X, Yang C, Song B. CT-derived quantitative liver volumetric parameters for prediction of severe esophageal varices and the risk of first variceal hemorrhage. Eur J Radiol 2021; 144: 109984 [PMID: 34638080 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2021.109984]
- 36 Wan S, He Y, Zhang X, Wei Y, Song B. Quantitative measurements of esophageal varices using computed tomography for prediction of severe varices and the risk of bleeding: a preliminary study. Insights Imaging 2022; 13: 47 [PMID: 35286491 DOI: 10.1186/s13244-022-01189-5]
- 37 Shimizu T, Namba R, Matsuoka T, Tabuchi K, Yamamoto K, Uesugi Y, Matsui R, Sueyoshi K, Narabayashi I. Esophageal varices before and after endoscopic variceal ligation: evaluation using helical CT. Eur Radiol 1999; 9: 1546-1549 [PMID: 10525862 DOI:



10.1007/s003300050881]

- Kim SH, Kim YJ, Lee JM, Choi KD, Chung YJ, Han JK, Lee JY, Lee MW, Han CJ, Choi JI, Shin KS, Choi BI. Esophageal varices in patients 38 with cirrhosis: multidetector CT esophagography--comparison with endoscopy. Radiology 2007; 242: 759-768 [PMID: 17229872 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2423050784]
- Kim YJ, Raman SS, Yu NC, To'o KJ, Jutabha R, Lu DS. Esophageal varices in cirrhotic patients: evaluation with liver CT. AJR Am J 39 Roentgenol 2007; 188: 139-144 [PMID: 17179356 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.05.1737]
- Okuda K, Matsutani S. Portal-systemic collaterals: anatomy and clinical implications. In: Okuda, K, Benhamou, editor. Portal Hypertension. 40 Tokyo: Springer, 1991 [DOI: 10.1007/978-4-431-68361-2_5]
- 41 Maruyama H, Shiina S. Collaterals in portal hypertension: anatomy and clinical relevance. Quant Imaging Med Surg 2021; 11: 3867-3881 [PMID: 34341755 DOI: 10.21037/qims-20-1328]
- Bandali MF, Mirakhur A, Lee EW, Ferris MC, Sadler DJ, Gray RR, Wong JK. Portal hypertension: Imaging of portosystemic collateral 42 pathways and associated image-guided therapy. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 1735-1746 [PMID: 28348478 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i10.1735]
- Spiegel BM, Targownik L, Dulai GS, Karsan HA, Gralnek IM. Endoscopic screening for esophageal varices in cirrhosis: Is it ever cost 43 effective? Hepatology 2003; 37: 366-377 [PMID: 12540787 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2003.50050]



E WJ

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 December 16; 15(12): 690-698

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.690

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study Improved visibility of colorectal tumor by texture and color enhancement imaging with indigo carmine

Takuma Hiramatsu, Toshihiro Nishizawa, Yosuke Kataoka, Shuntaro Yoshida, Tatsuya Matsuno, Hiroya Mizutani, Hideki Nakagawa, Hirotoshi Ebinuma, Mitsuhiro Fujishiro, Osamu Toyoshima

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology	Takuma Hiramatsu, Hiroya Mizutani, Hideki Nakagawa, Mitsuhiro Fujishiro , Department of Gastroenterology, Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo 113-8655, Japan
Provenance and peer review:	
Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.	Toshihiro Nishizawa, Hirotoshi Ebinuma , Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, International University of Health and Welfare, Narita Hospital, Narita 286-8520, Japan
Peer-review model: Single blind	Yosuke Kataoka, Shuntaro Yoshida, Tatsuya Matsuno, Osamu Toyoshima, Department of Gastroenterology, Toyoshima Endoscopy Clinic, Tokyo 157-0066, Japan
Peer-review report's scientific	
quality classification	Corresponding author: Toshihiro Nishizawa, MD, PhD, Professor, Department of
Grade A (Excellent): 0	Gastroenterology and Hepatology, International University of Health and Welfare, Narita
Grade B (Very good): 0	Hospital, Hatakeda 852, Narita, Chiba, Narita 286-8520, Japan. nisizawa@kt7.so-net.ne.jp
Grade C (Good): C	
Grade D (Fair): 0	Abstract
Grade E (Poor): 0	
P-Reviewer: Li XB, China	BACKGROUND Accurate diagnosis and early resection of colorectal polyps are important to
Received: September 21, 2023	prevent the occurrence of colorectal cancer. However, technical factors and
Peer-review started: September 21,	anhanced endesceny and chromoendesceny (CE) have been developed to faci
2023	litate an accurate diagnosis. There have been no reports on visibility using a com-
First decision: October 24, 2023	bination of texture and color enhancement imaging (TXI) and CE for colorectal
Revised: October 25, 2023	tumors.
Accepted: November 24, 2023	
Article in press: November 24, 2023	AIM
Published online: December 16,	To investigate the visibility of margins and surfaces with the combination of TXI
2023	and UE for colorectal lesions.
	METHODS

This retrospective study included patients who underwent lower gastrointestinal endoscopy at the Toyoshima Endoscopy Clinic. We extracted polyps that were resected and diagnosed as adenomas or serrated polyps (hyperplastic polyps and sessile serrated lesions) from our endoscopic database. An expert endoscopist performed the lower gastrointestinal endoscopies and observed the lesion using white light imaging (WLI), TXI, CE, and TXI + CE modalities. Indigo carmine dye was used for CE. Three expert endoscopists rated the visibility of the margin and surface patterns in four ranks, from 1 to 4. The primary outcomes were the aver-



age visibility scores for the margin and surface patterns based on the WLI, TXI, CE, and TXI + CE observations. Visibility scores between the four modalities were compared by the Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn tests.

RESULTS

A total of 48 patients with 81 polyps were assessed. The histological subtypes included 50 tubular adenomas, 16 hyperplastic polyps, and 15 sessile serrated lesions. The visibility scores for the margins based on WLI, TXI, CE, and TXI + CE were 2.44 ± 0.93, 2.90 ± 0.93, 3.37 ± 0.74 , and 3.75 ± 0.49 , respectively. The visibility scores for the surface based on WLI, TXI, CE, and TXI + CE were 2.25 ± 0.80 , 2.84 ± 0.84 , 3.12 ± 0.72 , and 3.51 ± 0.60 , respectively. The visibility scores for the detection and surface on TXI were significantly lower than that on CE but higher than that on WLI (*P* < 0.001). The visibility scores for the margin and surface on TXI + CE were significantly higher than those on CE (*P* < 0.001). In the sub-analysis of adenomas, the visibility for the margin and surface on TXI + CE was significantly better than that on WLI, TXI, and CE (*P* < 0.001). In the sub-analysis of serrated polyps, the visibility for the margin and surface on TXI + CE was also significantly better than that on WLI, TXI, and CE (*P* < 0.001).

CONCLUSION

TXI + CE enhanced the visibility of the margin and surface compared to WLI, TXI, and CE for colorectal lesions.

Key Words: Texture and color enhancement imaging; Indigo carmine; Adenoma; Colonoscopy; Sessile serrated lesion

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The visibility of colorectal tumors was investigated using texture and color enhancement imaging (TXI) and chromoendoscopy (CE). The combination of TXI and CE showed higher visibility than white-light imaging, TXI, or CE alone for the margins and surfaces of colorectal adenomas and serrated polyps.

Citation: Hiramatsu T, Nishizawa T, Kataoka Y, Yoshida S, Matsuno T, Mizutani H, Nakagawa H, Ebinuma H, Fujishiro M, Toyoshima O. Improved visibility of colorectal tumor by texture and color enhancement imaging with indigo carmine. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2023; 15(12): 690-698

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i12/690.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.690

INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer is the third most common malignancy. Accurate diagnosis and early resection of colorectal adenomas are important for preventing the development of colorectal cancer[1,2]. Endoscopic resection of colorectal polyps contributes to over 50% reduction in colorectal cancer mortality, which is the basis for the importance of endoscopic resection[3]. However, 28% of polyps are missed on white light imaging (WLI)[4]. The causes of missed polyps include technical factors and morphological factors of polyps itself, such as superficial types, which are often overlooked[5].

Chromoendoscopy (CE) and image-enhanced endoscopy (IEE) have been developed[6]. Dye-based CE enhances the appearance of the mucosal surface and color patterns, which improves lesion recognition. Indigo carmine highlights the demarcation line of neoplastic lesions, and improves the detection. Pancolonic CE significantly increased the detection rates of adenomas and serrated lesions[7].

IEE includes narrowband imaging, linked color imaging (LCI), and texture and color enhancement imaging (TXI). The TXI mode is characterized by the adjustment of texture and brightness and the enhancement of color[8] and was installed in a new EVIS X1 endoscopy system (Olympus Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). Regarding the TXI principle, the image captured from WLI was separated into a base and a detailed image. The texture and brightness of the two images were adjusted. These were then recombined and called TXI mode 2. Furthermore, color enhancement was applied, and it was called TXI mode 1. We previously reported that TXI showed better visibility than WLI for colorectal adenoma[9] and serrated polyps, including sessile serrated lesions[10].

Recently, Okimoto *et al*[11] reported that magnified endoscopy with TXI and CE improved the visibility of duodenal tumor. There has also been a case report showing the usefulness of TXI and CE in early gastric cancer[12]. However, there have been no reports on the visibility of colorectal tumors using a combination of TXI and CE. Therefore, we examined the efficacy of TXI + CE in colorectal adenomas and serrated polyps. TXI + CE was compared with CE, TXI, and WLI for visibility of the margin and surface pattern.

Zaishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

This retrospective study included patients who underwent lower gastrointestinal endoscopy at the Toyoshima Endoscopy Clinic between May and June 2022. We removed polyps suspected to be cancerous, adenomatous, or clinically significant serrated polyps[2,13]. All resected lesions were pathologically diagnosed using hematoxylin and eosin staining. Patients diagnosed with adenomas or serrated polyps (sessile serrated lesions or hyperplastic polyps) were enrolled in this study. Polyps diagnosed as normal or other, were excluded. We excluded patients with poor bowel preparation or ulcerative colitis. Indications for lower gastrointestinal were investigation of symptoms, such as hematochezia or abdominal pain, investigation of a positive fecal occult blood test, and screening.

Ethics

This study complied with the Ethical Guidelines for Medical Studies in Japan and the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the certified ethics committee of the Yoyogi Mental Clinic (certificate number: RKK227). We published this study's protocol on the website of the Toyoshima Endoscopy Clinic, allowing patients to opt out of the study if desired.

Endoscopy

The Toyoshima Endoscopy Clinic has introduced the EVIS X1 video system center, a 4 K resolution ultra-high-definition display monitor, and utilized colonoscopes PCF-H290ZI and CF-HQ290ZI (Olympus, Japan). We used the TXI Mode 1. The TXI Mode 2 is same as TXI mode 1 without color enhancement[14]. CE was performed by spraying 0.05% indigo carmine[15]. The endoscopic pictures and the endoscopic reports were stored with the T-File System (STS-Medic Inc., Tokyo, Japan)[16].

A board certified fellow/trainer of the Japan Gastroenterological Endoscopy Society (Toyoshima O) performed the lower gastrointestinal endoscopy and observed the lesions with the WLI, TXI, CE, and TXI + CE. Firstly, the lesions were cleaned with water. Images of the WLI and TXI were captured. Then, indigo carmine was sprinkled, and CE and TXI + CE images were captured.

Visibility scoring

The visibility of the margins and surface patterns was surveyed. The definition of margin was the detectability of the lesion border without magnification[9]. The definition of surface patterns was the mucosal structures, including granular, villous, lobular, pit, and superficial microvessel patterns. According to the previous treatises, the visibility score was as follows: A score of 1 was not detectable without repeated careful observation. A score of 2 was considered fair (barely detectable without careful observation). A score of 3 was considered acceptable (detectable without careful observation). A score of 4 was considered excellent (easily detectable)[10,17]. Three expert endoscopists rated the visibility the visibility in four ranks. An expert endoscopist was defined as one who has conducted > 5000 colonoscopies[9,18]. This study did not include magnified observations.

Outcomes

The primary outcomes were the average visibility scores for the margin and surface patterns based on WLI, TXI, CE, and TXI + CE. We compiled information on histological subtype, polyp location, size, and morphology based on the Paris endoscopic classification[19].

Statistical analysis

Visibility scores between the four modalities were compared by the Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn tests^[10]. Stat Mate IV software (version 4.01, ATOMS, Japan) was used for the statistical analysis. The definition of statistical significance was P value < 0.05.

RESULTS

Patients

Table 1 shows the clinicopathological characteristics of the 81 polyps enrolled in our study. Histologically, 50 (61.7%) of the 81 polyps were tubular adenomas, 15 (18.5%) were sessile serrated lesions, and 16 (19.8%) were hyperplastic. Regarding tumor location, 7 polyps (8.6%) were in the cecum, 18 (22.2%) in the ascending colon, 39 (48.1%) in the transverse colon, 6 (7.4%) in the descending colon, 9 (11.1%) in the sigmoid colon, and 2 (2.5%) in the rectum. The average tumor size was 5.8 ± 3.7 mm. Macroscopic findings were as follows: 1 (1.2%) 0-Is, 76 (93.8%) 0-IIa, and 4 (4.9%) 0-IIb in the Paris endoscopic classification. Figure 1 shows a design flowchart for this study.

Visibility scores of margins and surface for all lesions (adenoma and serrated polyps)

The visibility scores for the margin and surface on TXI were significantly lower than that on CE but higher than that on WLI. The visibility scores for the margins and surface on TXI + CE were significantly higher than those on CE (P < 0.001) (Table 2).



Table 1 Clinicopathological characteristics of polyps					
Polyps, n	81				
Histological subtype, <i>n</i>					
Tubular adenoma	50				
Sessile serrated lesion	15				
Hyperplastic polyp	16				
Location; <i>n</i> , cecum, ascending, transverse, descending, sigmoid, rectum	7, 18, 39, 6, 9, 2				
Size, average (standard deviation, range); mm	5.8 (3.67, 1-20)				
Morphology; n, 0-Is, 0-IIa, 0-IIb	1, 76, 4				

Table 2 Visibility scores of margin and surface for white light imaging, texture and color enhancement imaging, chromoendoscopy and texture and color enhancement imaging + chromoendoscopy

	WLI	ТХІ	CE	TXI + CE	WLI <i>vs</i> TXI, <i>P</i> value	TXI <i>vs</i> CE, <i>P</i> value	CE vs TXI + CE, P value
Margin, mean (SD)	2.44 (0.93)	2.90 (0.93)	3.37 (0.74)	3.75 (0.49)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Surface, mean (SD)	2.25 (0.80)	2.84 (0.84)	3.12 (0.72)	3.51 (0.60)	< 0.001	< 0.01	< 0.001

The visibility score was defined as follows: Score 4, excellent (easily detectable); score 3, good (detectable without careful observation); score 2, fair (hardly detectable without careful examination); score 1, (not detectable without repeated careful examination). WLI: White light imaging; TXI: Texture and color enhancement imaging; CE: Chromoendoscopy; TXI + CE: Texture and color enhancement imaging + chromoendoscopy.



Figure 1 Flowchart for the study design. WLI: White light imaging; TXI: Texture and color enhancement imaging; CE: Chromoendoscopy; SSL: Sessile serrated lesion.

Visibility scores of margins and surface of adenoma

In the sub-analysis of adenomas, the visibility score for the margin of TXI was significantly lower than that of CE but higher than that of WLI. The visibility for the margin on TXI + CE was significantly better than that on CE (P < 0.001) (Table 3). In the sub-analysis of adenomas, the visibility for the surface on TXI was significantly better than that of WLI. No statistically significant differences were observed between the TXI and CE. The visibility for the surface on TXI + CE was significantly better than that on CE (Table 3). Figure 2 shows representative images of adenoma.

Visibility score of detection and surface of serrated polyps

In the sub-analysis of serrated polyps, the visibility score for the margin on TXI was significantly lower than that on CE but higher than that on WLI. The visibility for the margin on TXI + CE was significantly better than that on CE (P < 0.01) (Table 4). In the sub-analysis of serrated polyps, the visibility for the surface on TXI was significantly better than that on WLI. No statistically significant differences were observed between the TXI and CE. The visibility for the surface on TXI +

Table 3 Visibility scores of margin and surface of adenomas for white light imaging, texture and color enhancement imaging, chromoendoscopy								
	WLI	ТХІ	CE	TXI + CE	WLI vs TXI, <i>P</i> value	TXI <i>vs</i> CE, <i>P</i> value	CE <i>v</i> s TXI + CE, <i>P</i> value	
Margin, mean (SD)	2.54 (0.84)	3.00 (0.85)	3.46 (0.72)	3.81 (0.42)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Surface, mean (SD)	2.34 (0.75)	2.93 (0.79)	3.19 (0.70)	3.58 (0.56)	< 0.001	NS	< 0.001	

The visibility score was defined as follows: Score 4, excellent (easily detectable); score 3, good (detectable without careful observation); score 2, fair (hardly detectable without careful examination); score 1, (not detectable without repeated careful examination). NS: Not significant; WLI: White light imaging; TXI: Texture and color enhancement imaging; CE: Chromoendoscopy; TXI + CE: Texture and color enhancement imaging + chromoendoscopy.

Table 4 Visibility scores of margin and surface of serrated polyps for white light imaging, texture and color enhancement imaging, chromoendoscopy and texture and color enhancement imaging + chromoendoscopy

	WLI	ТХІ	CE	TXI + CE	WLI vs TXI, P value	TXI <i>vs</i> CE, <i>P</i> value	CE vs TXI + CE, P value
Margine, mean (SD)	2.29 (1.05)	2.73 (1.03)	3.23 (0.75)	3.63 (0.56)	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.01
Surface, mean (SD)	2.11 (0.86)	2.69 (0.89)	3.01 (0.75)	3.41 (0.66)	< 0.001	NS	< 0.01

The visibility score was defined as follows: Score 4, excellent (easily detectable); score 3, good (detectable without careful observation); score 2, fair (hardly detectable without careful examination); score 1, (not detectable without repeated careful examination). NS: Not significant; WLI: White light imaging; TXI: Texture and color enhancement imaging; CE: Chromoendoscopy; TXI + CE: Texture and color enhancement imaging + chromoendoscopy.



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.690 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Representative images of adenoma. A: White light imaging; B: Chromoendoscopy; C: Texture and color enhancement imaging; D: Chromoendoscopy and texture and color enhancement imaging.

CE was significantly better than that on CE (Table 4). Figure 3 shows representative images of serrated polyp (sessile serrated lesion).

Saishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.690 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Representative images of serrated polyp (sessile serrated lesion). A: White light imaging; B: Chromoendoscopy; C: Texture and color enhancement imaging; D: Chromoendoscopy and texture and color enhancement imaging.

DISCUSSION

The present study showed that the visibility of the margins and surfaces of colorectal lesions was in the order of TXI + CE, CE, TXI, and WLI, with TXI + CE being the best. In the sub-analysis of adenomas and serrated polyps, TXI + CE provided better visibility than WLI, TXI, or CE. This is the first report on the superiority of TXI + CE in colorectum.

Fujifilm corporation developed an LCI, which is considered a virtual CE. Yoshida *et al*[20] demonstrated that LCI improved the visibility scores of polyps compared with WLI. Suzuki *et al*[21] conducted an international randomized control trial that showed that LCI increased the adenoma detection rate compared to WLI (58.7% *vs* 45.7%; P < 0.01). LCI-based observations are becoming routine in clinical practice and could decrease interval cancer rate[22].

Recently, Olympus developed the TXI as a mode corresponding to LCI. Although TXI is similar to LCI in terms of this concept, the TXI algorithm differs from that of LCI. LCI uses narrowband light, the images are converted to those similar to WLI, and the color is enhanced from red to vivid red, and white to clear white. On the other hand, TXI uses white light without narrowband light, enriches texture and color, and selectively enhances brightness in dark areas[14,23]. TXI enhances slight changes in the structure and color of images that are difficult to observe using WLI.

We previously reported that TXI had better visibility than WLI for colorectal adenomas, regardless of the endoscopist's experiences[9]. Furthermore, TXI showed better visibility than WLI for colorectal serrated polyps[10]. In this study, the visibility on TXI was better than that on WLI for adenomas and serrated polyps, consistent with previous reports.

Both TXI and CE improve the visibility of colorectal lesions. CE has been reported to increase adenoma detection rate significantly [24,25]. Pohl *et al*[7] showed that pancolonic CE significantly improved the detection rate for adenomas (0.95 *vs* 0.66 per patient) and serrated lesions (1.19 *vs* 0.49 per patient) (P < 0.001). Our study also showed that the visibility on CE was better than that on WLI for adenomas and serrated polyps, consistent with previous reports.

For CE it takes time to sprinkle indigo carmine and suck out the excess. Pohl *et al*[7] reported that the extubation time in the pancolonic CE group was significantly longer than that in the control group (11.6 min *vs* 10.1 min; P < 0.001), but the difference was relatively small. They concluded that pancolonic CE was acceptable for routine clinical practice. The cost of indigo carmine is also an issue in pancolonic CE [1.75 \$ (245 yen) for one ampule (20 mg/5 mL) of indigo carmine; Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited, Japan]. Indigo carmine in ampule can also be used for intravenous injection; using it for endoscopic spray is expensive. We used the guaranteed reagent of indigo carmine [50.7 \$ (7100 yen), 25 g powder; Fujifilm Wako Pure Chemical Corporation, Japan] in our study and diluted the solution to 0.05%[26]. This method required some time but reduced the cost of indigo carmine by 2.3%.

Magnified endoscopy with TXI and CE has been reported to provide higher visibility of duodenal tumors. Our study confirmed that the combination of TXI and CE was effective in visualizing colorectal lesions. Furthermore, our study used non-magnified endoscopy. TXI + CE is also suitable for observing the colon from a distant view. Although indigo carmine spray decreased the brightness of the entire endoscopic field, TXI adjusted the brightness. Taken together, these results suggest that TXI + CE can replace WLI in routine colonoscopy.

Boishidene® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

There are several limitations in our study. Although significant differences were statistically confirmed, this was a pilot study conducted at a single center with a sample size of 81 participants. This study was retrospective and included a potential selection bias. Therefore, prospective randomized control trials are desired to verify these findings.

CONCLUSION

TXI + CE enhanced the visibility of the margins and surface of colorectal lesions compared to WLI, TXI, and CE.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Texture and color enhancement imaging (TXI) was developed to provide higher visibility of colorectal lesions. Chromoendoscopy (CE) also improved the recognition of colorectal lesions.

Research motivation

There is no literature regarding visibility on the combination of TXI and CE for colorectal tumors.

Research objectives

This study assessed the effectiveness of TXI + CE for the treatment of colorectal adenomas and serrated polyps.

Research methods

Endoscopic images of adenomas or serrated polyps were obtained with white light imaging (WLI), TXI, CE, and TXI + CE modalities. Expert endoscopists evaluated the visibility scores of the margins and surface patterns. The visibility scores were given in four ranks.

Research results

The visibility of margins and surfaces of the colorectal lesions was in the order of TXI + CE, CE, TXI, and WLI, with TXI + CE being the best. In the sub-analysis of adenomas and serrated polyps, the visibility for the margins and surface on TXI + CE was significantly better than that on WLI, TXI, and CE alone (P < 0.001).

Research conclusions

Regarding the visibility of margins and surface of colorectal lesions, the combination of TXI + CE was better than that of WLI, TXI, and CE alone.

Research perspectives

A prospective randomised controlled trial is desired to confirm these findings.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Hiramatsu T and Nishizawa T drafted the article; Hiramatsu T and Toyoshima O reviewed endoscopic images; Hiramatsu T edited endoscopic images; Nishizawa T contributed to the review of endoscopic and statistical analysis; Kataoka Y, Yoshida S, Matsuno T, Mizutani H, Nakagawa H, Ebinuma H, and Fujishiro M participated in the critical review and final manuscript approval; Toyoshima O involved in the conception of article, taking endoscopic images, review of endoscopic images, and final manuscript approval.

Institutional review board statement: Our study was approved by the ethics committee of the Certified Institutional Review Board of the Yoyogi Mental Clinic (certificate number. RKK227).

Informed consent statement: We published the study protocol on our clinic's website (www.ichou.com), allowing patients to opt out of the study if desired. Written consent to participate in the study was obtained before endoscopy.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/



Country/Territory of origin: Japan

ORCID number: Takuma Hiramatsu 0009-0007-8589-4611; Toshihiro Nishizawa 0000-0003-4876-3384; Yosuke Kataoka 0000-0002-8374-6558; Shuntaro Yoshida 0000-0002-9437-9132; Tatsuya Matsuno 0000-0002-1935-3506; Hirotoshi Ebinuma 0000-0001-6604-053X; Mitsuhiro Fujishiro 0000-0002-4074-1140; Osamu Toyoshima 0000-0002-6953-6079.

S-Editor: Wang IJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- 1 Toyoshima O, Nishizawa T, Yoshida S, Watanabe H, Odawara N, Sakitani K, Arano T, Takiyama H, Kobayashi H, Kogure H, Fujishiro M. Brown slits for colorectal adenoma crypts on conventional magnifying endoscopy with narrow band imaging using the X1 system. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28: 2748-2757 [PMID: 35979159 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i24.2748]
- Toyoshima O, Nishizawa T, Yoshida S, Sekiba K, Kataoka Y, Hata K, Watanabe H, Tsuji Y, Koike K. Expert endoscopists with high 2 adenoma detection rates frequently detect diminutive adenomas in proximal colon. Endosc Int Open 2020; 8: E775-E782 [PMID: 32490163 DOI: 10.1055/a-1136-9971]
- Zauber AG, Winawer SJ, O'Brien MJ, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, van Ballegooijen M, Hankey BF, Shi W, Bond JH, Schapiro M, Panish JF, 3 Stewart ET, Waye JD. Colonoscopic polypectomy and long-term prevention of colorectal-cancer deaths. N Engl J Med 2012; 366: 687-696 [PMID: 22356322 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1100370]
- 4 Heresbach D, Barrioz T, Lapalus MG, Coumaros D, Bauret P, Potier P, Sautereau D, Boustière C, Grimaud JC, Barthélémy C, Sée J, Serraj I, D'Halluin PN, Branger B, Ponchon T. Miss rate for colorectal neoplastic polyps: a prospective multicenter study of back-to-back video colonoscopies. Endoscopy 2008; 40: 284-290 [PMID: 18389446 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-995618]
- 5 Sakamoto T, Ikematsu H, Tamai N, Mizuguchi Y, Takamaru H, Murano T, Shinmura K, Sasabe M, Furuhashi H, Sumiyama K, Saito Y. Detection of colorectal adenomas with texture and color enhancement imaging: Multicenter observational study. Dig Endosc 2023; 35: 529-537 [PMID: 36398944 DOI: 10.1111/den.14480]
- Shahsavari D, Waqar M, Thoguluva Chandrasekar V. Image enhanced colonoscopy: updates and prospects-a review. Transl Gastroenterol 6 Hepatol 2023; 8: 26 [PMID: 37601740 DOI: 10.21037/tgh-23-17]
- 7 Pohl J, Schneider A, Vogell H, Mayer G, Kaiser G, Ell C. Pancolonic chromoendoscopy with indigo carmine versus standard colonoscopy for detection of neoplastic lesions: a randomised two-centre trial. Gut 2011; 60: 485-490 [PMID: 21159889 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2010.229534]
- 8 Wang Y, Sun CY, Scott L, Wu DD, Chen X. Texture and color enhancement imaging for detecting colorectal adenomas: Good, but not good enough. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2022; 14: 471-473 [PMID: 36051993 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v14.i7.471]
- Toyoshima O, Nishizawa T, Yoshida S, Yamada T, Odawara N, Matsuno T, Obata M, Kurokawa K, Uekura C, Fujishiro M. Texture and color 9 enhancement imaging in magnifying endoscopic evaluation of colorectal adenomas. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2022; 14: 96-105 [PMID: 35316981 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v14.i2.96]
- 10 Nishizawa T, Toyoshima O, Yoshida S, Uekura C, Kurokawa K, Munkhjargal M, Obata M, Yamada T, Fujishiro M, Ebinuma H, Suzuki H. TXI (Texture and Color Enhancement Imaging) for Serrated Colorectal Lesions. J Clin Med 2021; 11 [PMID: 35011860 DOI: 10.3390/icm11010119]
- Okimoto K, Matsumura T, Maruoka D, Kurosugi A, Shiratori W, Nagashima A, Ishikawa T, Kaneko T, Kanayama K, Akizue N, Ohta Y, 11 Taida T, Saito K, Kato J, Kato N. Magnified endoscopy with texture and color enhanced imaging with indigo carmine for superficial nonampullary duodenal tumor: a pilot study. Sci Rep 2022; 12: 10381 [PMID: 35725752 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-14476-4]
- Waki K, Kanesaka T, Michida T, Ishihara R, Tanaka Y. Improved visibility of early gastric cancer by using a combination of 12 chromoendoscopy and texture and color enhancement imaging. Gastrointest Endosc 2022; 95: 800-801 [PMID: 34971670 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2021.12.016]
- Nishizawa T, Yoshida S, Toyoshima A, Yamada T, Sakaguchi Y, Irako T, Ebinuma H, Kanai T, Koike K, Toyoshima O. Endoscopic diagnosis 13 for colorectal sessile serrated lesions. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 1321-1329 [PMID: 33833485 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i13.1321]
- Sato T. TXI: Texture and Color Enhancement Imaging for Endoscopic Image Enhancement. J Healthc Eng 2021; 2021: 5518948 [PMID: 14 33880168 DOI: 10.1155/2021/5518948]
- Toyoshima O, Yoshida S, Nishizawa T, Yamakawa T, Sakitani K, Hata K, Takahashi Y, Fujishiro M, Watanabe H, Koike K. CF290 for 15 pancolonic chromoendoscopy improved sessile serrated polyp detection and procedure time: a propensity score-matching study. Endosc Int Open 2019; 7: E987-E993 [PMID: 31367679 DOI: 10.1055/a-0953-1909]
- Yoshida S, Nishizawa T, Toyoshima O. Real-world clinical data of endoscopy-based cancer detection during the emergency declaration for 16 COVID-19 in Japan. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 12: 401-403 [PMID: 33133376 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v12.i10.401]
- Suzuki T, Hara T, Kitagawa Y, Takashiro H, Nankinzan R, Sugita O, Yamaguchi T. Linked-color imaging improves endoscopic visibility of 17 colorectal nongranular flat lesions. Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 86: 692-697 [PMID: 28193491 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2017.01.044]
- Kobayashi S, Yamada M, Takamaru H, Sakamoto T, Matsuda T, Sekine S, Igarashi Y, Saito Y. Diagnostic yield of the Japan NBI Expert 18 Team (JNET) classification for endoscopic diagnosis of superficial colorectal neoplasms in a large-scale clinical practice database. United European Gastroenterol J 2019; 7: 914-923 [PMID: 31428416 DOI: 10.1177/2050640619845987]
- 19 The Paris endoscopic classification of superficial neoplastic lesions: esophagus, stomach, and colon: November 30 to December 1, 2002. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2003; **58**: S3-43 [PMID: 14652541 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(03)02159-x]
- 20 Yoshida N, Naito Y, Murakami T, Hirose R, Ogiso K, Inada Y, Dohi O, Kamada K, Uchiyama K, Handa O, Konishi H, Siah KTH, Yagi N, Fujita Y, Kishimoto M, Yanagisawa A, Itoh Y. Linked color imaging improves the visibility of colorectal polyps: a video study. Endosc Int Open 2017; 5: E518-E525 [PMID: 28596985 DOI: 10.1055/s-0043-105495]
- Suzuki S, Aniwan S, Chiu HM, Laohavichitra K, Chirapongsathorn S, Yamamura T, Kuo CY, Yoshida N, Ang TL, Takezawa T, Rerknimitr 21 R, Ishikawa H, Gotoda T; ATLAS Trial Group. Linked-Color Imaging Detects More Colorectal Adenoma and Serrated Lesions: An



International Randomized Controlled Trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2023; 21: 1493-1502.e4 [PMID: 36328306 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2022.10.021]

- 22 Shinozaki S, Kobayashi Y, Hayashi Y, Sakamoto H, Sunada K, Lefor AK, Yamamoto H. Colon polyp detection using linked color imaging compared to white light imaging: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Endosc 2020; 32: 874-881 [PMID: 31869487 DOI: 10.1111/den.13613]
- Ishikawa T, Matsumura T, Okimoto K, Nagashima A, Shiratori W, Kaneko T, Oura H, Tokunaga M, Akizue N, Ohta Y, Saito K, Arai M, 23 Kato J, Kato N. Efficacy of Texture and Color Enhancement Imaging in visualizing gastric mucosal atrophy and gastric neoplasms. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 6910 [PMID: 33767278 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-86296-x]
- 24 Singh R, Chiam KH, Leiria F, Pu LZCT, Choi KC, Militz M. Chromoendoscopy: role in modern endoscopic imaging. Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 39 [PMID: 32632390 DOI: 10.21037/tgh.2019.12.06]
- Cellier C, Perrod G, Colas C, Dhooge M, Saurin JC, Lecomte T, Coron E, Rahmi G, Savale C, Chaussade S, Bellanger J, Dray X, Benech N, 25 Le Rhun M, Barbieux JP, Pereira H, Chatellier G, Samaha E. Back-to-Back Comparison of Colonoscopy With Virtual Chromoendoscopy Using a Third-Generation Narrow-Band Imaging System to Chromoendoscopy With Indigo Carmine in Patients With Lynch Syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol 2019; 114: 1665-1670 [PMID: 31498154 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000386]
- Lobo TF, Torloni MR, Mattar R, Nakamura MU, Alexandre SM, Daher S. Adipokine levels in overweight women with early-onset gestational 26 diabetes mellitus. J Endocrinol Invest 2019; 42: 149-156 [PMID: 29696612 DOI: 10.1007/s40618-018-0894-0]



E WU

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 December 16; 15(12): 699-704

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.699

Retrospective Study

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Evaluation of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms by curved lineararray echoendoscope: A preliminary study

Jing-Chao Zhang, Yang-Yang Ma, Yong-Zhen Lan, Shuang-Biao Li, Xiao Wang, Jin-Long Hu

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Garcia-Ibanez P, Spain

Received: November 10, 2023 Peer-review started: November 10, 2023

First decision: November 21, 2023 Revised: November 25, 2023 Accepted: December 6, 2023 Article in press: December 6, 2023 Published online: December 16, 2023



Jing-Chao Zhang, Yong-Zhen Lan, Xiao Wang, Endoscopy Center, Hebei Cangzhou Hospital of Integrated Traditional Chinese Medicine and Western Medicine, Cangzhou 061000, Hebei Province, China

Yang-Yang Ma, Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Hebei Cangzhou Hospital of Integrated Traditional Chinese Medicine and Western Medicine, Cangzhou 061000, Hebei Province, China

Shuang-Biao Li, Department of Pathology, Hebei Cangzhou Hospital of Integrated Traditional Chinese Medicine and Western Medicine, Cangzhou 061000, Hebei Province, China

Jin-Long Hu, Department of Gastroenterology, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang 110001, Liaoning Province, China

Corresponding author: Jin-Long Hu, PhD, Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, No. 36 Sanhao Street, Shenyang 110001, Liaoning Province, China. 360484590@qq.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Preoperative diagnosis of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms is challenging, and there are few reports regarding the endosonographic characteristics of these neoplasms.

AIM

To provide a retrospective assessment of the imaging features of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms using endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) by curved linear-array echoendoscope.

METHODS

A database of all patients with appendiceal mucinous neoplasms who had received EUS examination at our hospital between January 2018 and July 2023 was retrospectively analyzed. The EUS characteristics and patients' clinical data were reviewed.

RESULTS

Twenty-two patients were included in the study. The linear-array echoendoscope successfully reached the ileocecal region in every patient. In the endoscopic view,



we could observe the protrusion in the appendiceal orifice in all patients. A volcano sign was observed in two patients, and an atypical volcano sign was seen in two patients. EUS showed that all 22 lesions were submucosal cystic hypoechoic lesions with clear boundaries. No wall nodules were observed, but an onion-peeling sign was observed in 17 cases.

CONCLUSION

Linear-array echoendoscope is safe to reach the ileocecal region under the guidance of EUS. Image features on endoscopic and echoendosonograhic views could be used to diagnose appendiceal mucinous neoplasms.

Key Words: Appendiceal mucinous neoplasm; Endoscopic ultrasound; Appendix; Endoscopy; Colonoscopy

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Appendiceal mucocele is a relatively rare disease. The preoperatively accurate diagnosis is crucial to the treatment strategy. Endoscopy has played an important role in the diagnosis of appendiceal mucocele. Image features on endoscopic and echoendosonograhic views could be used to diagnose appendiceal mucinous neoplasms.

Citation: Zhang JC, Ma YY, Lan YZ, Li SB, Wang X, Hu JL. Evaluation of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms by curved linear-array echoendoscope: A preliminary study. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023; 15(12): 699-704 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i12/699.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.699

INTRODUCTION

Appendiceal mucocele is a relatively rare disease. Based on the pathological type, appendiceal mucocele can be classified as mucosal hyperplasia, mucinous cystadenoma, or mucinous cystadenocarcinoma. Even though appendiceal mucocele, expect mucinous cystadenocarcinoma, does not typically show definitive malignant features, it can rupture and lead to the development of pseudomyxoma peritonei, a life-threatening complication with a 10-year survival rate of 45%[1]. Therefore, an accurate diagnosis is crucial to the treatment strategy. However, patients with appendiceal mucocele do not have specific clinical manifestations, delaying diagnosis[2,3]. The patient may have no symptoms or show acute appendicitis-like presentation in the early stages of the disease with right lower quadrant pain secondary to distention of the appendix by mucin[4]. Since the development of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)[5], endoscopy has played an important role in the diagnosis of appendiceal mucocele. To date, only a few studies have demonstrated the EUS characteristics of appendiceal mucocele using miniprobe catheter EUS. Moreover, miniprobe EUS exhibited limited depth of penetration. In this work, we evaluated the EUS characteristics of appendiceal mucocele by curved linear-array echoendoscope to assess the accurate diagnosis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients with a pathological diagnosis of appendiceal mucocele who had received EUS examination by linear echoendoscope from January 2018 to July 2023 were reviewed. The patients' general characteristics, EUS results, and surgery method were recorded. This study was approved by the institutional review board of Hebei Cangzhou Hospital of Integrated Traditional Chinese Medicine and Western Medicine.

Intubation of the linear echoendoscope

All cases were performed after a standard bowel preparation, using either a linear echoendoscope (3870UTK, Pentax company, Japan) or linear echoendoscope (EG-580UT, Fujifilm company, Japan). We inserted the linear echoendoscope with the guidance of endoscopic and ultrasound views. During the insertion of the endoscope, if the angle of the colon was too large to display the endoscopic view, we used ultrasound to scan the direction of the proximal colon to assist in inserting the endoscope (Figure 1). Closed intestinal cavities are often difficult to distinguish on ultrasound images. The direction of the intestinal cavity can be easier to identify by injecting water into the cavity.

RESULTS

This study included 22 patients that were diagnosed with appendiceal mucocele and received EUS examination. Among them, there were 9 male and 13 female patients, aged 26-80 years. The average age was 60.9 ± 12.6 years. Clinical symptoms included discomfort in the right lower abdomen in 6 cases, appendicitis in 10 cases, and physical examination





DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.699 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Using ultrasound to scan the direction of the proximal colon to assist in inserting the endoscope. A: The direction of the proximal colon is at an acute angle; B: The direction of the proximal colon is almost at a right angle; C: The direction of the proximal colon is almost at an obtuse angle.

in 6 cases.

The echoendoscope successfully reached the ileocecal region in all 22 patients. In the endoscopic view, we could observe the protrusion in the appendiceal orifice. The surface of the protrusion was smooth, and no secretion was observed in 20 cases, of which the appendiceal orifice was compressed to one side of the lesion in 18 cases and the appendiceal orifice was located on the surface of the lesion in 2 cases (volcano sign). The appendiceal orifice was located on the surface of the lesion with white secretion in 2 cases (atypical volcano sign) (Figure 2). EUS showed that all 22 lesions were submucosal cystic hypoechoic lesions with clear boundaries and no wall nodules were observed. The size of the lesions ranged from 1.1 cm to 5.7 cm, with the average size being 3.1 ± 1.1 cm. Onion-peeling sign, which was defined as intermittent hyperechoic lines in the hypoechoic lesion, could be observed in 17 cases (Figure 3). Overall, 16 cases underwent appendectomy, 4 cases received ileocecal resection, and 2 cases underwent right hemicolectomy. The surgical process was smooth and there were no complications. Postoperative pathology confirmed 20 cases of appendiceal mucinous adenoma and 2 cases of mucinous adenocarcinoma.

DISCUSSION

Appendiceal mucocele, caused by dilation of the lumen because of an accumulation of mucus, is a relatively uncommon disease. Appendiceal mucinous cystadenoma can secrete mucin and present in a malignant fashion, resulting in the development of life-threatening pseudomyxoma peritonei. However, it is difficult to make the diagnosis of appendiceal mucocele. The presentation of appendiceal mucocele is quite variable, and the clinical symptoms are vague and nonspecific. For asymptomatic patients, appendiceal mucocele may be incidentally detected on imaging examination or during a colonoscopy. For symptomatic patients, appendiceal mucocele has an overlap of symptoms with acute appendicitis, frequently leading to a preoperative misdiagnosis. Therefore, sufficient preoperative examinations are necessary to make an accurate diagnosis. For multiphase computed tomography images, appendiceal mucocele should be considered when a focal well-defined cystic mass with slightly higher water attenuation, thickened cystic wall with ring mural enhancement, and a characteristic progressive contrast enhancement in imaging, especially in older females with non-specific symptoms that are similar to appendicitis[6].

During colonoscopy, the classical appearance of appendiceal mucocele is a "volcano sign", with the appendiceal orifice seen at the center of the mound [7,8]. Colonoscopic biopsy is not recommended because the overlying mucosa is not involved, and biopsy carries the potential risk of rupturing the appendiceal mucocele. The author described an atypical "volcano sign" with mucus spewing out of the appendicular orifice and the final diagnosis was appendiceal mucinous adenocarcinoma[9]. Our study also found two mucinous adenocarcinomas that presented as an atypical "volcano sign", which may be caused when the tumor ruptured into the lumen of the colon, releasing mucus. Overall, an atypical "volcano sign" might be the sign of mucinous adenocarcinoma.

EUS can be useful in confirming the nature of the lesion, thereby ruling out solid lesions such as carcinoid, lipoma, or gastrointestinal stromal tumor^[10,11]. Due to the maneuverability of the linear array echoendoscope, it was widely used to evaluate lesions in left colon and rectum[12,13]. Using a linear array echoendoscope to evaluate the proximal colon has been reported in only a few studies. For more proximal areas of the colon, forward-viewing echocolonoscopes and through-the-scope miniprobe catheter ultrasound were typically used, but these methods have limitations. In this study, we used a linear array echoendoscope to evaluate the appendiceal lesions. Advancement of a conventional curved linear echoendoscope beyond the sigmoid colon usually requires previous placement of an overtube or a guidewire[14]. In this study, we inserted the linear echoendoscope just with the guidance of endoscopic and ultrasound views. If the intestinal lumen could not be seen under endoscopic view, we injected water into the intestinal lumen to help identify the direction of the intestinal lumen using ultrasound view. We passed through the sigmoid and descending colon without loop and maintained a good freedom of scope. If the scope is difficult to pass, we could use a guidewire method. Appendiceal mucocele is a hypoechoic lesion with clear boundaries and is without mural nodes. In addition, we found that the "onionpeeling sign" could be seen in most cases, which may be due to the different timing of mucus secretion. The "onion-



Zaishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

Zhang JC et al. Evaluation of appendiceal mucinous neoplasm by EUS



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.699 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Endoscopic view of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. A: A volcano sign that the appendiceal orifice was located on the surface of the protrusion is shown; B: An atypical volcano sign that the appendiceal orifice was located on the surface of the protrusion with white secretion is shown.



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.699 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 An onion-peeling sign with intermittent hyperechoic lines was seen in the hypoechoic lesion.

peeling sign" could help us to make a differential diagnosis. For unclear lesions, EUS-fine-needle aspiration (FNA) could be performed to confirm the diagnosis[15-17]. However, if appendiceal mucocele is suspected, EUS-FNA is forbidden to avoid the formation of pseudomyxoma peritonei.

Surgery is a standard method for the treatment of appendiceal mucocele. A simple appendectomy could be performed for mucosal hyperplasia and mucinous cystadenoma. In addition, a right hemicolectomy with lymph node dissection is indicated for cystadenocarcinoma. After surgery, patients should be offered follow-up to exclude the subsequent development of pseudomyxoma peritonei[18]. The risk of pseudomyxoma peritonei is related to the pathological finding and is higher if acellular mucin is found beyond the appendiceal serosa[19].

There are limitations in our study. The study was a retrospective study and only a small cohort of patients were included. All the procedures were performed by experienced doctor. For difficult colonoscopy, the safety of intubation of linear echoendoscope into cecum should be further studied.

CONCLUSION

Endoscopy plays an important role in the diagnosis of appendiceal mucocele. We can safely evaluate the lesion in the ileocecal region by using a linear-array echoendoscope. A volcano sign on endoscopic view and EUS features could be used to diagnose appendiceal mucinous neoplasms.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Appendiceal mucinous neoplasms can present in a malignant fashion, but preoperative diagnosis of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms is difficult. Endoscopy plays an important role in the diagnosis of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. There are limited reports regarding the endosonographic characteristics of these neoplasms.

Research motivation

We evaluated the imaging features of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms using endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) by curved linear-array echoendoscope.

Research objectives

To describe image features on endoscopic and echoendosonograhic views of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms.

Research methods

The EUS characteristics and patients' clinical data were reviewed.

Research results

The appendiceal orifice located on the surface of the lesion in 2 cases (volcano sign) and the appendiceal orifice located on the surface of the lesion with white secretion in 2 cases (atypical volcano sign) were seen. EUS showed that the lesions were submucosal cystic hypoechoic lesions with clear boundaries and no wall nodules were observed. Onion-peeling sign, which was defined as intermittent hyperechoic lines in the hypoechoic lesion, could be observed in part of cases.

Research conclusions

This study demonstrated that we can safely evaluate the lesion in the ileocecal region by using a linear-array echoendoscope. A volcano sign on endoscopic view and EUS features could be used to diagnose appendiceal mucinous neoplasms.

Research perspectives

In the future, for difficult colonoscopy, the safety of intubation of linear echoendoscope into cecum should be studied.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Hu JL, Zhang JC, Ma YY, and Lan YZ designed and performed the research study; Hu JL, Li SB, and Wang X analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; and all authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Supported by Hebei Medical Science Research Project, No. 20191279.

Institutional review board statement: This study was approved by the institutional review board of Hebei Cangzhou Hospital of Integrated Traditional Chinese Medicine and Western Medicine.

Informed consent statement: The study was a retrospective study and patients were not required to give informed consent to the study because the identified patient data was used from hospital database.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: Technical appendix, statistical code, and dataset available from the corresponding author at hujl@sj-hospital.org.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jin-Long Hu 0000-0002-9662-4621.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- 1 Nishikawa G, Sekine S, Ogawa R, Matsubara A, Mori T, Taniguchi H, Kushima R, Hiraoka N, Tsuta K, Tsuda H, Kanai Y. Frequent GNAS mutations in low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Br J Cancer 2013; 108: 951-958 [PMID: 23403822 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2013.47]
- Sugarbaker PH. New standard of care for appendiceal epithelial neoplasms and pseudomyxoma peritonei syndrome? Lancet Oncol 2006; 7: 2 69-76 [PMID: 16389186 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(05)70539-8]
- Ito H, Osteen RT, Bleday R, Zinner MJ, Ashley SW, Whang EE. Appendiceal adenocarcinoma: long-term outcomes after surgical therapy. Dis 3 Colon Rectum 2004; 47: 474-480 [PMID: 14978617 DOI: 10.1007/s10350-003-0077-7]
- 4 Bradley RF, Stewart JH 4th, Russell GB, Levine EA, Geisinger KR. Pseudomyxoma peritonei of appendiceal origin: a clinicopathologic



analysis of 101 patients uniformly treated at a single institution, with literature review. Am J Surg Pathol 2006; 30: 551-559 [PMID: 16699309 DOI: 10.1097/01.pas.0000202039.74837.7d]

- Tabacelia D, Martiniuc A, Burtea DE, Saftoiu A, Stroescu C. Hot topics in therapeutic EUS. Endosc Ultrasound 2022; 11: 153-155 [PMID: 5 35708368 DOI: 10.4103/EUS-D-22-00080]
- 6 Yu XR, Mao J, Tang W, Meng XY, Tian Y, Du ZL. Low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms confined to the appendix: clinical manifestations and CT findings. J Investig Med 2020; 68: 75-81 [PMID: 31300469 DOI: 10.1136/jim-2018-000975]
- Shiihara M, Ohki T, Yamamoto M. Preoperative Diagnosis and Surgical Approach of Appendiceal Mucinous Cystadenoma: Usefulness of 7 Volcano Sign. Case Rep Gastroenterol 2017; 11: 539-544 [PMID: 29033775 DOI: 10.1159/000480374]
- Zanati SA, Martin JA, Baker JP, Streutker CJ, Marcon NE. Colonoscopic diagnosis of mucocele of the appendix. Gastrointest Endosc 2005; 8 62: 452-456 [PMID: 16111974 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2005.04.018]
- Vashistha N, Deo A, Singhal D. Gastrointestinal: Mucocele appendix with atypical "volcano sign". J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 37: 45 9 [PMID: 34053128 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15541]
- 10 Uradomo LT, Darwin PE. Evaluation of subepithelial abnormalities of the appendix by endoscopic ultrasound. Diagn Ther Endosc 2009; 2009: 295379 [PMID: 19920863 DOI: 10.1155/2009/295379]
- 11 Cortellini F, Carrara S, Fusaroli P. EUS-guided fine-needle biopsy for gastric submucosal tumors: Does one size fit all? Endosc Ultrasound 2022; 11: 151-152 [PMID: 34755708 DOI: 10.4103/EUS-D-21-00095]
- Bhutani MS, Nadella P. Utility of an upper echoendoscope for endoscopic ultrasonography of malignant and benign conditions of the sigmoid/ 12 left colon and the rectum. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 3318-3322 [PMID: 11774943 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.05332.x]
- Kongkam P, Linlawan S, Aniwan S, Lakananurak N, Khemnark S, Sahakitrungruang C, Pattanaarun J, Khomvilai S, Wisedopas N, Ridtitid 13 W, Bhutani MS, Kullavanijaya P, Rerknimitr R. Forward-viewing radial-array echoendoscope for staging of colon cancer beyond the rectum. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 2681-2687 [PMID: 24627604 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i10.2681]
- Sasaki Y, Niwa Y, Hirooka Y, Ohmiya N, Itoh A, Ando N, Miyahara R, Furuta S, Goto H. The use of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-14 needle aspiration for investigation of submucosal and extrinsic masses of the colon and rectum. Endoscopy 2005; 37: 154-160 [PMID: 15692931 DOI: 10.1055/s-2004-826152]
- Ragab K, Elmeligui AM, Atalla H, Okasha HH. An unexpected complication during EUS-FNA. Endosc Ultrasound 2022; 11: 145-146 15 [PMID: 34494583 DOI: 10.4103/EUS-D-21-00017]
- Facciorusso A, Gkolfakis P, Tziatzios G, Ramai D, Papanikolaou IS, Triantafyllou K, Lisotti A, Fusaroli P, Mangiavillano B, Chandan S, 16 Mohan BP, Crinò SF. Comparison between EUS-guided fine-needle biopsy with or without rapid on-site evaluation for tissue sampling of solid pancreatic lesions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Endosc Ultrasound 2022; 11: 458-465 [PMID: 36537383 DOI: 10.4103/EUS-D-22-00026]
- 17 Feng L, Guo J, Wang S, Liu X, Ge N, Wang G, Sun S. Endoscopic Transmural Drainage and Necrosectomy in Acute Necrotizing Pancreatitis: A Review. J Transl Int Med 2021; 9: 168-176 [PMID: 34900627 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2021-0031]
- Honoré C, Caruso F, Dartigues P, Benhaim L, Chirica M, Goéré D, Elias D. Strategies for Preventing Pseudomyxoma Peritonei After 18 Resection of a Mucinous Neoplasm of the Appendix. Anticancer Res 2015; 35: 4943-4947 [PMID: 26254392]
- Yantiss RK, Shia J, Klimstra DS, Hahn HP, Odze RD, Misdraji J. Prognostic significance of localized extra-appendiceal mucin deposition in 19 appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol 2009; 33: 248-255 [PMID: 18852679 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e31817ec31e]



F W U

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 December 16; 15(12): 705-714

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.705

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Observational Study Effect of a disposable endoscope precleaning kit in the cleaning procedure of gastrointestinal endoscope: A multi-center observational study

Yi-Fan Wang, Yu Wu, Xiao-Wei Liu, Jian-Guo Li, Yan-Qiong Zhan, Bin Liu, Wen-Ling Fan, Zi-Heng Peng, Jin-Tao Xiao, Bing-Bing Li, Jian He, Jun Yi, Zhao-Xia Lu

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Serban ED, Romania

Received: August 10, 2023 Peer-review started: August 10, 2023 First decision: October 9, 2023 Revised: October 20, 2023 Accepted: November 8, 2023 Article in press: November 8, 2023 Published online: December 16, 2023



Yi-Fan Wang, Yu Wu, Xiao-Wei Liu, Zi-Heng Peng, Jin-Tao Xiao, Bing-Bing Li, Jian He, Jun Yi, Zhao-Xia Lu, Department of Gastroenterology, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha 410008, Hunan Province, China

Yu Wu, Xiao-Wei Liu, Department of Gastroenterology, Hunan International Scientific and Technological Cooperation Base of Artificial Intelligence Computer Aided Diagnosis and Treatment for Digestive Disease, Changsha 410008, Hunan Province, China

Xiao-Wei Liu, Department of Gastroenterology, National Research Center of Geriatric Diseases, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha 410008, Hunan Province, China

Jian-Guo Li, Department of Gastroenterology, The Fourth Hospital of Changsha, Changsha 410006, Hunan Province, China

Yan-Qiong Zhan, Department of Gastroenterology, Zhuzhou Hospital Affiliated to Xiangya School of Medicine, Central South University, Zhuzhou 412007, Hunan Province, China

Bin Liu, Department of Gastroenterology, Xiangtan Central Hospital, Xiangtan 411100, Hunan Province, China

Wen-Ling Fan, Department of Gastroenterology, The First Hospital of Changsha, Changsha 410005, Hunan Province, China

Corresponding author: Yu Wu, RN, Nurse, Department of Gastroenterology, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, No. 87 Xiangya Road, Changsha 410008, Hunan Province, China. wy22xy@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Precleaning is a key step in endoscopic reprocessing.

AIM

To develop an effective and economic endoscope cleaning method by using a disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit.

METHODS



Altogether, 228 used gastrointestinal endoscopes were selected from five high-volume endoscopy units and precleaned by a traditional precleaning bucket (group T) or a disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit (group D). Each group was further subdivided based on the replacement frequency of the cleaning solution, which was replaced every time in subgroups T1 and D1 and every several times in subgroups Ts and Ds. The adenosine triphosphate (ATP) level and residual proteins were measured three times: Before and after precleaning and after manual cleaning.

RESULTS

After precleaning, the precleaning kit significantly reduced the ATP levels (P = 0.034) and has a more stable ATP clearance rate than the traditional precleaning bucket. The precleaning kit also saved a quarter of the cost of enzymatic detergent used during the precleaning process. After manual cleaning, the ATP levels were also significantly lower in the precleaning kit group than in the traditional precleaning bucket group (P < 0.05). Meanwhile, the number of uses of the cleaning solution (up to four times) has no significant impact on the cleaning effect (P > 0.05).

CONCLUSION

Considering its economic cost and cleaning effect, the use of a disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit can be an optimal option in the precleaning stage with the cleaning solution being replaced several times in the manual cleaning stage.

Key Words: Cleaning effect; Economic cost; Endoscope; Multi-center study; Precleaning

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Precleaning is a key step in endoscopic reprocessing, but related studies on the matter are few. In the present study, we evaluated the role of a self-developed disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit for endoscopic cleaning. We compared the cleaning effects between the disposable precleaning kit and traditional precleaning buckets in five endoscopy units and found that the precleaning kit has advantages in the precleaning stage. Its better precleaning effect can improve the effectiveness of the subsequent reprocessing procedures. Meanwhile, the cleaning solution used in the precleaning and manual cleaning stages was reduced, suggesting a significant cost advantage in the clinical practice.

Citation: Wang YF, Wu Y, Liu XW, Li JG, Zhan YQ, Liu B, Fan WL, Peng ZH, Xiao JT, Li BB, He J, Yi J, Lu ZX. Effect of a disposable endoscope precleaning kit in the cleaning procedure of gastrointestinal endoscope: A multi-center observational study. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023; 15(12): 705-714

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i12/705.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.705

INTRODUCTION

With the development of gastrointestinal endoscopic techniques, endoscopy has become an essential part in the diagnosis and management of gastrointestinal diseases[1,2]. Endoscopes are reusable devices that require reprocessing (cleaning, high-level disinfection or sterilization, and drying) to be safely used in other patients[3]. As complex reusable instruments with narrowed lumens, gastrointestinal endoscopes are easily contaminated by blood, secretions, and microorganisms during its use[4]. Besides, heat-sensitive materials are used in these devices; hence, gastrointestinal endoscopes must be sterilized by low-temperature chemical methods, such as liquid chemical germicide, rather than by steam sterilization, thus necessitating higher requirements for more standard cleaning and disinfection procedures[5]. There may be a high risk of iatrogenic cross infection if the endoscope is not thoroughly cleaned and disinfected. In 1993, Spach et al[6] summarized the most common infectious agents transmitted by endoscopy. Many studies have reported a gradual increase in the outbreaks of endoscopy-related infections. Epstein et al[7] reported a carbapenem-resistant Escherichia coli infection in a hospital in the United States caused by exposure to duodenoscopes with bacterial contamination. Naas et al [8] also described a multihospital outbreak of carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae associated with a contaminated duodenoscope. Moreover, Bajolet et al[9] studied a gastroscope-associated outbreak in four patients with an extended spectrum β -lactamase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (*P. aeruginosa*). Additionally, Birnie *et al*[10] documented a case of hepatitis B virus transmission via gastrointestinal endoscopy. Although there is currently no evidence of transmission of the variant Creutzfeldt - Jakob disease infectivity by endoscopy (or any other medical or surgical device), laboratory tests have indicated that the standard disinfection and sterilization procedures may be insufficient to completely remove infectious proteins from contaminated instruments^[11]. In view of the aforementioned cases, improper or incorrect reprocessing may be responsible for the outbreak of these endoscopy-related infections. Concurrently, in recent years, concerns have been raised that many of these infectious risks to patients may be underestimated due to under-reporting or nonrecognition. Therefore, an improvement in endoscope cleaning and disinfection



procedures is critical to prevent infection outbreaks in the future.

After an endoscopic procedure, transferring the contaminated endoscopes to the cleaning and disinfection center is time consuming. The remaining body fluids, blood, or debris on the outer surface and lumen of the contaminated endoscopes are prone to dry and solidify, which make it easier for bacteria to form biofilms in the endoscopic channel. Biofilms comprise multiple layers of bacterial or fungal cell clusters, embedded in an amorphous extracellular material composed of exopolysaccharide-derived bacteria[12]. In clinical practice, biofilm formation may be associated with incomplete manual cleaning and drying[13]. Biofilm formation protects microorganisms from biocides and disinfectants, which may result in the failure of cleaning and disinfection procedures [10]. Precleaning is the first step in preventing the development of biofilms within endoscopes, highlighting the importance of diligent and consistent precleaning, first, in reprocessing[14]. Proper precleaning (wiping and rinsing with air and water) immediately after use is necessary to prevent drying and curing of residual organic matters in the endoscope[3]. The current precleaning procedure worldwide is conducted in accordance with the national endoscope cleaning and disinfection guidelines. The multi-society guideline for reprocessing flexible gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopes and accessories (2020) stipulated that endoscopes should be precleaned at the bedside by aspirating the detergent solution through all channels (including the air/water and biopsy channels) after use[14], but they have not specified the replacement frequency and holding device of the detergent solution. The manufacturer's instructions for detergent solution only include requirements for the concentration, temperature, and effective time. Moreover, studies that explored the precleaning methods are few, suggesting the necessity for investigating the current situation of the precleaning practice and conducting relevant clinical research. According to the summarized data of the 2020 China Digestive Endoscopy Census in Hunan Province by our hospital, most hospitals only use a precleaning bucket with an effective concentration of detergent solution to save clinical costs, which is continuously used for the precleaning of all endoscopes in a clinic. In an endoscopy center in the United States, a P. aeruginosa infection after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography occurred due to the contamination of storage tanks of enzymatic solutions used in precleaning, and the outbreak was terminated after removing the refillable enzymatic bottles and replacing them with single-case enzymatic packs[15]. All these cases suggest that this phenomenon is common worldwide and may lead to the development an infection. Therefore, there is a reason to believe that the traditional precleaning buckets may increase the risk of cross contamination and microbial residues. Accordingly, our research group previously designed a disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit and attained the practical new patent (patent No.: ZL201920911448.7). In our previous small-scale single-center clinical study, this patented kit can improve the precleaning and manual cleaning effects [16]. To further explore the role of this precleaning kit in improving endoscopic cleaning, we designed a multi-center study to further confirm its clinical effectiveness, safety and economic benefits.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and ethics

Altogether, 228 used gastroscopes and colonoscopes (Olympus, GIF-HQ290|GIF-XQ260, CF-HQ290I|CF-H260AI, Fukushima, Japan) were selected from five high-volume endoscopy units in Hunan Province, including Xiangya Hospital, the First Hospital of Changsha, the Fourth Hospital of Changsha, Xiangtan Central Hospital, and Zhuzhou Central Hospital. All units have > 200 daily patient volumes. The present investigation was an open study, with pseudorandomization. In the pseudo-randomization procedure, the endoscopes were grouped according to the collection order. The first half of endoscopes tested at each unit comprised the group T, whereas the second half formed group D, with 114 pieces in each group. Repeated testing in an endoscope might result in an inaccurate representation, as the previous test could potentially remove or wipe away any bioburden. Therefore, 54 samples in each group were only tested by adenosine triphosphate (ATP) bioluminescence assay, and the remaining 60 samples were only subject to residual protein testing. In the precleaning stage, traditional precleaning buckets were used in group T, and the disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit was used in group D. Altogether, three tests were performed on each endoscope. After the endoscopy procedure, the ATP assay or residual protein test was performed, first, before the precleaning procedure. The second test was performed after completing the precleaning process. Then, the endoscopes were subject to manual cleaning. In this stage, each group was randomly divided into two subgroups based on the replacement frequency of the cleaning solution, namely groups Ts, T1, Ds, and D1. Among them, the cleaning solution in groups Ts and Ds were replaced several times, including every two times, every three times, and every four times, specifically named T2, T3, and T4, respectively, and D2, D3, and D4, respectively, whereas groups T1 and D1 were replaced every time. The third test was conducted after manual cleaning. The specific flow chart is shown in Figure 1. The present study was reviewed and approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Xiangya Hospital of Central South University and the committee considered that this research did not require ethical approval related to the use of a human body.

Precleaning and manual cleaning

All technical staff working in the five endoscopy units had undergone cleaning and reprocessing competency technical training of endoscopes in the Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Center of Xiangya Hospital, a unit of Hunan Provincial Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Medical Quality Control Center, and obtained the qualification certificate. The detergent solution used for precleaning and manual cleaning were high-concentration enzyme cleaning agents (CL-MA, 210611, Sakura, Tokyo, Japan) with a dilution concentration of 1:1000. After using the endoscope, the exterior of the endoscopes was immediately wiped with a detergent solution. In group T, the detergent was aspirated from the traditional precleaning bucket through biopsy channels until the aspirant became clear, whereas, in group D, the clean water was aspirated until the aspirant became clear; then, 100 mL of the detergent was aspirated from the disposable endoscope



Wang YF et al. Study on endoscopic precleaning methods



Figure 1 Experimental flow chart. ATP: Adenosine triphosphate; HLD: High-level disinfection.

bedside precleaning kit. The precleaning process of the five units was performed by the same staff, and the equipment used was also consistent. The manual cleaning process was in strict conformity with the Regulation for Cleaning and Disinfection Technique of Flexible Endoscope (WS507-2016)[17].

ATP test

Following an endoscopic procedure, 40 mL of sterile phosphate buffered saline (BL302A, Biosharp, Beijing, China) was flushed through the endoscopic working channel and collected at the endoscope's distal end in a sterile specimen container. The Hygiena AquaSnap[™] Total ATP water test swab (AQ-100X, 16022, Hygiena, Camarillo, United States) was dipped into the sample for sampling and then placed into the ATP luminometer (BT-112D, Beijing Chuang Xin Shi Ji Biochemical Science & Technology Development Co., Ltd., Beijing, China) for measurement. The ATP levels are expressed in relative light units (RLU). The manufacturer specifies a cleaning failure at the threshold of the RLU of \geq 20000.

Residual protein test

The residual protein test kit (NICE CHECK, Clean Chemical Co., Ltd., Osaka, Japan) contains the following three components: Staining, cleaning, and extraction solutions. By infusing 5 mL of staining solution into the endoscopic working channel, the dye was allowed to bind to any residual proteins in the channel. Next, the unbound excess dye was washed off with 5 mL of washing solution. Then, the sample of the dye bound to the residual protein was collected by infusion of 5 mL of the extraction solution. The residual protein was quantitated with bovine serum albumin as a standard.

Statistical analysis

All data are presented as mean ± SD, unless otherwise indicated. The Student's *t*-test was used to assess the statistical significance of the differences between the two groups. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was employed to analyze the significant differences among groups. Tukey's test was used for pairwise comparison. A P value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data were plotted and analyzed using Microsoft Excel and GraphPad Prism version 7.0

RESULTS

Test results at all stages for all endoscopes

Both precleaning and manual cleaning can significantly reduce the ATP levels and residual proteins in the endoscopic



channels. Before precleaning, the ATP level of the gastroscopes after use was significantly higher than that of the colonoscopes (P < 0.001). However, there was no significant difference in the residual protein (P > 0.05) between the gastroscopes and colonoscopes, despite the discovery of a relatively higher level in the colonoscopes. Nevertheless, the difference between the gastroscopes and colonoscopes disappeared after manual cleaning (P > 0.05). See the details in Table 1. To avoid any result error caused by this difference before manual cleaning, two subgroups of T and D groups were established separately for both the gastroscopes and colonoscopes.

Less amount of enzymatic detergent used with the precleaning kit in the precleaning stage

In addition to the normal experimental procedure, we did a small experiment to measure the amount of enzymatic detergent when using the traditional pretreatment bucket. Eighty endoscopes were divided into eight groups, with each group precleaned in the same traditional pretreatment bucket. Finally, the total amount of enzymatic detergent used in each group was measured, as shown in Supplementary Table 1. The average amount of enzymatic detergent used for one endoscope was approximately 136 mL, although the disposable precleaning kit limited the amount of detergent used each time to 100 mL, which greatly reduced the amount of enzymatic detergent used in precleaning stage.

Better precleaning effect of the precleaning kit based on the ATP result

In the post-use stage, the mean levels of ATP and residual proteins were not significantly different between groups T and D (both P > 0.05). After precleaning, the mean ATP level was lower in group D than in group T (P = 0.034). However, no significant difference was observed in the mean residual protein between the two groups (P > 0.05). See the details in Table 2. Moreover, by comparing the relationship between the precleaning sequence and ATP clearance rate, which was defined as the ATP difference value before and after precleaning/ATP value before precleaning × 100%, it was found that with the increase in the frequency of use, especially from the ninth use, the ATP clearance rate of the traditional bucket gradually decreased, whereas that of the disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit was relatively stable (Figure 2).

Influence of different precleaning methods and cleaning solution replacement frequency on the manual cleaning effect

The ATP levels after manual cleaning were analyzed by pairwise comparison. Significant differences in the ATP levels were observed between groups Ts and Ds (q = 4.585, P = 0.0085), groups Ts and D1 (q = 5.104, P = 0.0026), groups T1 and Ds (q = 4.232, P = 0.0179), and groups T1 and D1 (q = 4.756, P = 0.0059) (Figure 3A). In other words, the mean ATP level after treatment using the traditional precleaning bucket was higher than that of the disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit, although the difference between Ts and T1 or between Ds and D1 was not statistically significant (both P > 0.05). Additionally, in groups Ts and Ds, there was no significant difference in the ATP levels when the cleaning solution was replaced every two times, every three times, and every four times (all P > 0.05; Figure 3B).

Regarding the residual proteins after manual cleaning, there were no significant differences between any two groups (P > 0.05; Figure 3C). Moreover, in groups Ts and Ds, no significant difference in residual proteins among the groups with cleaning solution replaced every two times, every three times, and every four times (all P > 0.05; Figure 3D). See the details in Table 3.

DISCUSSION

Strict and appropriate endoscopic cleaning procedures are crucial for preventing future infection outbreaks. The present study demonstrated that our patented disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit has obvious advantages over traditional precleaning buckets, in terms of better cleaning effect and cost advantage during precleaning procedure, and can enhance the effectiveness of subsequent reprocessing procedure.

In our study, the ATP levels were significantly lower after precleaning with the precleaning kit, and the precleaning effect of traditional precleaning buckets decreased due to the increase of pollutants and reduction of active ingredients with the increase in the frequency of use, whereas that of the disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit was relatively stable. The ATP test is an effective method for detecting the cleaning effect of endoscopes. ATP is present in microorganisms and human cells, and the RLU value of ATP via bioluminescence assay in endoscopic working channels can reflect the residual situation of ATP-containing microorganisms or patients' secretions[18,19]. In a previous systematic review investigating the correlation between ATP test and bacterial culture based on the summary of the data reported in published studies, researchers have pointed out that the ATP test can be a useful tool for evaluating the adequacy of manual cleaning, although current studies did not support it as a substitute for bacterial culture[20]. Another study found that gram-negative bacteria could be reliably eliminated by endoscopic cleaning under monitoring by using the ATP test [21]. Our study found that, before precleaning, the ATP level of the gastroscopes after use was significantly higher than that of colonoscopes, consistent with other studies[22,23], which was possibly related to the presence of other nonmicrobial sources of ATP in the upper gastrointestinal tract, such as oral secretions, gastric acid, and bile.

The residues of patient tissue proteins in the endoscopic working channel may be associated with bacterial, viral, or prion infection^[24]. Residual proteins provide favorable conditions for microbial colonization and biofilm formation^[12]. Therefore, monitoring the residual proteins after cleaning is greatly important. Although no significant effect on residual proteins was observed when using the two methods, a significant decrease was noted after precleaning than that before precleaning (107.58 \pm 61.40 vs 40.07 \pm 19.31, P < 0.0001), which may be attributed to the components of the multi-enzyme cleaning solution, including protease, enzyme stabilizer, and surfactant that have a strong cleaning effect on the residual protein. Besides, the amount of residual proteins in the used endoscopes was not high, with an unqualified rate of only 17.5% according to the manufacturer's instructions. Therefore, the two precleaning methods revealed no significant

Table 1 The test results at all stages for all endoscopes (mean ± SD)						
Test method	Endoscopes	Postuse	Postprecleaning	Postmanual cleaning		
ATP test (RLU)	Gastroscopes ($n = 60$)	5313645 ± 3919731	120035 ± 214287^{a}	1567 ± 1152 ^b		
	Colonoscopes ($n = 48$)	1235303 ± 1182027	31293 ± 78392^{a}	1450 ± 1945^{c}		
Residual protein test (µg)	Gastroscopes ($n = 88$)	102.39 ± 58.09	39.08 ± 19.60^{a}	$32.04 \pm 15.63^{\circ}$		
	Colonoscopes ($n = 32$)	121.87 ± 68.66	42.80 ± 18.53^{a}	$30.34 \pm 10.42^{\circ}$		

^a*P* < 0.0001 postuse *vs* postprecleaning.

 ${}^{\mathrm{b}}P$ < 0.0001 postprecleaning vs postmanual cleaning.

 $^{\rm c}P$ < 0.01 postprecleaning vs postmanual cleaning.

ATP: Adenosine triphosphate; RLU: Relative light unit.

Table 2 Comparison of the postuse and postprecleaning adenosine triphosphate and residual protein results (mean ± SD)

Toot method	Postuse		Postprecleaning		
Test method	Group T (<i>n</i> = 60) ¹	Group D (<i>n</i> = 54) ²	Group T (<i>n</i> = 60) ¹	Group D (<i>n</i> = 54) ²	
ATP test (RLU)	3536861 ± 3665062	3465218 ± 3643658	116120 ± 236664	45068 ± 44132^{a}	
Residual protein test (µg)	109.01 ± 60.30	106.16 ± 62.95	39.36 ± 17.70	40.78 ± 20.93	

 $^{a}P < 0.05$ group T vs D.

¹Of 30 samples for the adenosine triphosphate test and 30 samples for the residual protein test.

²Of 24 samples for the adenosine triphosphate test and 30 samples for the residual protein test.

ATP: Adenosine triphosphate; RLU: Relative light unit.

Table 3 The adenosine triphosphate and residual protein results after manual cleaning in the different groups (mean ± SD)					
Groups		Samples	ATP test (RLU)	Samples	Residual protein test (µg)
T1		24	2141 ± 1913	30	31.27 ± 12.81
Ts	T2	10	2362 ± 1981	10	31.44 ± 14.19
	T3	10	2340 ± 2017	10	29.28 ± 8.46
	T4	10	1795 ± 1406	10	33.67 ± 19.75
	Total	30	2166 ± 1779	30	31.46 ± 14.46
D1		24	756 ± 834	30	30.51 ± 17.95
Ds	D2	10	1083 ± 854	10	28.80 ± 10.64
	D3	10	913 ± 730	10	34.33 ± 12.96
	D4	10	918 ± 956	10	36.18 ± 13.28
	Total	30	971 ± 826	30	34.66 ± 15.50

ATP: Adenosine triphosphate; RLU: Relative light unit.

difference in the removal of residual proteins. It is interesting to note that another study also reached a similar conclusion; this study used a Coomassie protein assay reagent to measure the residual proteins of the used endoscopes and observed no significant change before and after cleaning[25].

Simultaneously, further comparison after manual cleaning revealed that the RLU values were higher when using traditional precleaning buckets than when using the patented precleaning kits. This result indicates that, in addition to its better precleaning effect, our patented precleaning kit also has a beneficial effect on the subsequent cleaning process, that is, a more effective precleaning will improve the effectiveness of the entire cleaning process.

Moreover, the precleaning kit has better economic benefits in terms of medical safety. When using the traditional precleaning bucket, the amount of enzymatic detergent was determined by whether the aspirant is clarified, which varied from 100 mL to 200 mL according to different operators, with an average of approximately 136 mL. The disposable precleaning kit limited the amount of detergent used each time to 100 mL, which reduced the amount of enzymatic



Figure 2 The relationship between the precleaning sequence and adenosine triphosphate clearance rate at different centers (a-e). A: The relationship between the precleaning sequence and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) clearance rate when using the traditional precleaning bucket; B: The relationship between the precleaning sequence and ATP clearance rate when using disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit. ATP: Adenosine triphosphate.



Figure 3 Comparison of the adenosine triphosphate and residual protein results after manual cleaning. A: The adenosine triphosphate (ATP) results after manual cleaning by using different precleaning methods; B: The ATP results after manual cleaning at different cleaning solution replacement frequencies; C: The residual protein results after manual cleaning by using different precleaning methods; D: The residual protein results after manual cleaning at different cleaning at different cleaning at different cleaning at different precleaning methods; D: The residual protein results after manual cleaning at different cleaning at different cleaning at different cleaning at different cleaning solution replacement frequency. ATP: Adenosine triphosphate; RLU: Relative light unit. ${}^{a}P < 0.05$, ${}^{b}P < 0.01$.

detergent used for each endoscope in the precleaning process by approximately a quarter. Additionally, during manual cleaning in our research, no statistical difference was found among groups at different cleaning solution replacement frequencies of several times or every time, and the cleaning solution could still achieve a similar cleaning effect as the first time even after its fourth use. The multi-society guideline for reprocessing flexible GI endoscopes and accessories (2020) requires that the detergent solution should be replaced after each use and when the solution exceeds the specified dilution concentration or temperature range[14]. However, it shows a low level of evidence, and there are no large-scale clinical trials to prove its necessity. Moreover, clinically, there is no additional charge for endoscope reprocessing in most areas in China. Due to the high cost and increased usage of enzymatic detergents, the cost of enzymatic detergents accounts 20% of the total cost of the reprocessing procedures (take our hospital as an example). Therefore, it will be of great significance if the cleaning solution can be used more than one time while ensuring the cleaning effect, which may greatly reduce the clinical cost. According to our results, the cleaning solution can be used up to four or more times in the manual cleaning stage, thereby greatly reducing the usage of the enzymatic detergents and saving costs. Considering medical safety, our study did not further evaluate the cleaning effect when the cleaning solution was used for more than four times, although the test results indicated that it may still qualify after five times of use in the pre experiment; our

data may be supplemented in our future research. Overall, the disposable precleaning kit can save a quarter of the cost of the enzymatic detergent during the precleaning process, whereas, in manual cleaning, it can save three-quarters of the cost of the cleaning solution, as it allows the cleaning solution to be used four times before being replaced.

The present study has still some shortcomings. The enzymatic detergents work within a certain temperature range, whereas warm water is used in the manual cleaning stage. The cleaning effect of the enzymatic detergent will be weakened since there is no constant temperature device during precleaning. Additionally, a recent study found that cough evoked during endoscopy is a major source of elevated aerosol levels. Therefore, endoscopy should be regarded as a procedure with a high risk of producing respiratory aerosols, especially in patients with the coronavirus disease 2019 or infected by other respiratory pathogens[26-29]. Our future research direction is to continue optimizing the design of the disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit, with the primary plan of equipping the device with a thermostat to maintain the temperature of the enzyme detergent, and adding a lid to prevent aerosol pollution. In the future, we will conduct experiments to detect viruses and prions to perfect our research. Moreover, we will continue to promote the application of precleaning kits nationwide to obtain more clinical data.

CONCLUSION

The disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit has advantages in the precleaning stage and can save cost in terms of the amount of detergent used in the precleaning stage. Moreover, its better and more stable precleaning effect can improve the effectiveness of the subsequent reprocessing procedures. Meanwhile, with this precleaning kit, the cleaning solution can be used up to four times without reducing the cleaning effect in the manual cleaning stage, suggesting a significant cost advantage in clinical practice.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Precleaning is a key step in endoscopic reprocessing. There are some non-standard operations in the endoscopic precleaning stage in clinical practice, which increases the risk of endoscopic related infections. Therefore, it is important to improve the endoscopic precleaning method.

Research motivation

The research aims to develop an effective and economic endoscope cleaning method to reduce endoscopic related infections and reduce clinical costs.

Research objectives

The research aims to verify the clinical effectiveness, safety and economic benefits of our designed disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit and it is expected to improve and supplement the endoscopic cleaning methods.

Research methods

Exploring the effectiveness of a disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit through multi-center and observational research, and the precleaning kit is a patented product.

Research results

The disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit can save cost in terms of the amount of detergent used in the precleaning stage and has better and more stable precleaning effect, which can improve the effectiveness of the subsequent reprocessing procedures. Meanwhile, the cleaning solution can be used up to four times without reducing the cleaning effect in the manual cleaning stage. The results provide a reference for the improvement of endoscopic precleaning methods. However, a larger sample size and more detection methods are still needed to verify this result.

Research conclusions

This study proposes a new endoscopic reprocessing method that uses a disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit for precleaning and reuses the cleaning solution during the manual cleaning, which can improve cleaning effectiveness and reduce clinical costs.

Research perspectives

The future research direction is to continue optimizing the design of the disposable endoscope bedside precleaning kit and conduct experiments to detect viruses and prions to perfect the research. Moreover, it is particularly important to promote the application of precleaning kits nationwide to obtain more clinical data.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the members of the Endoscopic Unit of 5 hospitals, Hunan International Scientific and Technological Cooperation Base of Artificial Intelligence Computer Aided Diagnosis and Treatment for Digestive Disease and National Research Center of Geriatric Diseases for their technical support.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wang YF, Wu Y, and Liu XW designed the study; Wang YF, Wu Y, Li JG, Zhan YQ, Liu B, Fan WL, Peng ZH, Xiao JT, Li BB, and He J performed the study and collected the data; Wang YF analyzed data and wrote the manuscript; Yi J, and Lu ZX revised the manuscript; Wu Y and Liu XW modified the manuscript critically; and all authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The Medical Ethics Committee of Xiangya Hospital of Central South University determined that this project did not require ethics approval by an Human Research Ethics Committee.

Informed consent statement: This project has applied for exemption from informed consent forms.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement-checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

2588-730X; Yan-Qiong Zhan 0009-0009-1493-9899; Bin Liu 0009-0005-7734-958X; Wen-Ling Fan 0000-0002-1841-8873; Zi-Heng Peng 0000-0002-8171-0252; Jin-Tao Xiao 0000-0002-4072-7816; Bing-Bing Li 0009-0002-9446-9768; Jian He 0009-0001-2723-3061; Jun Yi 0000-0002-8108-4925; Zhao-Xia Lu 0009-0008-2249-9670.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Hocke M, Burmeister S, Braden B, Jenssen C, Arcidiacono PG, Iglesias-Garcia J, Ignee A, Larghi A, Möller K, Rimbas M, Siyu S, Vanella G, 1 Dietrich CF. Controversies in EUS-guided treatment of walled-off necrosis. Endosc Ultrasound 2022; 11: 442-457 [PMID: 35313415 DOI: 10.4103/EUS-D-21-00189]
- Ohno A, Kaku T, Fujimori N. Balloon guidewire technique during EUS-guided hepaticogastrostomy. Endosc Ultrasound 2022; 11: 330-331 2 [PMID: 34755704 DOI: 10.4103/EUS-D-21-00067]
- Humphries RM, McDonnell G. Superbugs on Duodenoscopes: the Challenge of Cleaning and Disinfection of Reusable Devices. J Clin 3 Microbiol 2015; 53: 3118-3125 [PMID: 26202125 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.01394-15]
- Kovaleva J, Peters FT, van der Mei HC, Degener JE. Transmission of infection by flexible gastrointestinal endoscopy and bronchoscopy. Clin 4 Microbiol Rev 2013; 26: 231-254 [PMID: 23554415 DOI: 10.1128/CMR.00085-12]
- Chiu KW, Lu LS, Chiou SS. High-level disinfection of gastrointestinal endoscope reprocessing. World J Exp Med 2015; 5: 33-39 [PMID: 5 25699232 DOI: 10.5493/wjem.v5.i1.33]
- Spach DH, Silverstein FE, Stamm WE. Transmission of infection by gastrointestinal endoscopy and bronchoscopy. Ann Intern Med 1993; 118: 6 117-128 [PMID: 8416308 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-118-2-199301150-00008]
- 7 Epstein L, Hunter JC, Arwady MA, Tsai V, Stein L, Gribogiannis M, Frias M, Guh AY, Laufer AS, Black S, Pacilli M, Moulton-Meissner H, Rasheed JK, Avillan JJ, Kitchel B, Limbago BM, MacCannell D, Lonsway D, Noble-Wang J, Conway J, Conover C, Vernon M, Kallen AJ. New Delhi metallo-β-lactamase-producing carbapenem-resistant Escherichia coli associated with exposure to duodenoscopes. JAMA 2014; 312: 1447-1455 [PMID: 25291580 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2014.12720]
- Naas T, Cuzon G, Babics A, Fortineau N, Boytchev I, Gayral F, Nordmann P. Endoscopy-associated transmission of carbapenem-resistant 8 Klebsiella pneumoniae producing KPC-2 beta-lactamase. J Antimicrob Chemother 2010; 65: 1305-1306 [PMID: 20382724 DOI: 10.1093/jac/dkq117]
- Bajolet O, Ciocan D, Vallet C, de Champs C, Vernet-Garnier V, Guillard T, Brasme L, Thiefin G, Cadiot G, Bureau-Chalot F. Gastroscopy-9 associated transmission of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J Hosp Infect 2013; 83: 341-343 [PMID:


23337251 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2012.10.016]

- Birnie GG, Quigley EM, Clements GB, Follet EA, Watkinson G. Endoscopic transmission of hepatitis B virus. Gut 1983; 24: 171-174 [PMID: 10 6852628 DOI: 10.1136/gut.24.2.171]
- Gruszecka J, Filip R. Handling of endoscopic equipment after use in the case of a patient with suspected prion disease. Ann Agric Environ 11 Med 2020; 27: 319-325 [PMID: 32955209 DOI: 10.26444/aaem/111723]
- Pajkos A, Vickery K, Cossart Y. Is biofilm accumulation on endoscope tubing a contributor to the failure of cleaning and decontamination? J 12 Hosp Infect 2004; 58: 224-229 [PMID: 15501338 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2004.06.023]
- Ren-Pei W, Hui-Jun X, Ke Q, Dong W, Xing N, Zhao-Shen L. Correlation between the growth of bacterial biofilm in flexible endoscopes and 13 endoscope reprocessing methods. Am J Infect Control 2014; 42: 1203-1206 [PMID: 25444266 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2014.07.029]
- Day LW, Muthusamy VR, Collins J, Kushnir VM, Sawhney MS, Thosani NC, Wani S. Multisociety guideline on reprocessing flexible GI 14 endoscopes and accessories. Gastrointest Endosc 2021; 93: 11-33.e6 [PMID: 33353611 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.09.048]
- Reiner S. Investigation of a cluster of genomically identical Pseudomonas aeruginosa blood isolates following endoscopic retrograde 15 cholangio-pancreatography in a gastroenterology laboratory. Am J Infect Control 2008; 5: E198 [DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2008.04.232]
- Wang Y, Wu Y, Li Y, Yi J, Lu Z, Liu X. [Evaluation of the application effect of disposable endoscope bedside pretreatment kit in the cleaning 16 process of gastrointestinal endoscope: A single-center observational study]. Chin J Infect Control 2022; 21: 567-572 [DOI: 10.12138/j.issn.1671-9638.20222539]
- 17 Liu Y, Xing Y, Gong Y, Tian X, Li Z, Wang L, Zhang L, Li L, Fang Y, Liu F, Suo J, Kong J, Deng M, Zhang Y, Zhang J, Yang Y, Chen C, Ren X, Zhang H, Jiang P, Guo X. Regulation for cleaning and disinfection technique of flexible endoscope (WS 507-2016). Available from: https://www.ndeis.cn/userfiles/file/20200420/20200420164232_7519.pdf
- Alfa MJ, Fatima I, Olson N. The adenosine triphosphate test is a rapid and reliable audit tool to assess manual cleaning adequacy of flexible 18 endoscope channels. Am J Infect Control 2013; 41: 249-253 [PMID: 22975364 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2012.03.015]
- 19 Alfa MJ, Fatima I, Olson N. Validation of adenosine triphosphate to audit manual cleaning of flexible endoscope channels. Am J Infect Control 2013; **41**: 245-248 [PMID: 22980510 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2012.03.018]
- Olafsdottir LB, Whelan J, Snyder GM. A systematic review of adenosine triphosphate as a surrogate for bacterial contamination of 20 duodenoscopes used for endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Am J Infect Control 2018; 46: 697-705 [PMID: 29395506 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2017.12.007]
- Singh H, Duerksen DR, Schultz G, Reidy C, DeGagne P, Olson N, Nugent Z, Bernard KA, Alfa MJ. Impact of cleaning monitoring combined 21 with channel purge storage on elimination of Escherichia coli and environmental bacteria from duodenoscopes. Gastrointest Endosc 2018; 88: 292-302 [PMID: 29476844 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2018.02.018]
- McCafferty CE, Abi-Hanna D, Aghajani MJ, Micali GT, Lockart I, Vickery K, Gosbell IB, Jensen SO. The validity of adenosine triphosphate 22 measurement in detecting endoscope contamination. J Hosp Infect 2018; 100: e142-e145 [PMID: 30092293 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2018.08.004]
- Ofstead CL, Wetzler HP, Heymann OL, Johnson EA, Eiland JE, Shaw MJ. Longitudinal assessment of reprocessing effectiveness for 23 colonoscopes and gastroscopes: Results of visual inspections, biochemical markers, and microbial cultures. Am J Infect Control 2017; 45: e26e33 [PMID: 28159069 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2016.10.017]
- Hervé RC, Keevil CW. Persistent residual contamination in endoscope channels; a fluorescence epimicroscopy study. Endoscopy 2016; 48: 24 609-616 [PMID: 27110695 DOI: 10.1055/s-0042-105744]
- 25 Fushimi R, Takashina M, Yoshikawa H, Kobayashi H, Okubo T, Nakata S, Kaku M. Comparison of adenosine triphosphate, microbiological load, and residual protein as indicators for assessing the cleanliness of flexible gastrointestinal endoscopes. Am J Infect Control 2013; 41: 161-164 [PMID: 22906873 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2012.02.030]
- 26 Weissman S, Belyayeva A, Sharma S, Aziz M, Elias S, Tabibian JH. SARS-CoV-2 and Acute Diverticulitis: the Expanding Gastrointestinal 26 Manifestations of COVID-19 Infection. J Transl Int Med 2021; 9: 59-60 [PMID: 33850804 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2021-0019]
- Gregson FKA, Shrimpton AJ, Hamilton F, Cook TM, Reid JP, Pickering AE, Pournaras DJ, Bzdek BR, Brown J; AERATOR group. 27 Identification of the source events for aerosol generation during oesophago-gastro-duodenoscopy. Gut 2022; 71: 871-878 [PMID: 34187844 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-324588]
- Zhi X, Chen J, Xie F, Sun J, Herth FJF. Diagnostic value of endobronchial ultrasound image features: A specialized review. Endosc 28 Ultrasound 2021; 10: 3-18 [PMID: 32719201 DOI: 10.4103/eus.eus_43_20]
- 29 Huang K, Zhao X, Chen X, Gao Y, Yu J, Wu L. Analysis of Digestive Endoscopic Results During COVID-19. J Transl Int Med 2021; 9: 38-42 [PMID: 33850800 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2021-0006]



WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

WU

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 December 16; 15(12): 715-724

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.715

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Observational Study

Disparities in esophageal cancer incidence and esophageal adenocarcinoma mortality in the United States over the last 25-40 years

Hafiz Muhammad Sharjeel Arshad, Umer Farooq, Ayesha Cheema, Ayesha Arshad, Muaaz Masood, Kenneth J Vega

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: He X, China

Received: September 5, 2023 Peer-review started: September 5, 2023 First decision: September 29, 2023 Revised: October 17, 2023 Accepted: November 13, 2023 Article in press: November 13, 2023 Published online: December 16, 2023



Hafiz Muhammad Sharjeel Arshad, Ayesha Cheema, Kenneth J Vega, Division of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Augusta University - Medical College of Georgia, Augusta, GA 30912, United States

Umer Farooq, Department of Internal Medicine, Loyola Medicine/MacNeil Hospital, Berwyn, IL 60402, United States

Ayesha Arshad, Department of Medicine, Fatima Memorial Medical College, Lahore 54000, Punjab, Pakistan

Muaaz Masood, Department of Medicine, Augusta University - Medical College of Georgia, Augusta, GA 30912, United States

Corresponding author: Kenneth J Vega, AGAF, FACG, FACP, MD, Professor, Division of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Augusta University - Medical College of Georgia, 1120 15th Street AD 2226, Augusta, GA 30912, United States. kvega@augusta.edu

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Esophageal carcinoma presents as 2 types, esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) with the frequency of both changing in the United States (US).

AIM

To investigate EAC/ESCC incidence time trends among the 3 main US racial groups and investigate trends in US EAC survival by ethnicity.

METHODS

Twenty-five years (1992-2016) of data from SEER 13 program was analyzed to compare incidence trends in EAC and ESCC between non-Hispanic whites (nHW), non-Hispanic Blacks (nHB) and Hispanics (Hisp) using SEERStat®. In addition, SEER 18 data, from 1975-2015, on EAC in the US was analyzed to evaluate racial disparities in incidence and survival using SEERStat® and Ederer II method.



WJGE https://www.wjgnet.com

Arshad HMS et al. Disparities in US esophageal cancer incidence/mortality

RESULTS

In the 3 major US ethnic groups, age-adjusted incidence of ESCC has declined while EAC has continued to rise from 1992-2016. Of note, in Hisp, the EAC incidence rate increased while ESCC decreased from 1992 to 2016, resulting in EAC as the predominant esophageal cancer subtype in this group since 2011, joining nHW. Furthermore, although ESCC remains the predominant tumor in nHB, the difference between ESCC and EAC has narrowed dramatically over 25 years. EAC survival probabilities were worse in all minority groups compared to nHw.

CONCLUSION

Hisp have joined nHW as US ethnic groups more likely to have EAC than ESCC. Of note, EAC incidence in nHB is increasing at the highest rate nationally. Despite lower EAC incidence in all minority groups compared to nHW, these populations have decreased survival compared to nHW.

Key Words: Esophageal carcinoma; Ethnicity; Incidence; Survival; Disparity; Race

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: There is a higher incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) in non-Hispanic whites (nHw). Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) is more common than EAC in non-Hispanic Blacks. Previous research reported higher incidence of ESCC compared to EAC in Hispanics (Hisp) as well. This study reveals that Hisp have joined nHw as US ethnic groups with EAC as the predominant esophageal cancer. Despite lower EAC incidence in all minority groups compared to nHw, these populations have lower survival compared to nHw.

Citation: Arshad HMS, Farooq U, Cheema A, Arshad A, Masood M, Vega KJ. Disparities in esophageal cancer incidence and esophageal adenocarcinoma mortality in the United States over the last 25-40 years. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023; 15(12): 715-724

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i12/715.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.715

INTRODUCTION

Esophageal carcinoma (EC) is the eight most common malignancy and the sixth leading cause of cancer related mortality globally[1,2]. The 5 year survival rate of esophageal carcinoma is 15%-30%, making it one of the most lethal malignancies [3-5]. There are 2 main histological subtypes of esophageal carcinoma, esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC). Depending on the histological subtype, incidence of esophageal carcinoma is 3-10 times higher in males compared to females[6].

Ethnic disparities in esophageal carcinoma incidence and prevalence have been evaluated in the past. Higher incidence of EAC in non-Hispanic White (nHW) males is well known and it has been reported to be the most rapidly increasing solid organ malignancy in this ethnic and gender group[7]. In contrast, ESCC is more common than EAC in non-Hispanic Blacks (nHB)[8]. In addition to environmental factors, genetic factors are also thought to play an important role in EC ethnic disparities[9].

Hispanics (Hisp) comprise 18.5% of the total US population, making them the largest minority ethnic group in the United States (US) per the US Census Bureau^[10]. Very limited data is available evaluating esophageal cancer in Hisp. Ricardo et al[1] reported higher number of metastatic and untreated EC cases in Hisp despite lower prevalence compared to nHW. Previous research also reported higher incidence of ESCC in Hisp[12]. In addition, incidence trends of EAC in other minority ethnic groups like Hisp, non-Hispanic American Indians/Alaska native (nHAI/AN), non-Hispanic Asians/Pacific islanders (nHA/PI) have not been well assessed. Furthermore, EAC-related survival in US minority groups has not been studied. Thus, the primary study aim was to examine EC incidence time trends (both EAC & ESCC) between the 3 main US racial groups, with a focus on Hisp, assessing 25 years of data and the second aim of our study was to investigate temporal trends in incidence of EAC over the last 40 years in the US and highlight ethnic disparities in survival.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Phase 1

Using data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results 13 (SEER) program of cancer registries, we collected 25 years (1992-2016) data on EAC and ESCC in the US. This data was adjusted for age to the US 2000 standard population using SEERStat®. After age adjustment, this data was plotted using Microsoft Excel® to visually compare incidence trends



in EAC and ESCC over 25 years in nHW, nHB and Hisp. Annual percent change (APC) was calculated using weighted least squares method and p values were calculated using SEERStat® and *t*-test.

Phase 2

Using data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results 18 (SEER) program of cancer registries, we collected 40 years (1975-2015) data on esophageal adenocarcinoma in the US. After adjusting for age using SEERStat®, this data was plotted to visually compare trends over the last 40 years in different ethnic groups. Ten years of (2006-2016) data was used to calculate relative survival rates at 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 years for different ethnic groups using Ederer II method and compared between these groups.

RESULTS

In phase 1 of this study, 25 years of data from SEER 13 cancer registry was analyzed. For the 3 largest ethnic groups in the US (nHw, nHB, Hisp), EAC age adjusted incidence increased during the study period while the ESCC rate declined. In Hisp, the incidence rate of EAC increased from 0.8 to 1.5/100000 (APC = 1.5, P < 0.001) compared to ESCC decreasing from 2.2 to 0.8/100000 over the study period (APC = -3.1, *P* < 0.001, Figure 1, Table 1). This change over time has resulted in EAC becoming the predominant esophageal cancer since 2011 in Hisp. Among nHw, the EAC incidence rate increased from 1.7 to 3/100000 (APC = 2.2, *P* < 0.001) while ESCC incidence decreased from 1.8 to 0.9/100000 (APC = -2.5, *P* < 0.001, Figure 1, Table 1). This has lead to EAC as the predominant esophageal cancer since 1993 within this group. For nHB, EAC incidence increased from 0.4 to 0.8/100000 (APC = 2.6, P < 0.001) while ESCC dramatically decreased from 8.8 to 2.7/100000 (APC = -5.2, P < 0.001, Figure 1, Table 1) over the study interval. Despite these EC changes in nHB, ESCC remains the predominant esophageal cancer in this group.

Table 1 Age adjusted incidence rates per 100000 (1992-2016) and annual percent change in esophageal squamous cell and adenocarcinoma for different racial groups in the United States

	nHW		nHB		Hisp		
	EAC	ESCC	EAC	ESCC	EAC	ESCC	
1992-2016 APC	2.2	-2.5	2.6	-5.2	1.5	-3.1	
<i>P</i> value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Year	Rate	Rate	Rate	Rate	Rate	Rate	
1992	1.7	1.8	0.4	8.8	0.8	2.2	
1993	1.8	1.8	0.5	8.4	1	1.9	
1994	1.8	1.7	0.3	7.6	1.1	1.6	
1995	1.9	1.8	0.3	7.3	0.9	1.8	
1996	2.3	1.6	0.6	7.9	1.1	1.4	
1997	2.2	1.6	0.5	6.4	1.4	1.4	
1998	2.3	1.6	0.3	5.7	1.1	1.1	
1999	2.6	1.5	0.6	5.4	1.5	1.7	
2000	2.6	1.4	0.6	5.2	1.2	1.4	
2001	2.5	1.6	0.6	4.9	1.4	1.3	
2002	2.6	1.3	0.6	4.9	1.2	1.1	
2003	2.7	1.3	0.4	5.3	0.9	1.1	
2004	3	1.5	0.5	4.7	1.5	1.4	
2005	2.7	1.3	0.7	3.9	1.3	1.1	
2006	2.9	1.2	0.5	4.1	0.8	1	
2007	3	1.2	0.7	3.7	1.1	1.2	
2008	3.2	1.1	0.9	3.5	1.2	0.9	
2009	3	1.3	0.9	3.6	1.4	1	
2010	2.9	1.1	0.6	3.4	1.2	1.3	



Arshad HMS et al. Disparities in US esophageal cancer incidence/mortality

2011	3.2	1.2	0.6	2.7	1.6	0.9
2012	3	1.1	0.8	2.6	1.8	0.9
2013	3.1	1.1	0.8	2.9	1.3	0.9
2014	3	1	0.8	2.7	1.3	0.9
2015	3.1	1.1	0.6	2.4	1.6	0.9
2016	3	0.9	0.8	2.7	1.5	0.8

ESCC: Esophageal squamous cell; EAC: Adenocarcinoma; nHB: Non-Hispanic Blacks; nHW: Non-Hispanic Blacks; Hisp: Hispanics.

In phase 2, 40 years of EAC data was analyzed (1975 to 2015). The overall age adjusted incidence rate of EAC progressively increased from 1975 to 2007 in the US (0.4/100000 to 2.8/100000). Following, a plateau in the age adjusted incidence rate was observed (Age adjusted incidence rate of EAC for all races in 2007 = 3/100000, age adjusted incidence rate of EAC for all races in 2016 = 3/100000) (Table 2, Figure 2). A similar trend was observed in nHw and nHB. In nHw, age adjusted incidence rate of EAC was 3/000000 in 2007 and 3.1/100000 in 2016. In nHB, age adjusted incidence rate of EAC was 0.6/100000 in 2007 and 0.5/100000 in 2016 (Table 2, Figure 2). However, in the other minority group (a combination of nHAI/AN and nHA/PI), EAC incidence continues to rise after 2007. The age adjusted incidence rate was 0.5/100000 in 2007 and 0.8/100000 in 2016 in the combined other minority group.

Table 2 Age adjusted esophageal adenocarcinoma incidence rates per 100000, United States ethnic groups (1975-2015)								
Year	All races	nHW	nHB	Others (American Indian/AK Native, Asian/PI)				
1975	0.4	0.4	0.2	0				
1976	0.4	0.4	0.1	0				
1977	0.4	0.4	0	0				
1978	0.4	0.4	0.2	0				
1979	0.7	0.7	0.1	0.1				
1980	0.5	0.6	0.1	0				
1981	0.5	0.6	0.2	0.1				
1982	0.6	0.6	0.1	0				
1983	0.8	0.9	0.1	0.2				
1984	0.7	0.8	0.2	0.3				
1985	0.8	0.9	0.4	0.1				
1986	0.9	1	0.2	0.5				
1987	1.1	1.2	0.1	0				
1988	1.1	1.3	0.2	0.1				
1989	1.1	1.3	0.1	0.3				
1990	1.3	1.5	0.5	0.4				
1991	1.3	1.5	0.2	0.4				
1992	1.5	1.7	0.3	0.4				
1993	1.6	1.8	0.4	0.5				
1994	1.6	1.8	0.3	0.6				
1995	1.6	1.8	0.3	0.5				
1996	2	2.3	0.5	0.7				
1997	1.9	2.2	0.5	0.3				
1998	2	2.4	0.3	0.2				
1999	2.2	2.6	0.5	0.3				

2000	2.2	2.6	0.6	0.7
2001	2.2	2.5	0.4	0.5
2002	2.2	2.6	0.5	0.4
2003	2.2	2.6	0.4	0.4
2004	2.7	3.1	0.6	0.8
2005	2.4	2.8	0.7	0.9
2006	2.4	2.9	0.5	0.6
2007	2.5	3	0.6	0.5
2008	2.7	3.2	0.8	0.8
2009	2.5	3	0.6	0.6
2010	2.4	2.8	0.6	0.7
2011	2.6	3.1	0.5	0.5
2012	2.6	3.1	0.7	0.5
2013	2.6	3.1	0.7	0.4
2014	2.5	3	0.7	0.7
2015	2.7	3.2	0.6	0.8
2016	2.6	3.1	0.5	0.8

nHB: Non-Hispanic Blacks; nHW: Non-Hispanic Blacks; PI: Pacific islanders.

The comparison of relative survival in EAC yields noteworthy results. Minority groups had much worse EAC survival probabilities compared to nHw despite lower incidence rates. Relative survival was 44% in nHB, 46% in Hisp and 48% in nHW after 1 year of diagnosis with the worst 1 year EAC survival probability noted in non-Hispanic American Indians/ Alaska Natives (nHAI/AN) at 33%. Five year survival rate was 14% for Hisp and nHB while 18% for nHw with worst 5 year survival probability seen for nHA/PI with relative survival rate of 12% only (Figure 3, Table 3).

Table 3 Relative survival rates of different ethnic and racial groups for esophageal adenocarcinoma (2007-2016)

Мо	Non-Hispanic White (%)	Non-Hispanic Black (%)	Non-Hispanic American Indian/Alaska Native (%)	Non-Hispanic Asian or Pacific Islander (%)	Hispanic (%)
12	48.80	44.10	33.10	46.00	46.20
24	30.60	26.90	23.10	27.30	29.40
36	23.50	18.20	19.30	21.30	22.30
48	20.20	14.60	17.50	15.00	17.70
60	18.20	14.20	17.50	12.30	14.30

DISCUSSION

EC is a malignancy with dismal survival probabilities. It shows significant racial disparities in incidence and survival rates. Thus, it became important to obtain and assess updated data on EC for analysis to study ongoing EC trends in minority groups.

In phase 1 of our study, we gathered 25 years of (1992-2016) data using the SEER 13 cancer registry and studied trends in both EAC and ESCC in 3 main racial groups in the US. The most prevalent esophageal cancer subtype among Hisp initially was ESCC. Revel *et al*[12] showed ESCC comprised 59.8% cases compared to 40.8% of EAC among Hisp diagnosed with EC from 2003 to 2008. The significant finding of the current investigation is the shift in incidence of histologic subtypes of esophageal cancer among Hisp. In this group, EAC incidence increased over 25 years from 0.8 to 1.5/100000 while ESCC incidence fell during this interval from 2.2 to 0.8/100000, resulting in EAC as the predominant esophageal cancer in Hisp. Our study is the first to report this change. Recent studies have also reported changing trends of EC subtypes in nHB. Ashktorab *et al*[13] reported decreased frequency of ESCC as part of overall EC cases from 97% in 1960s to 68% in 2000s while noting an increase in EAC from 2.7% to 31% over the same period. The current study showed age adjusted incidence rate of EAC increased from 0.4 to 0.8/100000 and incidence of ESCC declined from 8.8 to 2.7/



Figure 1 Age adjusted incidence rates (1992-2016) of esophageal adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma in non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, and Hispanics. A: Non-Hispanic White; B: Non-Hispanic Black; C: Hispanics.

100000 in nHB. If current trends continue over the next two decades, it is likely that nHB will join nHW and Hisp in terms of higher EAC incidence compared to ESCC.

In phase 2 of our study, using 40 years (1975-2015) of data from SEER 18 cancer registries, we focused on EAC and investigated ethnic disparities in incidence and survival probabilities. The overall age-adjusted incidence rate of EAC increased progressively between 1975 to 2007. Similar trends were reported by Heitmiller *et al*[14] using the data from Johns Hopkins tumor registry and by Daly *et al*[15] using the National Cancer Database. The etiology of the changing trend remains to be elucidated, but it is noteworthy that it is accompanied by a parallel rise in the incidence of cancer of gastroesophageal junction, the precursor of which is Barrett's esophagus and metaplastic changes induced by reflux disease[16,17]. After 2007, the incidence rate of EAC seems to plateau in nHw and while increasing slowly in all minority groups. There is limited literature for EAC incidence and ethnic disparities after 2007. In a study using the United States Cancer Statistics database, Patel *et al*[18] showed recent trends in EAC which were similar to our findings. Similar to







Hispanic (All races) Non-Hispanic Asian or Pacific islander Non-Hispanic Ameriacn indian/Alaska native Non-Hispanic black Non-Hispanic white DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.715 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Racial disparities in relative survival after diagnosis of esophageal adenocarcinoma (2007-2016).

multiple prior studies, our study again showed that EAC incidence remains higher in nHW compared to other minority ethnic groups (2016; nHW = 2.6/100000, nHB = 0.5/100000, others = 0.8/100000)[8,19-22].

Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) and obesity are major risk factors for EAC, amongst others[4,23]. A recent systematic review by El-Serag showed increasing prevalence of GERD worldwide, and the same is true for the trends of obesity[24,25]. GERD poses a directly proportional risk for EAC which explains increasing incidence trend of EAC in our study[26]. Bersentes and colleagues showed comparable trends of prevalence of Barrett's esophagus between nHw and Hisp which may explain increasing incidence of EAC in Hisp observed in the current investigation[27]. Genetic factors can also potentially explain the change in incidence trends observed in our study. Genome-wide association studies have

identified various susceptibility loci for EAC that demonstrate familial clustering, leading to a shift in ethnic trends in incidence and prevalence of EAC[4,28,29].

Although ethnic disparities in survival have been reported previously for EC, only one study has been performed previously to evaluate disparities specifically for EAC. In addition, very limited research has been performed to evaluate survival probabilities for minority ethnic groups like Hisp, nHAI/AN, nHA/PI. Greenstein et al[30] showed higher mortality rates among nHB when compared to nHw after EC diagnosis. Multiple investigators also showed similar trends and confirmed that nHB, Hisp and other minority groups show greater mortality and poor survival than nHw[12,31,32]. Adams et al [19] showed ethnicity is not an independent risk factor for EC in their population-based analysis of EC cases. In contrast, Laszkowska et al[33] suggested mortality was higher in EAC in nHW than nHB, Hisp and nHA/PI. However, this study used incidence-based mortality assessment for statistical analysis which lacks information about disease onset. In the present study, the latest data over a decade was evaluated to investigate survival probabilities in different racial groups at 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 years after diagnosis. The results showed nHw with decreased mortality rates compared to all minority groups at 1 and 5 years. Prior studies investigating poor EC survival have pointed out that advanced stage malignancy at presentation and underutilized cancer-directed surgical therapy in potentially resectable tumors results in poor survival in minority groups[12,31,34]. Socioeconomic factors, cultural beliefs, and language barriers in minority groups may also be other potential contributory factors to survival disparities. Moreover, the rapidly accumulating amount of genetic and transcriptomic date will hopefully allow for improved stratification resulting in optimal therapy and prognosis based on molecular subtype[35].

This investigation has limitations that require comment. First, the presence or absence of Barrett's esophagus was not reported. Second, other known clinical risk factors such as smoking, alcohol use, obesity or ongoing reflux disease was not assessed because information on these items is not available in the SEER database. Furthermore, errors may be present in the database due to misclassification of patient race/ethnicity information.

Conversely, there are strengths to the current study. The sample size allows for improved understanding of trends in incidence and survival of EC subtypes in different races. In addition, demonstration of opposing ethnic trends in different histologic types of esophageal cancer in the same population confers internal validity to the study results.

CONCLUSION

In summary, Hisp have joined nHw as US ethnic groups with EAC as the predominant esophageal cancer. Furthermore, nHB have the highest APC in EAC incidence among the 3 main US racial groups. Regrettably, all US minority groups with EAC have lower survival than nHw despite a decreased incidence of this cancer compared to nHw. Understanding EAC in Hisp may provide insight regarding changes in EAC incidence among US minority groups. In addition, evaluation of potential factors contributing to worse short and long-term survival for US minority EAC patients is warranted.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) frequency have changed and are continuing to change in the United States (US).

Research motivation

To determine EAC/ESCC incidence among the 3 main US racial groups and investigate US EAC survival by ethnicity.

Research objectives

To investigate time trends in EAC/ESCC incidence among the 3 main US racial groups and investigate trends in US EAC survival by ethnicity.

Research methods

Analysis of 25 years (1992-2016) SEER 13 data to compare incidence trends in EAC and ESCC between non-Hispanic whites (nHW), non-Hispanic Blacks (nHB) and Hispanics (Hisp). In addition, SEER 18 data, from 1975-2015, on EAC in the US was analyzed to evaluate racial disparities in incidence and survival among nHW, nHB and Hisp.

Research results

In Hisp, the EAC incidence rate increased while ESCC decreased from 1992 to 2016, resulting in EAC as the predominant esophageal cancer subtype in this group since 2011, joining nHW. Furthermore, although ESCC remains the predominant tumor in nHB, the difference between ESCC and EAC has narrowed dramatically over 25 years. EAC survival probabilities were worse in all minority groups compared to nHw.

Research conclusions

Hisp are the 2nd US ethnic group to have EAC as their predominant EC cancer type. Of note, EAC incidence in nHB is



increasing at the highest rate nationally. Despite lower EAC incidence in all minority groups compared to nHW, these populations have decreased survival compared to nHW.

Research perspectives

Understanding EAC in Hisp may provide insight regarding changes in EAC incidence among US minority groups. In addition, evaluation of potential factors contributing to worse short and long-term survival for US minority EAC patients is warranted.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Arshad HMS and Vega KJ designed the research study; All authors performed the research; Arshad HMS and Vega KJ analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; All authors have read, edited and approve the final manuscript version.

Institutional review board statement: Studies using SEER database are considered exempt by the Institutional Review Board of Augusta University-Medical College of Georgia.

Informed consent statement: This study utilized SEER cancer incidence and mortality data from population-based cancer registries covering approximately 47.9 percent of the U.S. population which did not require a specific informed consent.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors have no relevant financial or non-financial interests to disclose.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement - checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement - checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Kenneth J Vega 0000-0002-2432-6123.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: American Gastroenterological Association; American College of Gastroenterology; American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Xie Y, Shi L, He X, Luo Y. Gastrointestinal cancers in China, the USA, and Europe. Gastroenterol Rep (Oxf) 2021; 9: 91-104 [PMID: 1 34026216 DOI: 10.1093/gastro/goab010]
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of 2 Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71: 209-249 [PMID: 33538338 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21660]
- 3 Rustgi AK, El-Serag HB. Esophageal carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2014; 371: 2499-2509 [PMID: 25539106 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1314530]
- Allemani C, Matsuda T, Di Carlo V, Harewood R, Matz M, Nikšić M, Bonaventure A, Valkov M, Johnson CJ, Estève J, Ogunbiyi OJ, 1 Azevedo E Silva G, Chen WQ, Eser S, Engholm G, Stiller CA, Monnereau A, Woods RR, Visser O, Lim GH, Aitken J, Weir HK, Coleman MP; CONCORD Working Group. Global surveillance of trends in cancer survival 2000-14 (CONCORD-3): analysis of individual records for 37 513 025 patients diagnosed with one of 18 cancers from 322 population-based registries in 71 countries. Lancet 2018; 391: 1023-1075 [PMID: 29395269 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33326-3]
- Arnold M, Rutherford MJ, Bardot A, Ferlay J, Andersson TM, Myklebust TÅ, Tervonen H, Thursfield V, Ransom D, Shack L, Woods RR, 5 Turner D, Leonfellner S, Ryan S, Saint-Jacques N, De P, McClure C, Ramanakumar AV, Stuart-Panko H, Engholm G, Walsh PM, Jackson C, Vernon S, Morgan E, Gavin A, Morrison DS, Huws DW, Porter G, Butler J, Bryant H, Currow DC, Hiom S, Parkin DM, Sasieni P, Lambert PC, Møller B, Soerjomataram I, Bray F. Progress in cancer survival, mortality, and incidence in seven high-income countries 1995-2014 (ICBP SURVMARK-2): a population-based study. Lancet Oncol 2019; 20: 1493-1505 [PMID: 31521509 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30456-5]
- Vizcaino AP, Moreno V, Lambert R, Parkin DM. Time trends incidence of both major histologic types of esophageal carcinomas in selected 6 countries, 1973-1995. Int J Cancer 2002; 99: 860-868 [PMID: 12115489 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.10427]
- 7 Brown LM, Devesa SS. Epidemiologic trends in esophageal and gastric cancer in the United States. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 2002; 11: 235-256 [PMID: 12424848 DOI: 10.1016/S1055-3207(02)00002-9]

- 8 **Baquet CR**, Commiskey P, Mack K, Meltzer S, Mishra SI. Esophageal cancer epidemiology in blacks and whites: racial and gender disparities in incidence, mortality, survival rates and histology. *J Natl Med Assoc* 2005; **97**: 1471-1478 [PMID: 16334494]
- 9 Erkizan HV, Johnson K, Ghimbovschi S, Karkera D, Trachiotis G, Adib H, Hoffman EP, Wadleigh RG. African-American esophageal squamous cell carcinoma expression profile reveals dysregulation of stress response and detox networks. *BMC Cancer* 2017; 17: 426 [PMID: 28629367 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-017-3423-1]
- 10 United States Census Bureau. Quick Facts. 2019 [January 8, 2021]; Available from: https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/ RHI725219
- 11 Ricardo J, Conte J, Alkayali T, Salem A, Huston J, Shridhar R, Meredith KL. Esophageal cancer in Hispanic patients: A demographic analysis of the National Cancer Database. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37(15_suppl): 6561-6561 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15_suppl.6561]
- 12 Revels SL, Morris AM, Reddy RM, Akateh C, Wong SL. Racial disparities in esophageal cancer outcomes. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2013; 20: 1136-1141 [PMID: 23263780 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-012-2807-3]
- 13 Ashktorab H, Nouri Z, Nouraie M, Razjouyan H, Lee EE, Dowlati E, El-Seyed el-W, Laiyemo A, Brim H, Smoot DT. Esophageal carcinoma in African Americans: a five-decade experience. *Dig Dis Sci* 2011; **56**: 3577-3582 [PMID: 21847566 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-011-1853-1]
- 14 Heitmiller RF, Sharma RR. Comparison of prevalence and resection rates in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996; **112**: 130-136 [PMID: 8691857 DOI: 10.1016/S0022-5223(96)70187-3]
- 15 Daly JM, Karnell LH, Menck HR. National Cancer Data Base report on esophageal carcinoma. Cancer 1996; 78: 1820-1828 [DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19961015)78:8<1820::AID-CNCR25>3.0.CO;2-Z]
- 16 Pera M, Cameron AJ, Trastek VF, Carpenter HA, Zinsmeister AR. Increasing incidence of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and esophagogastric junction. *Gastroenterology* 1993; 104: 510-513 [PMID: 8425693 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(93)90420-H]
- 17 Blot WJ, Devesa SS, Kneller RW, Fraumeni JF Jr. Rising incidence of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and gastric cardia. JAMA 1991; 265: 1287-1289 [PMID: 1995976 DOI: 10.1001/jama.265.10.1287]
- 18 Patel N, Benipal B. Incidence of Esophageal Cancer in the United States from 2001-2015: A United States Cancer Statistics Analysis of 50 States. Cureus 2018; 10: e3709 [DOI: 10.7759/cureus.3709]
- 19 Adams MA, Prenovost KM, Dominitz JA, Holleman RG, Kerr EA, Krein SL, Saini SD, Rubenstein JH. Predictors of Use of Monitored Anesthesia Care for Outpatient Gastrointestinal Endoscopy in a Capitated Payment System. *Gastroenterology* 2017; 153: 1496-1503.e1 [PMID: 28843955 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.08.030]
- 20 Pickens A, Orringer MB. Geographical distribution and racial disparity in esophageal cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2003; 76: S1367-S1369 [PMID: 14530066 DOI: 10.1016/S0003-4975(03)01202-5]
- 21 Mathieu LN, Kanarek NF, Tsai HL, Rudin CM, Brock MV. Age and sex differences in the incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma: results from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Registry (1973-2008). *Dis Esophagus* 2014; **27**: 757-763 [PMID: 24118313 DOI: 10.1111/dote.12147]
- 22 González L, Magno P, Ortiz AP, Ortiz-Ortiz K, Hess K, Nogueras-González GM, Suárez E. Esophageal cancer incidence rates by histological type and overall: Puerto Rico versus the United States Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results population, 1992-2005. *Cancer Epidemiol* 2013; 37: 5-10 [PMID: 23063415 DOI: 10.1016/j.canep.2012.09.002]
- 23 Lagergren J, Lagergren P. Recent developments in esophageal adenocarcinoma. CA Cancer J Clin 2013; 63: 232-248 [PMID: 23818335 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21185]
- 24 El-Serag HB. Time trends of gastroesophageal reflux disease: a systematic review. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007; 5: 17-26 [PMID: 17142109 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2006.09.016]
- 25 Romero CX, Romero TE, Shlay JC, Ogden LG, Dabelea D. Changing trends in the prevalence and disparities of obesity and other cardiovascular disease risk factors in three racial/ethnic groups of USA adults. *Adv Prev Med* 2012; 2012: 172423 [PMID: 23243516 DOI: 10.1155/2012/172423]
- 26 **Rubenstein JH**, Taylor JB. Meta-analysis: the association of oesophageal adenocarcinoma with symptoms of gastro-oesophageal reflux. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2010; **32**: 1222-1227 [PMID: 20955441 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04471.x]
- 27 Bersentes K, Fass R, Padda S, Johnson C, Sampliner RE. Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in Hispanics is similar to Caucasians. *Dig Dis Sci* 1998; 43: 1038-1041 [PMID: 9590419 DOI: 10.1023/A:1018834902694]
- Orloff M, Peterson C, He X, Ganapathi S, Heald B, Yang YR, Bebek G, Romigh T, Song JH, Wu W, David S, Cheng Y, Meltzer SJ, Eng C. Germline mutations in MSR1, ASCC1, and CTHRC1 in patients with Barrett esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma. *JAMA* 2011; 306: 410-419 [PMID: 21791690 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2011.1029]
- Levine DM, Ek WE, Zhang R, Liu X, Onstad L, Sather C, Lao-Sirieix P, Gammon MD, Corley DA, Shaheen NJ, Bird NC, Hardie LJ, Murray LJ, Reid BJ, Chow WH, Risch HA, Nyrén O, Ye W, Liu G, Romero Y, Bernstein L, Wu AH, Casson AG, Chanock SJ, Harrington P, Caldas I, Debiram-Beecham I, Caldas C, Hayward NK, Pharoah PD, Fitzgerald RC, Macgregor S, Whiteman DC, Vaughan TL. A genome-wide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for esophageal adenocarcinoma and Barrett's esophagus. *Nat Genet* 2013; 45: 1487-1493 [PMID: 24121790 DOI: 10.1038/ng.2796]
- 30 Greenstein AJ, Litle VR, Swanson SJ, Divino CM, Packer S, McGinn TG, Wisnivesky JP. Racial disparities in esophageal cancer treatment and outcomes. Ann Surg Oncol 2008; 15: 881-888 [PMID: 17987341 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-007-9664-5]
- 31 Gupta DR, Liu Y, Jiang R, Walid S, Higgins K, Landry J, McDonald M, Willingham FF, El-Rayes BF, Saba NF. Racial Disparities, Outcomes, and Surgical Utilization among Hispanics with Esophageal Cancer: A Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program Database Analysis. Oncology 2019; 97: 49-58 [PMID: 31108497 DOI: 10.1159/000499716]
- 32 Taioli E, Wolf AS, Camacho-Rivera M, Kaufman A, Lee DS, Bhora F, Flores RM. Racial disparities in esophageal cancer survival after surgery. J Surg Oncol 2016; 113: 659-664 [PMID: 26865174 DOI: 10.1002/jso.24203]
- 33 Laszkowska M, Tramontano AC, Kim J, Camargo MC, Neugut AI, Abrams JA, Hur C. Racial and ethnic disparities in mortality from gastric and esophageal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Med* 2020; 9: 5678-5686 [PMID: 32573964 DOI: 10.1002/cam4.3063]
- 34 Then EO, Lopez M, Saleem S, Gayam V, Sunkara T, Culliford A, Gaduputi V. Esophageal Cancer: An Updated Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results Database Analysis. World J Oncol 2020; 11: 55-64 [PMID: 32284773 DOI: 10.14740/wjon1254]
- **Lavery A**, Turkington RC. Transcriptomic biomarkers for predicting response to neoadjuvant treatment in oesophageal cancer. *Gastroenterol Rep (Oxf)* 2020; **8**: 411-424 [PMID: 33442473 DOI: 10.1093/gastro/goaa065]

Zaishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

F W O

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 December 16; 15(12): 725-734

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.725

Prospective Study

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

New hope for esophageal stricture prevention: A prospective singlecenter trial on acellular dermal matrix

Xin-Yu Fu, Zhen-Yu Jiang, Chen-Yang Zhang, Ling-Yan Shen, Xiao-Dan Yan, Xiao-Kang Li, Jia-Ying Lin, Yi Wang, Xin-Li Mao, Shao-Wei Li

Xin-Yu Fu, Chen-Yang Zhang, Jia-Ying Lin, Department of Gastr-oenterology, Taizhou Hospital Specialty type: Gastroenterology of Zhejiang Province, Wenzhou Medical University, Linhai 317000, Zhejiang Province, China and hepatology Zhen-Yu Jiang, Department of Gastroenterology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Baotou Provenance and peer review: Medical College, Inner Mongolia University of Science and Technology, Baotou 014000, Inner Invited article; Externally peer Mongolia Autonomous Region, China reviewed. Ling-Yan Shen, Xiao-Dan Yan, Yi Wang, Xin-Li Mao, Shao-Wei Li, Department of Gastr-Peer-review model: Single blind oenterology, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province Affiliated to Wenzhou Medical University, Peer-review report's scientific Linhai 317000, Zhejiang Province, China quality classification Xiao-Kang Li, Shao-Wei Li, Key Laboratory of Minimally Invasive Techniques & Rapid Grade A (Excellent): 0 Rehabilitation of Digestive System Tumor of Zhejiang Province, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Grade B (Very good): B Province Affiliated to Wenzhou Medical University, Linhai 317000, Zhejiang Province, China Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Xiao-Kang Li, Division of Transplantation Immunology, National Research Institute for Child Grade E (Poor): E Health and Development, Tokyo 1540001, Japan P-Reviewer: Christodoulidis G, Shao-Wei Li, Institute of Digestive Disease, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province Affiliated to Greece; Oguma J, Japan; Rai VK, Wenzhou Medical University, Linhai 317000, Zhejiang Province, China India Corresponding author: Shao-Wei Li, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Gastr-Received: August 5, 2023 oenterology, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province Affiliated to Wenzhou Medical University, Peer-review started: August 5, 2023 No. 150 Xinmen Street, Linhai 317000, Zhejiang Province, China. First decision: October 9, 2023 li shaowei81@hotmail.com Revised: October 22, 2023

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Given the high incidence of esophageal cancer in China, an increasing number of patients there are undergoing endoscopic mucosal dissection (ESD). Although the 5-year survival rate after ESD can exceed 95%, esophageal stricture, the most common and serious postoperative complication, affects the long-term prognosis of patients and the quality of life. Autologous mucosal grafts have proven to be successful in preventing stricture after ESD for early esophageal cancer.

AIM

To examine the viability of acellular dermal matrix (ADM) as an alternative to



2023

Accepted: November 3, 2023

Article in press: November 3, 2023 Published online: December 16,

WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

autologous mucosa for the prevention of stricture after ESD.

METHODS

This is a prospective, single-center, controlled study. Consecutive patients who underwent ESD surgery and were willing to undergo autologous mucosal transplantation were recruited between January 1 and December 31, 2017. Consecutive patients who underwent ESD surgery and were willing to undergo ADM transplantation were recruited between January 1 to December 31, 2019. A final three-year follow-up of patients who received transplants was conducted.

RESULTS

Based on the current incidence of esophageal stricture, the sample size required for both the autologous mucosal graft group and the ADM group was calculated to be 160 cases. Due to various factors, a total of 20 patients with autologous mucosal grafts and 25 with ADM grafts were recruited. Based on the inclusion exclusion and withdrawal criteria, 9 patients ultimately received autologous mucosal grafts and completed the follow-up, while 11 patients received ADM grafts and completed the follow-up. Finally, there were 2 cases of stenosis in the autologous mucosal transplantation group with a stenosis rate of 22.22% and 2 cases of stenosis in the ADM transplantation group with a stenosis rate of 18.18%, with no significant difference noted between the groups (P = 0.94).

CONCLUSION

In this prospective, single-center, controlled trial, we compared the effectiveness of autologous mucosa transplantation and ADM for the prevention of esophageal stricture. Due to certain condition limitations, we were unable to recruit sufficient subjects meeting our target requirements. However, we implemented strict inclusion, exclusion, and withdrawal criteria and successfully completed three years of follow-up, resulting in valuable clinical insights. Based on our findings, we hypothesize that ADM may be similarly effective to autologous mucosal transplantation in the prevention of esophageal stricture, offering a comparable and alternative approach. This study provides a new therapeutic idea and direction for the prevention of esophageal stricture.

Key Words: Over-the-scope clip; Duodenal subepithelial lesion; Endoscopic resection; Perforation

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Preventing esophageal stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) is a critical challenge in the successful treatment of early esophageal cancer. Acellular dermal matrix (ADM) has recently emerged as a potential solution. This study showed that the preventive effect of ADM on esophageal stricture was comparable to that of autologous mucosa. Despite the study's limited sample size, it includes improved postoperative follow-up and holds clinical significance. The results validate ADM as a viable alternative for preventing esophageal stricture. These findings will potentially revolutionize ESD treatment for early esophageal cancer and provide safer and more accessible options for such patients.

Citation: Fu XY, Jiang ZY, Zhang CY, Shen LY, Yan XD, Li XK, Lin JY, Wang Y, Mao XL, Li SW. New hope for esophageal stricture prevention: A prospective single-center trial on acellular dermal matrix. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2023; 15(12): 725-734 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i12/725.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.725

INTRODUCTION

With the maturity of endoscopic technology, endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) can now be used to remove large lesions and ensure a negative margin to the greatest extent[1], making it the preferred treatment for early esophageal cancer. Esophageal stricture is one of the most common and serious complications after ESD, with an incidence of approximately 37%-92%[2]. Its incidence is affected by many factors, mainly including mucosal resection > 3/4 of the esophagus circumference[3], resection length > 30 mm, muscular propria injury, and deep resection depth[4].

Among these factors, the one most closely related to the incidence of stenosis was found to be the scope of resection. According to reports, the incidence of stenosis in mucosal resection > 3/4 cases is 60%-100%, while the stenosis rate in near-total resection can reach 88%-100%[5]. Patients with esophageal stenosis may have varying degrees of dysphagia in more stenotic cases. In severe cases, nausea and vomiting may occur after eating, resulting in long-term insufficiency in the nutritional intake, water and electrolyte imbalance, cachexia, and even fatal inhalation[6,7], seriously affecting the long-term quality of life of patients. Furthermore, in severe cases, repeated endoscopic esophageal dilation or even surgical intervention may be required[8]. This increases the financial, physical, and psychological burden on patients.

How to prevent esophageal stricture safely and effectively is thus a key issue influencing the ESD-based treatment of early esophageal cancer.

At present, the commonly used measures to prevent stenosis are mainly local or systemic applications of glucocorticoids^[9]. After the application of hormones, the overall incidence of esophageal stricture was 13.5%, thus effectively reducing the incidence of esophageal stricture[6,10]. However, there is a risk of local esophageal perforation or secondary fatal infection, and some patients are contraindicated for hormone application due to their condition, so hormone therapy cannot be used to prevent stricture in all cases.

With the advent of autologous mucosal transplantation technology, relevant studies have explored the effectiveness of mucosal transplantation in preventing esophageal stricture through animal and human experiments[11,12]. However, while the utility of autologous mucosa for preventing esophageal stricture is well-established, autologous mucosal grafts are still subject to many limitations, as the acquisition of autologous mucosa is dependent on the patient and the required slice of mucosal cells, depending on the extent of the lesion. For example, for large lesions, it is necessary to obtain and prepare the appropriate mucosal slices, which can cause secondary damage to the patient. In addition, not all patients are in a condition to accommodate the acquisition and preparation of autologous mucosa. Therefore, such patients may not be able to undergo transplantation and thereby reduce their risk of stenosis.

Several trials have confirmed that cell sheets prepared by culturing oral mucosal cells have the same characteristics as mucosa and can be applied to prevent stenosis. However, the preparation process is time-consuming, which may delay the patient's treatment window and affect the prognosis. Acellular dermal matrix (ADM) is a kind of dermal substitute obtained from the allogeneic dermis after special treatment to remove its cellular components[13]. It is usually made of pig or human skin inactivated by a virus and cobalt-60[14]. It is prepared by sterilization, decellularization, and other processes[14]. The allogeneic dermis that has cellular components removed and retains elastin, keratan sulfate, laminin, and collagen has very low immune activity and will not induce any rejection [15,16]. In addition, studies have shown that ADM can be beneficial for inducing tissue regeneration and promoting cell growth[17]. During this process, ADM is degraded and utilized by local tissues, which is accompanied by the degradation of ADM itself[18]. It is expected to replace autologous mucosa as a graft after ESD for esophageal cancer and thereby prevent the occurrence of esophageal stricture.

Overall, as a novel material, ADM has the potential to replace autologous mucosal grafts for the prevention of esophageal stenosis. This prospective, single-center controlled study investigated the role of ADM as a substitute for autologous mucosa in the prevention of post-cancer surgery stenosis, with an aim to provide a new perspective and approach for the treatment of esophageal stenosis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

This prospective, single-center, controlled study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Taizhou Hospital, Zhejiang Province, under the Institutional Review Board of Wenzhou Medical University (autologous mucosa transplantation approval number: K20190123; ADM transplantation approval number: X20190603). It was registered with the Center for Clinical Trials under registration number ChiCTR200040119.

Inclusion criteria: A preoperative chromoendoscopy assessment meeting the surgical indications; lesion circumference > 1/2; endoscopic treatment under general anesthesia able to be tolerated; agreed to accept inclusion in the clinical trial and sign the informed consent form for the operation.

Exclusion criteria: Eating disorders and absorption disorders with other causes; complication with diabetes and autoimmune diseases or a recent history of taking hormones and immunosuppressants; a history of serious cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, serious liver and kidney insufficiency, or serious chronic lung diseases; acute or chronic infection.

Exit criteria: Postoperative pathological results indicating the need for further surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy, or other treatments; severe postoperative stenosis with a poor effect of repeated endoscopic catheter dilation, necessitating radial esophagotomy and surgery; withdrawing from the trial or being lost to follow-up for any reason; patient death.

At the follow-up evaluation, cases with difficulty swallowing and endoscopy showing that the gastroscope could not pass smoothly through the narrowest part, requiring intervention such as endoscopic dilation therapy, were defined as having postoperative stenosis.

Operation details

The surgery was performed using an Olympus GIF-Q260J gastroscope (Olympus Corporation, Japan), high-frequency electric generator, needle-type incision knife, terminal insulated scalpel (IT knife), triangular terminal scalpel (TT knife), trap, and thermal biopsy forceps.

Eligible patients underwent routine ESD and postoperative stenting. At the same time, autologous mucosal transplantation and ADM transplantation were performed for patients in need. Figure 1 illustrates the surgical procedure in brief. Postoperative fasting was performed for 1 to 2 d, and proton pump inhibitor injections were performed for 3 d. Cases with no gastrointestinal bleeding or esophageal perforation were discharged for follow-up. The stent was removed 1 wk after the operation, and gastroscopy was rechecked at 2 wk and 1 and 6 mo to judge whether or not the ESD wound





DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.725 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Operation process of 5/6 periesophageal endoscopic mucosal dissection resection combined with autologous esophageal mucosal transplantation and esophageal covered stent implantation. A: Lugol fluid was sprayed on the whole esophageal mucosa; B: Endoscopic mucosal dissection was performed, and the wound after resection showed an annular mucosal defect; C: The cancerous tissue was removed; D: At the selected normal esophageal mucosa, the mucosa to be transplanted was removed by endoscopic mucosal resection using a polycyclic mucosal resection device; E: A titanium clip was used to secure the excised normal mucosa to the endoscopically peeled mucosal wound; F: The esophageal covered stent was implanted into the compressed transplanted mucosa.

was stenotic using a standard gastroscope entering the gastric cavity to check the survival of the grafted mucosa. Esophageal stenosis was defined as the inability of an Olympus GIF-Q260J gastroscope (with a diameter of 9.9 mm) to pass through the narrow area.

RESULTS

Based on the current incidence of esophageal stricture, a sample of 160 cases was calculated to be required for both the autologous mucosal graft group and the ADM group. A total of 20 patients were recruited in the autologous mucosal transplantation group during the recruitment period from January 1 to December 31, 2017, and a total of 13 patients met the inclusion criteria (excluding 1 with a lesion circumference < 1/2, 1 who refused to sign the informed consent form, 2 with reflux esophagitis, 2 with chronic hepatitis, and 1 with coronary artery disease); of these, 2 patients requested to withdraw from the trial after surgery, 2 were lost to follow-up, and 9 were ultimately included and completed the follow-up.

During the patient recruitment period for the ADM group from January 1 to December 31, 2019, 25 patients were recruited, of whom 14 met the inclusion criteria (excluding 2 with a lesion circumference < 1/2, 3 with reflux esophagitis, 1 with chronic hepatitis, 1 with coronary artery disease, 1 with reflux esophagitis, and 3 with recent aspirin or hormone use), and 3 were lost to follow-up; thus, a total of 11 patients were included and completed the follow-up.

The flow chart is shown in Figure 2. A total of 20 patients in the two groups included in the analysis had completed ESD surgery and follow-up, including 14 males and 6 females, with a mean age of 63.85 ± 7.66 years old and a median age of 64 years old. Four of the patients had hypertension, with the rest showing no other remarkable medical history, and 10 cases had a lesion circumference $\geq 3/4$, while another 10 had a circumference of 1/2 to 3/4. There were 3 cases with a lesion length of 1 to 3 cm and 17 with a lesion length of ≥ 3 cm. Six cases of stage IIa, three stage IIb, four stage IIc, and six stage IIa + IIc were analyzed endoscopically; seven cases showed an infiltration depth to the mucosal layer, three to the lamina propria, five to the myxomucosa, and four to the submucosa. Four patients had stenosis after surgery, with a stenosis rate of 20.00%, including 2 patients in the autologous mucosa group with a stenosis rate of 22.22% and a mean



Figure 2 Flow chart of patient inclusion.

follow-up period of 39.67 ± 2.79 d and 2 patients in the ADM group with a stenosis rate of 18.18% and a mean follow-up period of 43.16 ± 1.77 d (*P* = 0.94).

Specific details concerning the enrolled patients are shown in Table 1. The comparison between the autologous mucosa group and the ADM group is shown in Table 2.

DISCUSSION

The main components of ADM are collagen and other extracellular matrices, and after modification, it has suitable pore size, porosity, and mechanical strength[19]. It is a scaffold-like repair material with a three-dimensional spatial structure [20]. A large number of studies have confirmed that ADM can induce vascularization and promote cell growth and proliferation when used in the repair of tissues and organs and has good histocompatibility and a low inflammatory response [17,21-23]. Because ADM retains its complete matrix structure and has a unique three-dimensional spatial structure[24], when transplanted into wound repair, it can achieve clinical effects equivalent to autologous full-thickness skin grafting, mainly because ADM plays the role of the dermis when repairing wounds[25]. As a template, ADM can function as a scaffold for cell growth. When ADM is used as an implant, a physical barrier layer can be formed locally to prevent tissue adhesion and pathological proliferation in the local wound so that different tissues can independently complete their healing processes[25].

Some studies have reported the use of ADM as an implant barrier to prevent Frey's syndrome after parotidectomy[26, 27], with none of the implants showing rejection reactions. The iodine G-starch test was used one year after surgery, and only two cases were positive, showing a significant difference from the control group[26]. ADM also covers wounds and fills tissue defects. The suitable structure, performance, and function of ADM are a strong guarantee of its utility as a bioremediation material.

ADM has received much attention and been widely used in clinical practice, such as in the repair of burn wounds[28], breast reconstruction[29], and oral mucosa repair[30]. In addition, as a new medical material, it can be degraded and absorbed by the human body. The process of degradation and absorption promotes the regeneration of the patient's own tissues and reduces the occurrence of inflammation. In theory, it can also completely replace autogenous mucosa[18,31].

Compared to ADM, autologous mucosa requires a longer preparation time, which can delay treatment and result in a poor prognosis. In addition, the mucosa can be obtained and prepared in such a way that it can cause secondary damage to the patient, which can be aggravated if the lesion is large; at the same time, since the autologous mucosa is taken from the patient, the quality of the mucosa can be affected if the patient has more underlying diseases, thus affecting the outcome. In addition, if the patient is unable to donate mucosa for the preparation of a mucosal sheet for grafting, the mucosa cannot be grafted postoperatively to prevent stenosis. It has been reported that the same effect can be achieved by preparing mucosal slices from autologous oral mucosa culture. Although this approach reduces the damage and impact caused by the patient's own factors, it also requires a relatively long preparation time.

For early-stage esophageal cancer, early surgery is necessary to obtain a better prognosis. The use of ADM overcomes these issues. The preparation of ADM is not dependent on the patient, so it is not affected by the patient's own condition and does not delay treatment. Furthermore, since the components of the cells that cause the body's immune response are removed, there is basically no immune response.

Snishideng® WJGE https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Basic information of 20 patients

Participant	Age (yr)	Gender	Endoscopic morphology	Trauma length (cm)	Circumference of the wound	Infiltration depth	Postoperative stenosis	Occurrence of stenosis time (d)	Number of ADM used (slices)	Follow- up time (mo)	Graft mucosa survival
1	63	Male	IIa + IIc	6	2/3	Mucosal muscle layer	No	No	0	44.13	Yes
2	63	Male	IIb	5	3/4	Submucosa	No	No	0	42.73	Yes
3	58	Male	IIb	2	1/2	Mucosal muscle layer	No	No	0	40.87	Yes
4	67	Male	IIa	4	1/2	Mucosa layer	No	No	0	39.93	Yes
5	73	Female	IIb	4	4/5	Mucosal muscle layer	No	No	0	39.70	Yes
6	58	Male	IIa + IIc	5	1	Superficial submucosa	No	No	0	38.77	Yes
7	69	Female	IIa	6	4/5	Mucosal layer	No	No	0	38.53	Yes
8	69	Female	IIa	5	3/4	Mucosal layer	Yes	98	0	37.83	Yes
9	56	Male	IIa + IIc	8	1	Submucosa	Yes	44	0	34.57	Yes
10	56	Male	IIa	2	2/3	Mucosal layer	No	No	1	44.90	Yes
11	65	Male	IIa + IIc	3	2/3	Mucosal muscle superficial layer	No	No	1	44.90	Yes
12	60	Male	IIc	3	2/3	Mucosal lamina propria	No	No	1	44.43	Yes
13	73	Male	IIc	5	3/5	Mucosal lamina propria	No	No	1	43.97	Yes
14	49	Male	IIc	3	1/2	Mucosal layer	No	No	1	43.97	Yes
15	73	Female	IIa	5	3/5	Mucosal muscle layer	Yes	41	4	43.50	Yes
16	66	Male	IIc	2	4/5	Mucosal layer	No	No	1	43.03	Yes
17	78	Male	IIa + IIc	5	3/4	Mucosal layer	No	No	3	42.57	Yes
18	61	Female	IIa	3	1/2	Mucosal layer	No	No	1	42.57	Yes
19	52	Female	IIa	10	1	Submucosa	Yes	62	4	42.33	Yes
20	68	Male	IIa + IIc	6	1	Mucosal lamina propria	No	No	1	38.60	Yes

ADM: Acellular dermal matrix.

Baisbideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Analysis of lesions in the autologous mucosal transplantation group and acellular dermal matrix transplantation group							
	Group 1 (<i>n</i> = 9)	Group 2 (<i>n</i> = 11)	<i>P</i> value				
Gender			0.77				
Male	6	8					
Female	3	3					
Age			0.94				
≥60 yr	3	4					
< 60 yr	6	7					
Wound circumference			0.23				
1/2-3/4 circumference	3	7					
3/4-full circumference	6	4					
Wound length			0.22				
< 10 mm	0	0					
10-30 mm	1	2					
> 30 mm	8	9					
Endoscopic morphology			0.81				
Па	3	3					
IIb	3	0					
IIc	0	4					
IIa + IIc	3	3					
Invasion depth			0.19				
Mucosal layer	3	4					
Lamina propria	0	3					
Muscularis mucosa	3	2					
Submucosa	3	1					
Follow-up time (mo)	39.67 (34.57-44.13)	43.16 (38.60-44.90)	0.52				

Group 1: Autologous mucous membrane transplantation group; Group 2: Acellular dermal matrix transplantation group.

Given the above, ADM seems to have the same potential as autologous mucosa to prevent esophageal stricture, but no reports or studies on the use of ADM to prevent stricture after human esophageal ESD have yet been published. The present study was conducted to verify the utility of ADM to prevent esophageal stricture in a prospective manner. A total of 9 patients with autologous mucosal grafts and 11 with ADM grafts were enrolled in the study and followed for approximately 3 years with a mean follow-up time of 41.59 mo. There were 2 cases of stenosis in the autologous mucosa, with a stenosis rate of 22.22%, and 2 cases of stenosis in the ADM graft group, with a stenosis rate of 18.18%, with no marked difference noted between the groups (P = 0.94). In this prospective study, strict inclusion and exclusion criteria were established during the experimental design phase, and by estimating the sample size, a sample of 160 cases per group was deemed to be required if the effects of autologous mucosal transplantation and ADM transplantation were to be compared. A total of 20 patients willing to receive autologous mucosal transplantation; a total of 25 patients willing to receive ADM transplantation were recruited from January 1 to December 31, 2017, and 9 patients received autologous mucosal transplantation; a total of 25 patients willing to receive ADM transplantation. All of these patients completed a three-year follow-up.

During recruitment, the study failed to enroll sufficient patients who completed the three-year follow-up as required by the trial. Only 9 patients in the autologous mucosa group and 11 patients in the ADM group completed the 3-year follow-up, which is insufficient to draw definitive conclusions. While the stenosis rate did not differ significantly between the groups, it is less than the 37% stenosis rate noted in the relevant study[2]. While it has been shown to have some effect in preventing esophageal stricture, the effect of ADM remains unknown[12,32]. Based on the above results, we can speculate that ADM may exert some preventive effects against esophageal stricture, and its effects may be comparable to those of autologous mucosa. However, due to the many limitations of this trial, including the recruitment of an insufficient number of subjects, the results should be interpreted with caution.

Raishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

CONCLUSION

Future studies using our established strict inclusion and exclusion criteria and improved follow-up may provide new insight into the prevention of esophageal stricture.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Mucosal autograft transplantation has been reported to be effective in preventing esophageal stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) for esophageal cancer.

Research motivation

The preparation of autologous mucosa is an intricate process that demands a significant amount of time, potentially delaying the treatment of diseases. It is imperative to explore potential substitutes for autologous mucosa.

Research objectives

The efficacy of acellular dermal matrix (ADM) in preventing esophageal stricture is equivalent to that of autologous mucosal transplantation and has a substitutive effect.

Research methods

This is a prospective, single-center controlled study. Patients who underwent ESD surgery and were willing to undergo autologous mucosal transplantation and ADM transplantation were consecutively recruited for the study. A three-year follow-up was conducted for the transplanted patients.

Research results

Autologous mucosal grafts and ADM grafts demonstrated no significant differences in preventing esophageal stenosis, exhibiting similar preventive effects against esophageal narrowing.

Research conclusions

ADM possesses the potential to prevent esophageal stricture, exhibiting comparable preventative efficacy to autologous mucosal grafts while providing substitutive benefits.

Research perspectives

We shall persist in our research endeavors, enlisting additional participants to further validate the efficacy of ADM in preventing esophageal stricture. This shall furnish a multitude of options and avenues towards the treatment of esophageal stenosis.

FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Xin-Yu Fu and Zhen-Yu Jiang.

Co-corresponding authors: Shao-Wei Li and Xin-Li Mao.

Author contributions: Fu XY, Zhang CY, Lin JY, Yan XD, Li XK, Wang Y, and Mao XL participated in the design of the study and performed the statistical analysis; Fu XY, Jiang ZY, Zhang CY, Lin JY, and Li SW drafted the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by Medical Health Science and Technology Project of Zhejiang Province, No. 2021PY083, 2019KY239; Program of Taizhou Science and Technology Grant, No. 23ywa33; Major Research Program of Taizhou Enze Medical Center Grant, No. 19EZZDA2; Open Fund of Key Laboratory of Key Laboratory of Minimally Invasive Techniques & Rapid Rehabilitation of Digestive System Tumor of Zhejiang Province, No. 21SZDSYS01 and No. 21SZDSYS09; Program of Taizhou Enze Medical Center Grant, No. 22EZD06.

Institutional review board statement: This prospective, single-center, controlled study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Taizhou Hospital, Zhejiang Province, under the Institutional Review Board of Wenzhou Medical University (autologous mucosa transplantation approval number: K20190123; ADM transplantation approval number: X20190603).

Clinical trial registration statement: The study was registered with the Center for Clinical Trials under registration number ChiCTR200040119.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided written consent prior to study enrollment.



WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict interests to disclose.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

CONSORT 2010 statement: The authors have read the CONSORT Statement - checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CONSORT Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Xiao-Dan Yan 0000-0002-1493-6817; Yi Wang 0000-0002-9817-1769; Xin-Li Mao 0000-0003-4548-1867; Shao-Wei Li 0000-0002-3276-1037.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Bourke MJ, Neuhaus H, Bergman JJ. Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection: Indications and Application in Western Endoscopy Practice. 1 Gastroenterology 2018; 154: 1887-1900.e5 [PMID: 29486200 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.01.068]
- 2 Isomoto H, Yamaguchi N, Nakayama T, Hayashi T, Nishiyama H, Ohnita K, Takeshima F, Shikuwa S, Kohno S, Nakao K. Management of esophageal stricture after complete circular endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. BMC Gastroenterol 2011; 11: 46 [PMID: 21542926 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-11-46]
- Uno K, Iijima K, Koike T, Shimosegawa T. Useful strategies to prevent severe stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial 3 esophageal neoplasm. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 7120-7133 [PMID: 26109798 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i23.7120]
- Miwata T, Oka S, Tanaka S, Kagemoto K, Sanomura Y, Urabe Y, Hiyama T, Chayama K. Risk factors for esophageal stenosis after entire 4 circumferential endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Surg Endosc 2016; 30: 4049-4056 [PMID: 26703127 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-015-4719-3]
- 5 Oliveira JF, Moura EG, Bernardo WM, Ide E, Cheng S, Sulbaran M, Santos CM, Sakai P. Prevention of esophageal stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Surg Endosc 2016; 30: 2779-2791 [PMID: 26487197 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-015-4551-9]
- Chian KS, Leong MF, Kono K. Regenerative medicine for oesophageal reconstruction after cancer treatment. Lancet Oncol 2015; 16: e84-e92 6 [PMID: 25638684 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70410-3]
- Ohki T, Yamato M, Ota M, Takagi R, Murakami D, Kondo M, Sasaki R, Namiki H, Okano T, Yamamoto M. Prevention of esophageal 7 stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection using tissue-engineered cell sheets. Gastroenterology 2012; 143: 582-588.e2 [PMID: 22561054 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.04.050]
- 8 Bhatt A, Mehta NA. Stricture prevention after esophageal endoscopic submucosal dissection. Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 92: 1187-1189 [PMID: 33236991 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.07.005]
- 9 Bartel MJ, Mousa OY, Brahmbhatt B, Coffman DL, Patel K, Repici A, Tokar JL, Wolfsen HC, Wallace MB. Impact of topical budesonide on prevention of esophageal stricture after mucosal resection. Gastrointest Endosc 2021; 93: 1276-1282 [PMID: 33309653 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.11.026
- Yang J, Wang X, Li Y, Lu G, Lu X, Guo D, Wang W, Liu C, Xiao Y, Han N, He S. Efficacy and safety of steroid in the prevention of 10 esophageal stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection: A network meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 34: 985-995 [PMID: 30566746 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.14580]
- Hochberger J, Koehler P, Wedi E, Gluer S, Rothstein RI, Niemann H, Hilfiker A, Gonzalez S, Kruse E. Transplantation of mucosa from 11 stomach to esophagus to prevent stricture after circumferential endoscopic submucosal dissection of early squamous cell. Gastroenterology 2014; 146: 906-909 [PMID: 24512802 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.01.063]
- Liao Z, Liao G, Yang X, Peng X, Zhang X, Xie X, Zhao X, Yang S, Fan C, Bai J. Transplantation of autologous esophageal mucosa to prevent 12 stricture after circumferential endoscopic submucosal dissection of early esophageal cancer (with video). Gastrointest Endosc 2018; 88: 543-546 [PMID: 29704471 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2018.04.2349]
- Ohki T, Yamato M, Ota M, Takagi R, Kondo M, Kanai N, Okano T, Yamamoto M. Application of regenerative medical technology using 13 tissue-engineered cell sheets for endoscopic submucosal dissection of esophageal neoplasms. Dig Endosc 2015; 27: 182-188 [PMID: 25181559 DOI: 10.1111/den.12354]
- Liu X, Dan N, Dan W. Preparation and characterization of an advanced collagen aggregate from porcine acellular dermal matrix. Int J Biol 14 Macromol 2016; 88: 179-188 [PMID: 27039117 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.03.066]
- Holl J, Pawlukianiec C, Corton Ruiz J, Groth D, Grubczak K, Hady HR, Dadan J, Reszec J, Czaban S, Kowalewski C, Moniuszko M, 15 Eljaszewicz A. Skin Substitute Preparation Method Induces Immunomodulatory Changes in Co-Incubated Cells through Collagen Modification. Pharmaceutics 2021; 13 [PMID: 34959443 DOI: 10.3390/pharmaceutics13122164]
- 16 Takami Y, Matsuda T, Yoshitake M, Hanumadass M, Walter RJ. Dispase/detergent treated dermal matrix as a dermal substitute. Burns 1996; 22: 182-190 [PMID: 8726254 DOI: 10.1016/0305-4179(95)00123-9]



- Chen X, Yang R, Wang J, Ruan S, Lin Z, Xin Q, Xie J. Porcine acellular dermal matrix accelerates wound healing through miR-124-3p.1 and 17 miR-139-5p. Cytotherapy 2020; 22: 494-502 [PMID: 32571650 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2020.04.042]
- Wang Y, Lu F, Hu E, Yu K, Li J, Bao R, Dai F, Lan G, Xie R. Biogenetic Acellular Dermal Matrix Maintaining Rich Interconnected 18 Microchannels for Accelerated Tissue Amendment. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2021; 13: 16048-16061 [PMID: 33813831 DOI: 10.1021/acsami.1c00420]
- Xing H, Lee H, Luo L, Kyriakides TR. Extracellular matrix-derived biomaterials in engineering cell function. Biotechnol Adv 2020; 42: 19 107421 [PMID: 31381963 DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2019.107421]
- Kirsner RS, Bohn G, Driver VR, Mills JL Sr, Nanney LB, Williams ML, Wu SC. Human acellular dermal wound matrix: evidence and 20 experience. Int Wound J 2015; 12: 646-654 [PMID: 24283346 DOI: 10.1111/iwj.12185]
- 21 Wang X, Liu Y, Deng Z, Dong R, Hu S, Li Y, Jin Y. Inhibition of dermal fibrosis in self-assembled skin equivalents by undifferentiated keratinocytes. J Dermatol Sci 2009; 53: 103-111 [PMID: 18990546 DOI: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2008.08.010]
- 22 Lin W, Qi X, Guo W, Liang D, Chen H, Lin B, Deng X. A barrier against reactive oxygen species: chitosan/acellular dermal matrix scaffold enhances stem cell retention and improves cutaneous wound healing. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020; 11: 383 [PMID: 32894204 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-020-01901-6
- Henn D, Chen K, Fehlmann T, Trotsyuk AA, Sivaraj D, Maan ZN, Bonham CA Jr, Barrera JA, Mays CJ, Greco AH, Moortgat Illouz SE, Lin 23 JQ, Steele SR, Foster DS, Padmanabhan J, Momeni A, Nguyen D, Wan DC, Kneser U, Januszyk M, Keller A, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Xenogeneic skin transplantation promotes angiogenesis and tissue regeneration through activated Trem²(+) macrophages. Sci Adv 2021; 7: eabi4528 [PMID: 34851663 DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.abi4528]
- Chocarro-Wrona C, López-Ruiz E, Perán M, Gálvez-Martín P, Marchal JA. Therapeutic strategies for skin regeneration based on biomedical 24 substitutes. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33: 484-496 [PMID: 30520159 DOI: 10.1111/jdv.15391]
- Xue M, Jackson CJ. Extracellular Matrix Reorganization During Wound Healing and Its Impact on Abnormal Scarring. Adv Wound Care (New 25 Rochelle) 2015; 4: 119-136 [PMID: 25785236 DOI: 10.1089/wound.2013.0485]
- Clayman MA, Clayman LZ. Use of AlloDerm as a barrier to treat chronic Frey's syndrome. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2001; 124: 687 26 [PMID: 11391262 DOI: 10.1177/019459980112400617]
- Ye L, Cao Y, Yang W, Wu F, Lin J, Li L, Li C. Graft interposition for preventing Frey's syndrome in patients undergoing parotidectomy. 27 Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019; 10: CD012323 [PMID: 31578708 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012323.pub2]
- Almeida IR, Gonçalves AC, Corrêa FB, Castro JCD, Guirro ECO, Junior JAF, Coltro PS. Evaluation of Clinical and Biomechanical Features 28 of Scars Resulting from the Treatment of Burn Contractures Comparing Acellular Dermal Matrices: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Ann Surg 2022 [DOI: 10.1097/sla.00000000005371]
- 29 Abd Elwahab SM, Lowery AJ, Kerin MJ. Comment on "Implant-Based Breast Reconstruction With Acellular Dermal Matrix. Safety Data From an Open-Label, Multicenter, Randomized, Controlled Trial in the Setting of Breast Cancer Treatment". Ann Surg 2020; 271: e106 [PMID: 32197006 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000003609]
- Lissek M, Boeker M, Happe A. How Thick Is the Oral Mucosa around Implants after Augmentation with Different Materials: A Systematic 30 Review of the Effectiveness of Substitute Matrices in Comparison to Connective Tissue Grafts. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 32708901 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21145043]
- Lohmander F, Lagergren J, Johansson H, Roy PG, Brandberg Y, Frisell J. Effect of Immediate Implant-Based Breast Reconstruction After 31 Mastectomy With and Without Acellular Dermal Matrix Among Women With Breast Cancer: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Netw Open 2021; 4: e2127806 [PMID: 34596671 DOI: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.27806]
- Chai N, Zou J, Linghu E, Chai M, Li L, Wang X, Zhang W, Xiang J, Li Z. Autologous Skin-Grafting Surgery to Prevent Esophageal Stenosis 32 After Complete Circular Endoscopic Submucosal Tunnel Dissection for Superficial Esophageal Neoplasms. Am J Gastroenterol 2019; 114: 822-825 [PMID: 30882422 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.000000000000169]



WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

E WŰ

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 December 16; 15(12): 735-744

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.735

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Clinical usefulness of linked color imaging in identifying Helicobacter pylori infection: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Yu Zhang, Jing-Zhai Wang, Xuan Bai, Peng-Li Zhang, Qiang Guo

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Neri V, Italy; Suzuki H, Japan; Vorobjova T, Estonia

Received: August 29, 2023 Peer-review started: August 29, 2023 First decision: October 10, 2023 Revised: October 31, 2023

Accepted: November 24, 2023 Article in press: November 24, 2023 Published online: December 16. 2023



Yu Zhang, Jing-Zhai Wang, Xuan Bai, Peng-Li Zhang, Department of Gastroenterology, The First People's Hospital of Yunnan Province, Affiliated Hospital of Kunming University of Science and Technology, Kunming 650000, Yunnan Province, China

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal*

Endoscopy

Yu Zhang, Jing-Zhai Wang, Xuan Bai, Peng-Li Zhang, Qiang Guo, Yunnan Digestive Endoscopy Clinical Medical Center, Kunming 650000, Yunnan Province, China

Qiang Guo, Department of Gastr-oenterology, The First People's Hospital of Yunnan Province, Affiliated Hospital of Kunming University of Science and Technology, Kunming 650000, Yunnan Province, China

Corresponding author: Qiang Guo, MD, Chief Physician, Department of Gastroenterology, The First People's Hospital of Yunnan Province, Affiliated Hospital of Kunming University of Science and Technology, No. 157 Jinbi Road, Kunming 650000, Yunnan Province, China. gqkj003@sina.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Accurate diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection status is a crucial premise for eradication therapy, as well as evaluation of risk for gastric cancer. Recent progress on imaging enhancement endoscopy (IEE) made it possible to not only detect precancerous lesions and early gastrointestinal cancers but also to predict H. pylori infection in real time. As a novel IEE modality, linked color imaging (LCI) has exhibited its value on diagnosis of lesions of gastric mucosa through emphasizing minor differences of color tone.

AIM

To compare the efficacy of LCI for *H. pylori* active infection vs conventional white light imaging (WLI).

METHODS

PubMed, Embase, Embase and Cochrane Library were searched up to the end of April 11, 2022. The random-effects model was adopted to calculate the diagnostic efficacy of LCI and WLI. The calculation of sensitivity, specificity, and likelihood ratios were performed; symmetric receiver operator characteristic (SROC) curves and the areas under the SROC curves were computed. Quality of the included studies was chosen to assess using the quality assessment of diagnostic accuracy studies-2 tool.



RESULTS

Seven original studies were included in this study. The pooled sensitivity, specificity, positive likelihood rate, and negative likelihood rate of LCI for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection of gastric mucosa were 0.85 [95% confidence interval (CI): 0.76-0.92], 0.82 (95% CI: 0.78-0.85), 4.71 (95% CI: 3.7-5.9), and 0.18 (95% CI: 0.10-0.31) respectively, with diagnostic odds ratio = 26 (95% CI: 13-52), SROC = 0.87 (95% CI: 0.84-0.90), which showed superiority of diagnostic efficacy compared to WLI.

CONCLUSION

Our results showed LCI can improve efficacy of diagnosis on *H. pylori* infection, which represents a useful endoscopic evaluation modality for clinical practice.

Key Words: Helicobacter pylori infection; Endoscopic diagnosis; Linked color imaging; Gastric cancer; Meta-analysis

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: As a novel imaging enhancement endoscopy modality, linked color imaging (LCI) has exhibited its value on diagnosis of lesions of gastric mucosa through emphasizing minor differences of color tone. In this meta-analysis enrolled seven clinical trials, we showed LCI can improve efficacy of diagnosis on *Helicobacter pylori* infection compared with white light endoscopy, which represents a useful endoscopic evaluation modality for clinical practice.

Citation: Zhang Y, Wang JZ, Bai X, Zhang PL, Guo Q. Clinical usefulness of linked color imaging in identifying *Helicobacter pylori* infection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2023; 15(12): 735-744 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i12/735.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.735

INTRODUCTION

Growing evidences has supported the predominant role of *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) infection in development of gastric cancer, since World Health Organization designated *H. pylori* a type 1 carcinogen in 1993. It has been widely accepted that *H. pylori* infection leads to the progressive way from chronic atrophic gastritis, intestinal metaplasia, to dysplasia[1]. Moreover, prolonged infection with *H. pylori* cause inflammation, abnormal cell proliferation, release of bacterial virulence factors, and nitrate reduction, all of which contribute to the development of gastric cancer[1]. Recent random controlled trials and meta-analysis have verified that *H. pylori* eradication therapy appears to reduce new-onset gastric cancer[2-5]. Therefore, from the perspective of clinical practice, it is important to make diagnosis accurately of active *H. pylori* infection by endoscopic observation with the prevalence of gastroscopy screening in population.

The Kyoto classification of gastritis was advocated in 2013 to evaluate the gastric background mucosa by endoscopic features, eventually to assess the risk of developing gastric cancer[6,7]. Some typical endoscopic findings of gastric mucosa have been literally associated to active *H. pylori* infection, including diffuse redness, gooseflesh-like nodularity in antrum, and enlarged folds, while regular arrangement of collecting venules presents a sign of non-infection status of *H. pylori* [8-10]. With the advances of endoscopic techniques, it is feasible to make diagnosis of presence or absence of active *H. pylori* infection of stomach by using conventional white light imaging (WLI) and imaging enhancement endoscopy (IEE).

Linked color imaging (LCI) is a novel mode of IEE recently launched by FUJIFILM Corporation (Tokyo, Japan), which uses a color tone like WLI by emphasizing minute differences in mucosal colors[11]. In common, mucosal lesions seen in red or white by WLI get redder or whiter under LCI endoscopy, thereby making the lesions more visible during screening. Growing studies have demonstrated that LCI endoscopy can obviously improve the visibility of diffuse redness, map-like redness as well as atrophy and intestinal metaplasia, thus showing the reliability of LCI in recognition of gastritis and early gastric cancer[12-14]. Meanwhile, studies have also conducted to evaluate the diagnostic effect of LCI endoscopy on *H. pylori* infection status. *H. pylori* infected mucosa is redder than other uninfected areas due to post-inflammatory congestion and oedema[15]. Compared to WLI, this difference in coloration was amplified by LCI, which may lead to easier identification of lesions suspected of *H. pylori* infection by the endoscopist, increasing the accuracy of the diagnosis for *H. pylori* infection. However, the difference between WLI and LCI for *H. pylori* diagnostic rates remains unknown. Hence in current study, we aim to assess the diagnostic value of LCI for *H. pylori* active compared to WLI by performing a meta-analysis, to provide evidences for extending the clinical application of LCI endoscopy.

Raishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Literature search strategy

Online English literatures were searched using electronic literature databases including PubMed, Embase, Cochrane and Web of Science. The cut-off time of the articles published was set on April 15, 2022. The keywords used in literature search were "linked color imaging" and "*Helicobacter pylori* infection" as well as their corresponding abbreviations.

Study inclusion and exclusion

Literature reviews, letters, meeting abstracts, case reports were not included. In addition, duplicated data records were also excluded. In all included studies, the diagnosis of *H. pylori* active infection under LCI endoscopy was eventually determined by rapid urease test which is the most common test for diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection. There were no restrictions in terms of the age or sex of study participants.

Data extraction and quality assessment

Data extracted from each study mainly included the following information: First author, year of publication, country, study design, object of research, number of cases, endoscopic system, and test parameters (true positive, false positive, false negative, and true negative). The first and second authors screened the enrolled studies and extracted relevant data. When critical data was not clearly stated, it would be resolved through discussion with the corresponding author.

Risk of bias assessment

The quality assessment tool of diagnostic tests, the quality assessment of diagnostic accuracy studies-2 was used to evaluate the risk of bias[16]. The scale comprises assessment of risk of bias and applicability. The risk-of-bias assessment is composed of patient selection, evaluated tests, the criterion and patient flow and progress. The applicability assessment included 3 aspects: Patient selection, evaluated tests and the golden criterion. In each aspect, the of bias was defined as "high", "low", or "unclear".

Statistical analysis

The "midas" command of Stata 15.0 (StataCorp LLC, College Station, TX) was used to fit the two-variable mixed-effect model, and the point estimates of the sensitivity, specificity, positive likelihood ratio, negative likelihood ratio, and diagnostic ratio and their corresponding 95% confidence interval (CI) in each group were combined to draw the comprehensive subject working characteristics [symmetric receiver operator characteristic (SROC)], area under the curve (AUC) and its 95%CI were calculated. The Deek's funnel plot was used to determine publication bias, and *Q* statistics and *I*² statistics were used to determine whether there was heterogeneity between studies. Levels of 0%-25%, 26%-50%, 51%-75% and more than 75% indicate insignificant, low, moderate, and high heterogeneity respectively. *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Searched literatures and bias risk

We initially searched 94 articles including 25 in PubMed, 16 in Embase, 19 in Cochrane, and 34 in Web of Science. Careful review of the title and abstract and full-text reading were performed independently by two reviewers and the Kappa value was calculated as 0.849. Finally, 7 research articles were selected[17-23] (Table 1). Of them, two studies evaluated the diagnostic effect of LCI by computer-aided diagnosis system (CAD) and artificial intelligence (AI) but not by endoscopist. The specific literature screening process for the included studies is shown in Figure 1. The assessment of bias risk is shown in Figure 2. Of the seven included studies, two were case-free, so there was some bias on patient selection. In addition, in the study performed by Sun *et al*[21], both measures were tested interchangeably in the same group, and the outcome data were not completely distinguished.

WLI has moderate effect on detecting active H. pylori infection of gastric mucosa

For the overall detection effect on active *H. pylori* infection in the enrolled studies, WLI endoscopy had a moderate effect of diagnosis with a heterogeneity ($l^2 = 97$) by pooled sensitivity = 0.63 (95%CI: 0.46-0.77) (Figure 3A), pooled specificity = 0.73 (95%CI: 0.66-0.78) (Figure 3B), positive likelihood rate (PLR) = 2.32 (95%CI: 1.8-3.0) (Figure 3C, Supplementary Figure 1C), and negative likelihood rate (NLR) = 0.51 (95%CI: 0.34-0.76) (Figure 3C, Supplementary Figure 1C). The posterior probability was calculated by plotting Fagan diagram assuming the anterior probability was 50%. When *H. pylori* infection was diagnosed based on WLI, the probability of confirming *H. pylori* infection was 70%. In the case of negative results, the probability of *H. pylori* infection was 34% (Figure 3C). In addition, the diagnostic odds ratio (DOR) was 5 (95%CI: 2-9), and SROC was 0.75 (95%CI: 0.71-0.78) (Figure 3D). The Deeks' funnel plot was used to evaluate publication bias. The *P* value was calculated as 0.12 which indicates the risk of publication bias is not significant (Supplementary Figure 1A). The high heterogeneity existed among the studies with $l^2 = 97$ (95%CI: 94-99). The further bivariate box-type diagram showed that two of the seven included studies (10 groups) fell outside the box-type diagram suggesting the two studies might be the main source of heterogeneity, The high heterogeneity of the enrolled publications may be caused by the small sample size, study type and study population (Supplementary Figure 1B).

Table 1 Characteristics of the enrolled studies

Ref.	Country	Trial design	Participants (M/F)	Mean age (yr)	Definitive test for <i>H.</i> pylori	Cases of <i>H. pylori</i> infection
Lee <i>et al</i> [19], 2020	United Kingdom	Single center, prospective	100 (58/42)	51.2	RUT	37
Ono <i>et al</i> [20], 2020	Japan	Multiple centers, prospective	127 (66/61)	62.4	UBT, serum antibody test	64
Wang et al[23], 2019	China	Single center, retrospective	103 (42/61)	48.0	RUT, histological staining	27
Dohi <i>et al</i> [22], 2016	Japan	Single center, retrospective	60 (37/23)	67.4	RUT, UBT, serum antibody test	30
Nakashima et al[17], 2020	Japan	Single center, prospective	120 (-)	57.2	UBT, serum antibody test	40
Nakashima et al [18] , 2018	Japan	Single center, prospective	120 (-)	-	Serum H. pylori, IgG test	60
Sun <i>et al</i> [<mark>21</mark>], 2019	China	RCT	Group A: 127 (66/61)	47.2	RUT, histological staining	64
			Group B: 126 (68/58)	49.7		57

H. pylori: Helicobacter pylori; RUT: Rapid urease test; UBT: Urea breath test; IgG: Immunoglobulin G; RCT: Randomised controlled trial; M/F: Male/female.



Figure 1 Flow diagram of specific literature searching process.

LCI exhibits better diagnostic value of H. pylori infection compared to WLI

The sensitivity, specificity, PLR, and NLR of LCI endoscopy for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection of gastric mucosa were 0.85 (95%CI: 0.76-0.92) (Figure 4A), 0.82 (95%CI: 0.78-0.85) (Figure 4B), 4.71 (95%CI: 3.7-5.9) (Figure 4C, Supplementary Figure 2C), and 0.18 (95% CI: 0.10-0.31) (Figure 4C, Supplementary Figure 2C) respectively. The posterior probability was calculated by plotting the Fagan diagram assuming the anterior probability to be 50%. When H. pylori infection was diagnosed based on LCI, the probability of diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection was 82%. In the negative case, the probability of H. pylori infection was 15% (Figure 4C). Moreover, the DOR was 26 (95%CI: 13-52), and SROC was 0.87 (95%CI: 0.84-

Baishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 The assessment of bias risk.

0.90) (Figure 4D). The high heterogeneity of this analysis was 90 (95% CI: 80-100). We calculated the P value as 0.72 indicating an insignificant risk of publication bias. The higher heterogeneity existed among the studies with $l^2 = 90$ (95% CI: 80-100). The bivariate box-type diagram showed that one study of the seven included studies (10 groups) fell outside the box-type diagram (Supplementary Figure 2A), suggesting that this one study might be the main source of heterogeneity (Supplementary Figure 2B). The results indicate LCI has significant superiority over WLI when they are used in diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection.

DISCUSSION

Diagnosis of the status of *H. pylori* infection represents a crucial step in prior to assess the risk of atrophy, intestinal metaplasia and H. pylori associated gastric cancer, according to current consensual strategy on prevention and treatment of gastric cancer. However, the endoscopic diagnosis of *H. pylori* associated gastritis does not often correspond with the histological findings in clinical practice [24]. Previous studies have disclosed that the accuracy of endoscopic diagnosis of H. pylori infection ranged from 64% to 71% based on the endoscopic appearance alone [19,25]. This moderate accuracy of diagnosis suggests that endoscopy may not be definitive method, but can be important part of comprehensive diagnosis with other invasive or noninvasive tests such as biopsy based rapid urease test or urea breath test.

In the past decades, image enhancement technique upgraded the conventional endoscopy to an indispensable test for diagnosis of gastrointestinal diseases including early malignancies. Emerged researches have demonstrated that various types of IEEs such as blue laser imaging, narrow band imaging and LCI can improve accuracy of diagnosis on H. pylori infection status[20,26-28]. As the latest IEE technique, LCI endoscopy can theoretically highlight the color tone of mucosa thus facilitating the visuality of endoscopic features for active infection of H. pylori, such as diffuse redness, mucosal edema, hemorrhagic spots, enlarged folds, and gooseflesh-like nodularity^[29]. Correspondingly, growing evidences have emerged that LCI endoscopy significantly improves recognition of H. pylori associated changes of mucosa to help making diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection more accurately than conventional WLI endoscopy[18-23].

The combined accuracy of LCI endoscopy on diagnosis of *H. pylori* active infection concluded by our meta-analysis, is obviously higher than that of conventional WLI endoscopy, which is demonstrated by 0.85 (95%CI: 0.76-0.92) of sensitivity, 0.82 (95%CI: 0.78-0.85) of specificity, 4.71 (95%CI: 3.7-5.9) of PLR, and 0.18 (95%CI: 0.10-0.31) of NLR, with the AUC being 0.87. Although this accuracy is not high enough, it apparently indicates the advantage of LCI endoscopy before patients with suspected *H. pylori* infection are subjected to invasive tests. Moreover, it has been elucidated that LCI endoscopy not only have good efficacy on diagnosis of current H. pylori infection, but also superior in diagnosis of other abnormalities of *H. pylori* associated gastritis, such as gastric intestinal metaplasia and atrophy[14,30,31]. Some most recent studies have further demonstrated better effects of LCI endoscopy, in comparison with WLI endoscopy or indigo carmine chromoendoscopy, on identifying featured mucosal appearances after successful H. pylori eradication, thus facilitating to recognize early gastric cancer[32-35]. Therefore, LCI endoscopy is exhibiting the potential as an important alternative modality of endoscopy for gastrointestinal disease screening in future, or at least, as a feasible supplementary method of WLI endoscopy-based screening strategy.



WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Pooled results of efficacy of white light imaging on Helicobacter pylori infection diagnosis. A-D: Pooled sensitivity (A), specificity (B), positive likelihood ratio and negative likelihood ratio (C). Symmetric receiver operator characteristic curve and area under the curve (D). 95% CI: 95% confidence interval; SROC: Symmetric receiver operator characteristic; PLR: Positive likelihood rate; NLR: Negative likelihood rate.

Our analysis had several limitations that may have influence on the results. Firstly, there haven't been insufficient original studies related to the diagnosis efficacy of LCI on H. pylori infection. The selected studies in our analysis were almost performed in single center, and enrolled relatively small size of patient samples, which restrict further subgroups analysis based on variables. Secondly, these enrolled studies performed different tests to make definite diagnosis of H. pylori infection after LCI endoscopy, such as biopsy based histological staining or rapid urease test, urea breath test, and serological test. Thirdly, two studies of Nakashima et al[17,18] proposed inconsistent diagnosis accuracy of LCI on H. pylori infection, when using AI or CAD instead of endoscopists, that was 96.7% of sensitivity, 83.3% of specificity, 0.95 of AUC for AI, and 62.5% of sensitivity, 92.5% of specificity, 0.82 of AUC for CAD. These problems mentioned above may bring heterogeneity of the analysis and further lead to instability of the results.

CONCLUSION

Summarily, as a novel technique of image enhancement endoscopy, growing evidences have proved that LCI can significantly improve accuracy of diagnosis on H. pylori infection, as well as H. pylori associated changes of gastric mucosa, including atrophy and gastric intestinal metaplasia. Moreover, by emphasizing the difference of color tone between lesion and surrounding normal mucosa, LCI also shows promising usefulness in detecting early gastric cancer. Combined with current knowledge, it is anticipated to use LCI endoscopy alone for detection of gastric diseases instead





Figure 4 Pooled results of efficacy of linked color imaging on *Helicobacter pylori* infection diagnosis. A-D: Pooled sensitivity (A), specificity (B), positive likelihood ratio and negative likelihood ratio (C). Symmetric receiver operator characteristic curve and area under the curve (D). 95%CI: 95% confidence interval; SROC: Symmetric receiver operator characteristic; PLR: Positive likelihood rate; NLR: Negative likelihood rate.

of WLI endoscopy in future, while a screening strategy of LCI followed by magnifying IEEs may theoretically have better clinical prospects for early cancer detection.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) infection is a critical step in assessing the risk of chronic atrophic gastritis, intestinal metaplasia, and *H. pylori* related gastric cancer. Eradication therapy of *H. pylori* appears to reduce the incidence of new gastric cancers. Therefore, accurate diagnosis of active *H. pylori* infection by using endoscopy is essential for the diagnosis and treatment of gastric cancer.

Research motivation

Linked color imaging (LCI) is a novel endoscopic modality recently introduced. Compared to the common white light imaging (WLI), the mucosal lesions in red or white color seen on LCI endoscopy are more visible, which makes it easier to identify early gastric cancer. However, the detection rate of *H. pylori* with LCI compared to WLI remains to be evaluated.

Zaishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

Research objectives

The diagnostic value of LCI compared with WLI for H. pylori activity was assessed by meta-analysis, to provide evidence for expanding the clinical application of LCI endoscopy.

Research methods

PubMed, Embase, Embase, and Cochrane Library databases were searched for literature related to LCI and WLI diagnosis of H. pylori. The "midas" command of Stata 15.0 was used to fit the two-variable mixed-effect model. The point estimates of the sensitivity, specificity, likelihood ratio, and diagnostic ratio were combined to draw the comprehensive subject working characteristics [symmetric receiver operator characteristic (SROC)], and area under the curve (AUC) and its 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated. The Deek's funnel plot was used to determine publication bias, and Q statistics. *I*² statistics were used to determine whether there was heterogeneity between studies.

Research results

In this study, 94 articles were initially searched, including 25 in PubMed, 16 in Embase, 19 in Cochrane, and 34 in Web of Science, and 7 research articles were ultimately screened. In WLI diagnosis, the probability of confirming H. pylori infection was 70%. In the case of negative results, the probability of *H. pylori* infection was 34%. The diagnostic odds ratio (DOR) was 5 (95%CI: 2-9), and SROC was 0.75 (95%CI: 0.71-0.78). In LCI diagnosis, the probability of diagnosis of H. pylori infection was 82%. In the negative case, the probability of H. pylori infection was 15%. The DOR was 26 (95% CI: 13-52) and SROC was 0.87 (95%CI: 0.84-0.90).

Research conclusions

LCI improves the diagnostic accuracy of *H. pylori* infection as well as *H. pylori*-associated gastric mucosal lesions, which anticipates that LCI alone, rather than WLI, may be applied in the future to screen for gastric disease.

Research perspectives

The screening strategy of LCI followed by magnifying image-enhanced endoscopy may theoretically have better clinical perspectives in early cancer diagnosis.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Guo Q brought the idea of this study; Wang JZ, Bai X, and Zhang PL worked together for literature searching and data analysis; Zhang Y wrote the manuscript.

Supported by Clinical Medical Center of Yunnan Provincial Health Commission, No. 2020LCZXKF-XH05 and 2021LCZXXF-XH03; Young Academic Talents Cultivation Program of Yunnan Province, No. 202205AC160070.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yu Zhang 0000-0002-1523-3849; Jing-Zhai Wang 0009-0004-3131-0623; Xuan Bai 0000-0001-6161-3992; Peng-Li Zhang 0009-0007-1309-4754; Qiang Guo 0000-0003-0636-5548.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- 1 Correa P. Helicobacter pylori and gastric carcinogenesis. Am J Surg Pathol 1995; 19 Suppl 1: S37-S43 [PMID: 7762738]
- 2 Fukase K, Kato M, Kikuchi S, Inoue K, Uemura N, Okamoto S, Terao S, Amagai K, Hayashi S, Asaka M; Japan Gast Study Group. Effect of eradication of Helicobacter pylori on incidence of metachronous gastric carcinoma after endoscopic resection of early gastric cancer: an openlabel, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2008; 372: 392-397 [PMID: 18675689 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61159-9]
- 3 Choi IJ, Kook MC, Kim YI, Cho SJ, Lee JY, Kim CG, Park B, Nam BH. Helicobacter pylori Therapy for the Prevention of Metachronous



Gastric Cancer. N Engl J Med 2018; 378: 1085-1095 [PMID: 29562147 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1708423]

- Lee YC, Chiang TH, Chou CK, Tu YK, Liao WC, Wu MS, Graham DY. Association Between Helicobacter pylori Eradication and Gastric 4 Cancer Incidence: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 2016; 150: 1113-1124.e5 [PMID: 26836587 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.01.028]
- Sun K, Lv H, Chen B, Nie C, Zhao J, Wang S, Wang J, Xu W, Chen X. Dawning precision treatment for gastric cancer: The latest biomarkers. 5 J Transl Int Med 2021; 9: 228-230 [PMID: 35136720 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2021-0023]
- Kato M. Endoscopic findings of H. pylori infection. In: Suzuki H, Warren R, Marshall B. Helicobacter pylori. Tokyo: Springer, 2016: 157-6 167
- Zhou B, Wang Z, Dou Q, Li W, Li Y, Yan Z, Sun P, Zhao B, Li X, Shen F, Zhang B, Guo M. Long-term outcomes of esophageal and gastric 7 cancer patients with cardiovascular and metabolic diseases: A two-center propensity score-matched cohort study. J Transl Int Med 2023; 11: 234-245 [PMID: 37818156 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2023-0112]
- 8 Watanabe K, Nagata N, Nakashima R, Furuhata E, Shimbo T, Kobayakawa M, Sakurai T, Imbe K, Niikura R, Yokoi C, Akiyama J, Uemura N. Predictive findings for Helicobacter pylori-uninfected, -infected and -eradicated gastric mucosa: validation study. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 4374-4379 [PMID: 23885149 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i27.4374]
- Yoshii S, Mabe K, Watano K, Ohno M, Matsumoto M, Ono S, Kudo T, Nojima M, Kato M, Sakamoto N. Validity of endoscopic features for 9 the diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection status based on the Kyoto classification of gastritis. Dig Endosc 2020; 32: 74-83 [PMID: 31309632 DOI: 10.1111/den.13486]
- 10 Mao T, Wang Y, Yin F, Zhao Q, Yang L, Ding X, Tian Z. Association of Endoscopic Features of Gastric Mucosa with Helicobacter pylori Infection in Chinese Patients. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2016; 2016: 6539639 [PMID: 27974885 DOI: 10.1155/2016/6539639]
- Yashima K, Onoyama T, Kurumi H, Takeda Y, Yoshida A, Kawaguchi K, Yamaguchi N, Isomoto H. Current status and future perspective of 11 linked color imaging for gastric cancer screening: a literature review. J Gastroenterol 2023; 58: 1-13 [PMID: 36287268 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-022-01934-z
- Takeda T, Asaoka D, Nojiri S, Nishiyama M, Ikeda A, Yatagai N, Ishizuka K, Hiromoto T, Okubo S, Suzuki M, Nakajima A, Nakatsu Y, 12 Komori H, Akazawa Y, Nakagawa Y, Izumi K, Matsumoto K, Ueyama H, Sasaki H, Shimada Y, Osada T, Hojo M, Kato M, Nagahara A. Linked Color Imaging and the Kyoto Classification of Gastritis: Evaluation of Visibility and Inter-Rater Reliability. Digestion 2020; 101: 598-607 [PMID: 31302654 DOI: 10.1159/000501534]
- Fukuda H, Miura Y, Osawa H, Takezawa T, Ino Y, Okada M, Khurelbaatar T, Lefor AK, Yamamoto H. Linked color imaging can enhance 13 recognition of early gastric cancer by high color contrast to surrounding gastric intestinal metaplasia. J Gastroenterol 2019; 54: 396-406 [PMID: 30291440 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-018-1515-6]
- Mizukami K, Ogawa R, Okamoto K, Shuto M, Fukuda K, Sonoda A, Matsunari O, Hirashita Y, Okimoto T, Kodama M, Murakami K. 14 Objective Endoscopic Analysis with Linked Color Imaging regarding Gastric Mucosal Atrophy: A Pilot Study. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2017; 2017: 5054237 [PMID: 29270198 DOI: 10.1155/2017/5054237]
- Malfertheiner P, Camargo MC, El-Omar E, Liou JM, Peek R, Schulz C, Smith SI, Suerbaum S. Helicobacter pylori infection. Nat Rev Dis 15 Primers 2023; 9: 19 [PMID: 37081005 DOI: 10.1038/s41572-023-00431-8]
- 16 Whiting PF, Rutjes AW, Westwood ME, Mallett S, Deeks JJ, Reitsma JB, Leeflang MM, Sterne JA, Bossuyt PM; QUADAS-2 Group. QUADAS-2: a revised tool for the quality assessment of diagnostic accuracy studies. Ann Intern Med 2011; 155: 529-536 [PMID: 22007046 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-155-8-201110180-00009]
- Nakashima H, Kawahira H, Kawachi H, Sakaki N. Endoscopic three-categorical diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection using linked color 17 imaging and deep learning: a single-center prospective study (with video). Gastric Cancer 2020; 23: 1033-1040 [PMID: 32382973 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-020-01077-1
- 18 Nakashima H, Kawahira H, Kawachi H, Sakaki N. Artificial intelligence diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection using blue laser imagingbright and linked color imaging: a single-center prospective study. Ann Gastroenterol 2018; 31: 462-468 [PMID: 29991891 DOI: 10.20524/aog.2018.0269]
- 19 Lee SP, Lee J, Kae SH, Jang HJ, Koh DH, Jung JH, Byeon SJ. The role of linked color imaging in endoscopic diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori associated gastritis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2020; 55: 1114-1120 [PMID: 32668999 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2020.1794025]
- Ono S, Dohi O, Yagi N, Sanomura Y, Tanaka S, Naito Y, Sakamoto N, Kato M. Accuracies of Endoscopic Diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori-20 Gastritis: Multicenter Prospective Study Using White Light Imaging and Linked Color Imaging. Digestion 2020; 101: 624-630 [PMID: 31336366 DOI: 10.1159/000501634]
- Sun X, Bi Y, Nong B, Hu D, Sun X, Chen H, Xu Y, Liu Y. Linked color imaging confers benefits in profiling H. pylori infection in the 21 stomach. Endosc Int Open 2019; 7: E885-E892 [PMID: 31281873 DOI: 10.1055/a-0895-5377]
- Dohi O, Yagi N, Onozawa Y, Kimura-Tsuchiya R, Majima A, Kitaichi T, Horii Y, Suzuki K, Tomie A, Okayama T, Yoshida N, Kamada K, 22 Katada K, Uchiyama K, Ishikawa T, Takagi T, Handa O, Konishi H, Naito Y, Itoh Y. Linked color imaging improves endoscopic diagnosis of active Helicobacter pylori infection. Endosc Int Open 2016; 4: E800-E805 [PMID: 27556101 DOI: 10.1055/s-0042-109049]
- 23 Wang L, Lin XC, Li HL, Yang XS, Zhang L, Li X, Bai P, Wang Y, Fan X, Ding YM. Clinical significance and influencing factors of linked color imaging technique in real-time diagnosis of active Helicobacter pylori infection. Chin Med J (Engl) 2019; 132: 2395-2401 [PMID: 31651514 DOI: 10.1097/CM9.000000000000486]
- Wang X, Chen JD. Therapeutic potential and mechanisms of sacral nerve stimulation for gastrointestinal diseases. J Transl Int Med 2023; 11: 24 115-127 [PMID: 37408571 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2023-0086]
- Okamura T, Iwaya Y, Kitahara K, Suga T, Tanaka E. Accuracy of Endoscopic Diagnosis for Mild Atrophic Gastritis Infected with 25 Helicobacter pylori. Clin Endosc 2018; 51: 362-367 [PMID: 29695148 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2017.177]
- Dohi O, Majima A, Naito Y, Yoshida T, Ishida T, Azuma Y, Kitae H, Matsumura S, Mizuno N, Yoshida N, Kamada K, Itoh Y. Can image-26 enhanced endoscopy improve the diagnosis of Kyoto classification of gastritis in the clinical setting? Dig Endosc 2020; 32: 191-203 [PMID: 31550395 DOI: 10.1111/den.13540]
- 27 Nishikawa Y, Ikeda Y, Murakami H, Hori SI, Hino K, Sasaki C, Nishikawa M. Classification of atrophic mucosal patterns on Blue LASER Imaging for endoscopic diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori-related gastritis: A retrospective, observational study. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0193197 [PMID: 29596454 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0193197]
- Glover B, Teare J, Patel N. Assessment of Helicobacter pylori status by examination of gastric mucosal patterns: diagnostic accuracy of white-28 light endoscopy and narrow-band imaging. BMJ Open Gastroenterol 2021; 8 [PMID: 34353822 DOI: 10.1136/bmjgast-2021-000608]
- 29 Sugano K, Tack J, Kuipers EJ, Graham DY, El-Omar EM, Miura S, Haruma K, Asaka M, Uemura N, Malfertheiner P; faculty members of



Kyoto Global Consensus Conference. Kyoto global consensus report on Helicobacter pylori gastritis. Gut 2015; 64: 1353-1367 [PMID: 26187502 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309252]

- 30 Ono S, Kato M, Tsuda M, Miyamoto S, Abiko S, Shimizu Y, Sakamoto N. Lavender Color in Linked Color Imaging Enables Noninvasive Detection of Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia. Digestion 2018; 98: 222-230 [PMID: 30045046 DOI: 10.1159/000489454]
- Shu X, Wu G, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Zheng Y, Guo Q, Ji R, Zhou Y. Diagnostic value of linked color imaging based on endoscopy for gastric 31 intestinal metaplasia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Transl Med 2021; 9: 506 [PMID: 33850903 DOI: 10.21037/atm-21-1051]
- Kitagawa Y, Suzuki T, Nankinzan R, Ishigaki A, Furukawa K, Sugita O, Hara T, Yamaguchi T. Comparison of endoscopic visibility and miss 32 rate for early gastric cancers after Helicobacter pylori eradication with white-light imaging versus linked color imaging. Dig Endosc 2020; 32: 769-777 [PMID: 31765047 DOI: 10.1111/den.13585]
- Majima A, Dohi O, Takayama S, Hirose R, Inoue K, Yoshida N, Kamada K, Uchiyama K, Ishikawa T, Takagi T, Handa O, Konishi H, Naito 33 Y, Itoh Y. Linked color imaging identifies important risk factors associated with gastric cancer after successful eradication of Helicobacter pylori. Gastrointest Endosc 2019; 90: 763-769 [PMID: 31299258 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2019.06.043]
- 34 Chao H, Yusen Z, Die Y, Yifei LI, Xiaochun Z, Yanqing L. Effects of Traditional Chinese Medicine on the survival of patients with stage I gastric cancer and high-risk factors: a real-world retrospective study. J Tradit Chin Med 2023; 43: 568-573 [PMID: 37147759 DOI: 10.19852/j.cnki.jtcm.20230227.001]
- Yasuda T, Yagi N, Omatsu T, Hayashi S, Nakahata Y, Yasuda Y, Obora A, Kojima T, Naito Y, Itoh Y. Benefits of linked color imaging for 35 recognition of early differentiated-type gastric cancer: in comparison with indigo carmine contrast method and blue laser imaging. Surg Endosc 2021; 35: 2750-2758 [PMID: 32556753 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-020-07706-1]



E WU

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 December 16; 15(12): 745-750

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.745

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

CASE REPORT

Magnetic compression anastomosis for sigmoid stenosis treatment: A case report

Miao-Miao Zhang, Yi Gao, Xiao-Yang Ren, Huan-Chen Sha, Yi Lyu, Fang-Fang Dong, Xiao-Peng Yan

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Nakamura K, Japan; Yarmahmoodi F, Iran

Received: September 21, 2023 Peer-review started: September 21, 2023

First decision: October 24, 2023 Revised: October 30, 2023 Accepted: December 1, 2023 Article in press: December 1, 2023 Published online: December 16, 2023



Miao-Miao Zhang, Huan-Chen Sha, Yi Lyu, Fang-Fang Dong, Xiao-Peng Yan, Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an 710061, Shaanxi Province, China

Miao-Miao Zhang, Yi Lyu, Xiao-Peng Yan, National Local Joint Engineering Research Center for Precision Surgery & Regenerative Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an 710061, Shaanxi Province, China

Yi Gao, Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Affiliated Hospital of Guilin Medical University, Guilin 541001, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, China

Xiao-Yang Ren, Department of Gastroenterology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an 710061, Shaanxi Province, China

Corresponding author: Xiao-Peng Yan, MD, PhD, Associate Research Scientist, Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, No. 277 West Yanta Road, Xi'an 710061, Shaanxi Province, China. yanxiaopeng9966@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Endoscopic balloon dilation is a minimally invasive treatment for colorectal stenosis. Magnetic compression anastomosis can be applied against gastrointestinal anastomosis. When combined with endoscopy, it offers a unique approach to the recanalization of colorectal stenosis.

CASE SUMMARY

We have reported here the case of a 53-year-old female patient who underwent a descending colostomy due to sigmoid obstruction. Postoperative fistula restoration was not possible in her due to sigmoid stenosis. Accordingly, endoscopicassisted magnetic compression anastomosis for sigmoid stenosis was performed, and the sigmoid stenosis was recanalized 15 d after the surgery. Subsequently, a reduction colostomy was successfully performed after 10 d.

CONCLUSION

This case report proposes a novel minimally invasive treatment approach for colorectal stenosis.

Key Words: Colorectal stenosis; Endoscopy; Magnetic compression anastomosis; Magnamosis; Magnetosurgery; Case report



©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Colorectal stenosis is common in clinical practice, for which endoscopic treatment is the preferred choice; however, most patients require multiple balloon dilation or even stent placement. Clinicians should consider the novel approach of endoscopic magnetic compression anastomosis in applicable cases of colorectal stenosis.

Citation: Zhang MM, Gao Y, Ren XY, Sha HC, Lyu Y, Dong FF, Yan XP. Magnetic compression anastomosis for sigmoid stenosis treatment: A case report. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023; 15(12): 745-750 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i12/745.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.745

INTRODUCTION

Colorectal anastomotic stenosis usually occurs after colorectal cancer surgery or even after radiation therapy for abdominal and pelvic tumors. Endoscopic balloon dilation or stent placement is the main clinical approach in such cases. However, some patients with severe stenosis often require multiple endoscopic treatments, albeit show poor outcomes. Re-surgery may incur a very high rate of restenosis and refrain patients from an opportunity to restore the stoma, which may seriously affect their quality of life. The combination of magnetic compression anastomosis with endoscopic technique provides a new minimally invasive treatment modality for rectal stenosis.

CASE PRESENTATION

Chief complaints

A 53-year-old female patient was admitted to our hospital on July 26, 2022, for sigmoid stenosis. The patient had undergone a descending colostomy in a local hospital for sigmoid obstruction 11 mo ago and had recovered well after surgery. One month ago, she was treated in the same hospital for a reduction colostomy. A colonoscopy revealed that her sigmoid was narrow (Figure 1), hence the reduction operation could not be performed. For further treatment, the patient was admitted to the Magnetic Surgery Clinic of the First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University.

History of present illness

At 11 mo ago, the patient underwent a descending colostomy in a local hospital for sigmoid obstruction and a colonoscopy 1 mo before the indication of sigmoid stenosis.

History of past illness

The patient was diagnosed with cervical cancer at a local hospital 9 years ago and has been clinically cured after multiple radiotherapy treatments. She has a history of hypertension for 1 year and diabetes for 2 years. Through oral drug treatment, her blood pressure and blood glucose levels were well-controlled.

Personal and family history

The patient did not have any relevant family medical history.

Physical examination

The patient's vital signs were stable, with no obvious abnormalities in the physical examination of both her lungs and heart; her abdomen was flat and soft, with no abdominal tenderness; Shifting dullness in the abdomen was negative, and bowel sounds were normal, and the descending colostomy stoma was visible in the left lower abdomen.

Laboratory examinations

The patient's hematology results were normal.

Imaging examinations

A small amount of contrast agent could enter the proximal intestinal tube through the stenosis, and the intestinal tube could be fully developed through the catheterization of the colostomy, indicating sigmoid stenosis (Figure 2).

WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.745 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Colonoscopy. A: Distal stenosis; B: Proximal stenosis.



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.745 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Colonography: Arrow points to the stenosis.

FINAL DIAGNOSIS

According to the medical history of the patient, imaging examination, and colonoscopy, sigmoid stenosis was clearly diagnosed.

TREATMENT

The patient underwent endoscopy-assisted magnetic compression anastomosis of sigmoid stenosis under intravenous anesthesia on July 27, 2022. After the patient was administered intravenous anesthesia, a colonoscopy was conducted in the right lateral position through the descending colostomy. A stenosis could be visible at a distance of 15 centimeters from the colostomy during colonoscopy. A zebra guide wire was next sent through the biopsy hole, and the lead end of the guide wire was passed through the narrow segment of the sigmoid colon into the distal intestinal. The daughter magnet and the parent magnet were inserted through the zebra guide wire at the end of the colostomy and the anal end, respectively, and the push tube was pushed close to the narrow section along the zebra guide wire, as such the parent and daughter magnets were automatically attracted (Figure 3A and B). After the X-ray images confirmed that the magnets were attracted (Figure 3C), the zebra guide wire was removed. After the operation, the patient was returned to the ward safely.

X-ray examination was performed weekly after the operation to monitor the positions of the magnets (Figure 4A and B). On the 15th day of the operation, the parent and daughter magnets were removed *via* colonoscopy (Figure 4C). The magnetic compression anastomosis was established under colonoscopy (Figure 4D). Finally, the patient underwent colostomy reduction 10 d later.

Zaishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.745 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Magnet placement process. A: The daughter magnet was inserted through the colostomy; B: The parent magnet was inserted through the anus; C: Intraoperative X-ray examination confirmed that the daughter and parent magnets were attracted.



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i12.745 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Postoperative X-ray and colonoscopic observations. A: X-ray examination 1 wk after the surgery; B: X-ray examination 2 wk after the surgery; C: The magnet was removed by colonoscopy 15 d after the surgery; D: The anastomosis was detected on colonoscopy.

OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The 13-mo follow-up of the patient showed a generally good condition with normal bowel movements.

DISCUSSION

Colorectal stenosis is a common clinical disease, whose clinical treatment is mainly based on endoscopic balloon dilation or stent placement[1], it has the advantages of less trauma and not affected by enterostomy. However, some patients often require multiple endoscopic treatments. Patients who do not respond well to endoscopic therapy may face re-surgery or permanent indwelling. In 1978, Obora *et al*[2] was the first to report the use of magnets for vascular anastomosis research [2], and after more than 40 years of its development, magnetic compression anastomosis is being applied for digestive tract anastomosis[3,4], vascular anastomosis[5,6], and magnetic compression cystostomy[7]. The combination of magnetic compression anastomosis and endoscopic technique can transform some surgical operations into endoscopic ones, which offers unique advantages for the treatment of gastrointestinal stenosis[8].

This present case presented the following two characteristics: (1) The surgical procedure was simple, mainly because the zebra guide wire could pass through the narrow section of the intestinal tube and the length of the narrow section was small, because of which the magnetic force of conventional magnets met the requirements; (2) The parent and daughter magnets remained discharged for 2 wk. The shedding time of magnets during digestive tract magnetic compression anastomosis is closely related to the anastomosis site, magnetic force, inflammatory scar formation of the digestive tract, and other related factors. Owing to the limited clinical reports on such cases, it remains impossible to determine the reasonable time range of magnets excreted during the digestive tract magnetic compression anastomosis. In our previous large animal experiments, we found that gastrointestinal magnetic compression anastomosis could be established in 10-14 d after the surgery. Therefore, in the present case, we removed the magnets under the endoscope 15 d after the surgery, and the results indicated that the anastomosis was well-formed by this time; and (3) Based on the patient's history, we believe that the cause of the patient's sigmoid stenosis may be related to pelvic radiation therapy. Radiation enteritis is usually treated with medication or endoscopy, but this patient developed severe sigmoid stenosis and caused intestinal obstruction, and did not respond to medication or endoscopy. Presently, only a few cases have been reported in the literature using magnetic compression anastomosis to treat colorectal stenosis, and the relevant clinical application experience is limited. The successful implementation of this case thus enriches the clinical application experience of magnetic surgery and can provide valuable learning and reference significance for future applications.

CONCLUSION

This case report proposes a new approach for clinicians to treat colorectal stenosis. A combination of magnetic compression anastomosis with endoscopic technique can be potentially applied for the treatment of colorectal stenosis, considering the advantages of simple operation, non-trauma, and exact effect achieved through this procedure.

FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Miao-Miao Zhang and Yi Gao.

Co-corresponding authors: Xiao-Peng Yan and Yi Lyu.

Author contributions: Zhang MM and Gao Y contributed equally to this work and are the co-first author; Lyu Y and Yan XP designed the operational plan; Ren XY and Yan XP performed the endoscopic magnetic compression anastomosis; Dong FF assisted in patient care; Zhang MM and Gao Y wrote the manuscript; Zhang MM, Gao Y and Sha HC assisted in data collection and manuscript revision; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by The Institutional Foundation of The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University (Yan XP), No. 2022MS-07; The Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (Zhang M), No. xzy022023068; The Science and Technology Plan Fund of the Science and Technology Department of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (Gao Y), No. 2021AC19043.

Informed consent statement: The patient and her husband have provided informed written consent for the publication of this case report.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to disclose.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Miao-Miao Zhang 0000-0001-5679-7061; Yi Gao 0000-0002-9040-9955; Huan-Chen Sha 0000-0002-8183-2591; Yi Lyu 0000-0003-3636-6664; Xiao-Peng Yan 0000-0002-0335-829X.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com
REFERENCES

- Hirai F. Current status of endoscopic balloon dilation for Crohn's disease. Intest Res 2017; 15: 166-173 [PMID: 28522945 DOI: 1 10.5217/ir.2017.15.2.166
- 2 Obora Y, Tamaki N, Matsumoto S. Nonsuture microvascular anastomosis using magnet rings: preliminary report. Surg Neurol 1978; 9: 117-120 [PMID: 625696]
- 3 Pichakron KO, Jelin EB, Hirose S, Curran PF, Jamshidi R, Stephenson JT, Fechter R, Strange M, Harrison MR. Magnamosis II: Magnetic compression anastomosis for minimally invasive gastrojejunostomy and jejunojejunostomy. J Am Coll Surg 2011; 212: 42-49 [PMID: 21184956 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2010.09.031]
- Gonzales KD, Douglas G, Pichakron KO, Kwiat DA, Gallardo SG, Encinas JL, Hirose S, Harrison MR. Magnamosis III: delivery of a 4 magnetic compression anastomosis device using minimally invasive endoscopic techniques. J Pediatr Surg 2012; 47: 1291-1295 [PMID: 22703808 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2012.03.042]
- 5 Zhang M, Ma J, An Y, Lyu Y, Yan X. Construction of an intrahepatic portosystemic shunt using the magnetic compression technique: preliminary experiments in a canine model. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr 2022; 11: 611-615 [PMID: 36016743 DOI: 10.21037/hbsn-22-209]
- Filsoufi F, Farivar RS, Aklog L, Anderson CA, Chen RH, Lichtenstein S, Zhang J, Adams DH. Automated distal coronary bypass with a novel 6 magnetic coupler (MVP system). J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004; 127: 185-192 [PMID: 14752430 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2003.04.005]
- 7 Uygun I, Okur MH, Cimen H, Keles A, Yalcin O, Ozturk H, Otcu S. Magnetic compression ostomy as new cystostomy technique in the rat: magnacystostomy. Urology 2012; 79: 738-742 [PMID: 22386431 DOI: 10.1016/j.urology.2011.11.048]
- Yan XP, Shang P, Shi AH, Liu WY, Liu YX, Lv Y. [Exploration and establishment of magnetic surgery]. Kexue Tongbao 2019; 64: 815-826 8 [DOI: 10.1360/n972018-00638]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: office@baishideng.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

